Factors Associated with Severe and Fatal Cycling Injuries in North America

by

Lindsay Gaudet

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Epidemiology

School of Public Health University of Alberta

© Lindsay Gaudet, 2016

Abstract

Background: Cycling is an increasingly popular recreational activity and mode of transportation, and many North American municipalities are implementing policies and infrastructure to encourage cycling participation for all ages. Crashes while cycling, however, can have devastating consequences including debilitating injury and death. The factors relating to the occurrence of severe injury events are not well studied, making it difficult to refine and implement successful injury prevention strategies. This thesis aims to compile the current evidence on cycling fatalities, examine the role of age in their occurrence compared to severe injury, and describe their occurrence in a sparsely populated area with a northern climate.

Methods: Three studies were completed to investigate severe and fatal cycling injuries in North America. First, a scoping review was conducted to explore the current literature on fatal cycling injuries in North America. Second, a systematic review was conducted to examine the burden of injury due to cycling fatalities in adults compared with children. Finally, a descriptive observational study was conducted using chart review methods to extract data from fatality case files of the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner of Alberta, and population-based fatality rates by age category and by region were calculated using census data.

Results: The scoping review identified 25 studies documenting cycling fatalities in North America, of which 21 used data from US populations, four used data from Canadian populations, 19 included both child and adult cyclists, four included only children, and two reported only on adults. Studies most commonly reported on: sex (n=16), motor vehicle involvement (n=12), lighting condition (n=12), alcohol use (n=10), and occurrence of head injury (n=9).

ii

Of the 46 eligible studies of severe and fatal cycling injuries in North America identified in the systematic review, data were available from 27. Overall, children had a lower weighted proportion of fatalities (3.0%; 95% CI: 2.3-3.8%) than adults (7.2%; 95% CI: 5.6 - 8.7%). Heterogeneity was very high, except for pediatric studies conducted in Canada (I^2 =27) and pediatric studies in regions where mandatory helmet legislation existed (I^2 =0).

One-hundred and one cycling-related deaths over 14 years in Alberta were identified. Most (87%) deceased cyclists were male, median age was 47 years (inter-quartile range: 25, 58), and 25% wore helmets. Collisions with motor vehicles and cyclist-only crashes accounted for 67% and 22% of fatalities, respectively; 12 (12%) crashes had "other" mechanisms, such as a collision with a train, light rail transit, pedestrian, or other cyclist. The population-based fatality rate was highest for the ≥65 age group.

Conclusions: There are few high-quality studies examining the factors associated with cycling fatalities, especially compared with nonfatal injuries. Overall, studies of severe and fatal cycling injury events provide only weak evidence, have inconsistent reporting of results and efforts to standardize them are warranted. In cases of severe injury, adults appear to have a higher burden of fatality than children, and older adults (≥60 years old) had the highest fatality burden. Injury prevention strategies should target male cyclists, helmet use and avoidance of substance use while cycling. Future studies should focus on improved methods, including use of comparison groups and prospective study designs, and more detailed reporting of known or suspected risk factors.

Keywords: Bicycle, Injury, Death, Alberta, North America

Abstract Word Count: 524 words

Preface

Chapter 4 of this thesis was published on November 17, 2015: L. Gaudet, N. T. R. Romanow, A. Nettel-Aguirre, D. Voaklander, B. E. Hagel, B. H. Rowe, "The epidemiology of fatal cyclist crashes over a 14-year period in Alberta, Canada," *BMC Public Health*. 2015;15(1):1142. For this manuscript, L Gaudet collected data, conducted the statistical analysis, and wrote the manuscript. Contributions to the article were also made by: N. Romanow and A. Nettel-Aguirre, who contributed to conception and design of the study and intellectual revision of the manuscript; D. Voaklander, who contributed to interpretation of the data and intellectual revision of the manuscript; and B. E. Hagel and B. H. Rowe who contributed to the conception and design of the study, interpretation of the data and intellectual revision of the study, interpretation of the data and intellectual revision of the study.

Dedication

To my sister, Brianne: for commiserating with me before we could see light at the end of the tunnel.

To my husband, Patrick: for his continued love and support in everything I do.

Acknowledgements

This thesis was generously supported by a Student Project Research Grant from Knowledge Translation Canada; a Graduate Student Scholarship from the University of Alberta Emergency Medicine Research Group, and a Graduate Studentship from the Western Regional Training Centre for Health Services Research.

I would like to thank Dr. Brent Hagel and Dr. Donald Voaklander for their contributions as collaborators and members on the supervisory committee for this thesis. I would also like to express my appreciation to Scott Kirkland, Nicholas Arrotta, Chris Alexiu, and Ferdinard Operke for their assistance as reviewers for the scoping and systematic review chapters; to Kathryn Webb for her help with data collection at the Medical Examiner's office; and to Dr. Cristina Villa-Roel for her continuing advice and open door. Finally, I would like to express my sincerest appreciation to Dr. Brian Rowe for all of his support and guidance over the years, and for supervision of this thesis.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Preface	iv
Dedication	v
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	viii
List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	xiv
List of Abbreviations	xv
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 The History and Benefits of Cycling	1
1.2 Cycling in Canada	2
1.3 The Injury Pyramid	3
1.4 Haddon's Matrix	4
1.5 Cyclist Factors	5
1.5.1 Sex	5
1.5.2 Age	5
1.5.3 Use of Bike Helmets	6
1.5.4 Alcohol Use	7
1.6 Agent Factors	8
1.6.1 Bicycles	8
1.6.2 Motor Vehicles	8
1.7 Factors Of The Physical Environment	9
1.7.1 Climate, Weather, and Visibility	9
1.7.2 Infrastructure	10
1.8 The Social Environment	11
1.8.1 Behavior and Attitudes of Road Users	11
1.8.2 Legislation	11
1.9 Aims Of This Thesis	12
1.10 References	14
Chapter 2 Scoping Review of Cyclist Fatalities in North America	28
2.1 Background	28
2.2 Methods	29

2.2.1 Protocol	
2.2.2 Study Eligibility Criteria	29
2.2.3 Data Sources and Search strategy	
2.2.4 Data Collection	
2.2.5 Definitions	
2.2.6 Analysis	
2.3 Results	
2.3.1 Search Results and Characteristics of Studies	
2.3.2 Study Designs and Definitions	
2.3.3 Study Data Sources and Populations	
2.3.4 Factors Associated with Fatal Cycling Injuries	
2.4 Discussion	
2.4.1 Strengths	
2.4.2 Limitations	
2.5 Conclusions	
2.6 References	
Chapter 3 Systematic Review of Severe and Fatal Cycling Injuries in Adults Con	npared to
Children	51
3.1 Background	51
3.1 Background 3.2 Methods	51
3.1 Background3.2 Methods3.2.1 Objectives	51
 3.1 Background 3.2 Methods 3.2.1 Objectives	
 3.1 Background	
 3.1 Background 3.2 Methods 3.2.1 Objectives 3.2.2 Outcome of Interest 3.2.3 Study Eligibility Criteria 3.2.4 Data Sources and Search strategy 3.2.5 Data Collection 3.2.6 Quality Assessment 3.2.7 Analysis 3.3 Results 3.3.1 Search Results 	
 3.1 Background	
 3.1 Background	
 3.1 Background	
 3.1 Background 3.2 Methods 3.2.1 Objectives 3.2.2 Outcome of Interest 3.2.3 Study Eligibility Criteria 3.2.4 Data Sources and Search strategy 3.2.5 Data Collection 3.2.6 Quality Assessment 3.2.7 Analysis 3.3 Results 3.3 Results 3.3.1 Search Results 3.3.2 Description of Included studies 3.3.3 Study Definitions 3.3.4 Quality of included studies 3.3.5 Factors Associated with Severe and Fatal Bicycle Injuries 	
 3.1 Background	

3.3.1 Limitations	63
3.5 Conclusions	63
3.6 References	65
Chapter 4 Cycling Fatalities over a 14-year period in Alberta, Canada	80
4.1 Introduction	80
4.2 Methods	81
4.2.1 Study Design	81
4.2.2 Data Collection	81
4.2.3 Data Sources	81
4.2.4 Case Mapping and Event Rate Calculations	82
4.2.5 Statistical Analysis	82
4.3 Results	83
4.3.1 Included Cases	83
4.3.2 Environmental Factors of Fatal Cycling Crashes	83
4.3.3 Cycling Fatalities in Urban and Rural regions	
4.3.4 Cyclist factors of cyclists killed while cycling	84
4.4 Discussion	85
4.4.1 Limitations	
4.5 Conclusions	89
4.6 References	90
Chapter 5 Relevance, Conclusions, and Future Directions for Research	
5.1 Relevance	
5.2 overview of thesis results	
5.2.1 Cycling Fatalities in North America: A Scoping Review	
5.2.2 Systematic Review of Severe and Fatal Cycling Injuries in Children and Adult America	ts in North 102
5.2.3 Cycling Fatalities in Alberta Canada over a 14-year period	
5.3 implications for cyclists	
5.4 implications for future research	
5.5 implications for policy	
5.6 conclusion	
5.7 References	
Bibliography	116
Appendix A	136
Appendix B	137

Appendix C	
Appendix D	
Appendix E	

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Proportions of commuters using cycling as their primary mode of transportation in Canada by
Province25
Table 1.2 Haddon's Matrix describing pre- and post-event factors that may affect injury occurrence
and/or severity and suggested interventions to reduce the role of each factor
Table 2.1 Characteristics of 25 studies reporting on cycling fatalities in north america 45
Table 2.2 Study definitions from 25 studies reporting cycling fatalities in north america47
Table 2.3 Factors reported in 25 studies reporting North American bicycle fatalities
Table 3.1 Descriptive characteristics of studies included in a systematic review of severe and fatal cycling
injuries in adults and children70
Table 3.2 Age categories of studies included in a systematic review of severe and fatal cycling injuries in
adults and children72
Table 3.3 Weighted proportions of fatal cycling injuries reported by studies of severe and fatal cycling
injuries in adults and children, by age group74
Table 3.4 Factors frequently reported by studies included in a systematic review of severe and fatal
cycling injury in adults and children. Proportions used were those reported for all cyclists in
each age group in each study, regardless of injury severity
Table 3.5 Quality assessment of 27 studies of severe and fatal cycling injuries in adults and children 76
Table 4.1 Demographic details of fatally injured cyclists in Alberta, Canada
Table 4.2 Descriptive characteristics of 101 fatal bicycle crashes in Alberta, Canada. 94
Table 4.3 Cyclists and crash characteristics by mechanism for 101 fatal bicycle crashes in Alberta,
Canada

Table 4.4 Regional and Age-based rates of fatal bicycle injuries. Rates were calculated by dividing the
number of events per region by person-years during the study period, which were estimated
by multiplying the population of each region by the study duration (14 years)
Table 4.5 Cyclists and crash characteristics by location of the crash event for 101 fatal bicycle crashes in
Alberta, Canada97
Table 4.6 Cyclist characteristics and crash characteristics for 101 fatal bicycle crashes in Alberta, Canada
by age

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 The Injury Pyramid including the number of fatalities, admissions, and emergency department
presentations in the United States in 2004. *Data from Naumann <i>et al.</i> 2010.[30]27
Figure 2.1 PRISMA Flow chart of Scoping Review search results
Figure 2.2 Weighted proportions of factors associated with cycling fatalities in North America50
Figure 3.1 PRISMA flow-chart of systematic search results for a systematic review of severe and fatal
cycling injuries in children and adults78
Figure 3.2 Forest plot of odds ratios comparing the proportion of fatal over severe-cycling injuries
between adults and children in mixed-population studies included in a systematic review 79
Figure 4.1 Population-based rates per 1,000,000 population per year of fatal cycling crashes in Alberta
from 1998 to 2011 by region. Numbers of events are in parentheses. Rates were calculated by
dividing the number of events per region by person-years during the study period, which were
estimated by multiplying the population of each region by the study duration (14 years)99

List of Abbreviations

List of Abbreviations

BAC=- Blood Alcohol Content

CI = Confidence Interval

DOA = Dead on Arrival

ED = Emergency Department

EMS = Emergency Medical Services

EPHPP = Effective Public Health Practice Project

FARS = Fatality Analysis and Reporting System

HCUP-NIS – Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project National Inpatient Survey

IQR = Interquartile Range

ISS = Injury Severity Score

ME – Medical Examiner

MHL - Mandatory Helmet Legislation

MVCC – Motor Vehicle/Cyclist Collision

NCHSMCD = National Center for Health Statistics Multiple Cause of Death data file

NVSS = National Vital Statistics System

OCME - Office of the Chief Medical Examiner

List of Abbreviations

- PCR = Patient Care Report
- RCMP Royal Canadian Mounted Police
- TRIS = Transportation Research Information System

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 THE HISTORY AND BENEFITS OF CYCLING

The bicycle was developed and popularized in the mid-to-late nineteenth century in Europe. A popular bicycle design at the time included a large front wheel and much smaller rear wheel putting the rider high above street level and enabling him/her to travel at high speeds. The height above ground and velocity with which so-called "penny-farthings" could travel made cycling a dangerous activity mainly reserved for the adventurous. In the 1880s, this design was reversed and models of bicycle that had a large rear wheel and much smaller front wheel began to appear. The so-called "safety bicycle" allowed people of all ages and abilities, including women, to more safely use a bicycle for transportation. Cycling steadily increased in popularity in both Europe and North America until the 1910s, when automobile began to replace bicycles as a mode of transportation in North America. Cycling for transportation gained popularity again in North America during the 1960s and 1970s as more people became aware of the benefits of regular exercise and emerging environmental issues of the time.

Today, cycling is a popular recreational activity and mode of transportation that is enjoyed by people of all ages in North America. In addition to an enjoyable recreational activity, cycling is also an environmentally friendly and healthy mode of transportation that has many benefits. While data on cycling rates in Canada are sparse, a 2004 survey indicated that 82% of Canadians cycle for leisure or recreation and 64% at least occasionally cycled to reach a routine destination, with 17% of respondents cycling at least half the time.[1] Fourteen percent of Canadians cycle to work at least once per year.[1] Cycling has minimal impact on the environment compared with motor vehicles, and shifting transportation trips to bicycles would reduce traffic congestion, greenhouse gas emissions, and overall air pollution, which could reduce air quality-related morbidity and mortality.[2] Cycling is also an economical option compared to operating a motor vehicle. Cycling increases physical fitness including

cardiovascular function and contributes to reducing obesity and maintaining a healthy weight.[3-5] Regular cycling may also reduce the risks of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, cancer mortality and allcause mortality.[4-7] For these reasons, cycling is increasingly viewed as a viable and beneficial alternative to motor vehicles as a mode of transportation, especially over short trips. The large number of health and environmental benefits presented by regular cycling are motivating North American cities to implement plans and policies aimed at encouraging cycling among their residents[8]; however, the public health consequences of these efforts have not been thoroughly examined. It is possible that higher rates of cycling may increase the frequency of cycling-related injuries presenting to emergency departments (ED) and therefore utilize more health resources.

1.2 CYCLING IN CANADA

In Canada, bicycle ownership and ridership is more prevalent among children and adolescents than among adults; ownership among children and adolescents is reported to be 88% compared with 60% for adults.[1] Cycling among adults is mostly recreational; in a 2004 survey, only 17% of adult Canadians reported cycling to work at least once in the preceding 12 month period.[1] Canadian commuter cyclists are most commonly highly educated and socioeconomically-advantaged white males.[9, 10] From census data, the proportion of Canadian bicycle commuters varies across the country, from a high of 2.8% in the Yukon to a low of 0.1% in Nunavut (Table 1). The national average of 1.4% has remained relatively stable since 2006.[11] It should be noted that where individuals use more than one mode of transportation for commuting, the census only reports on the main mode of transportation used by that individual; therefore, it is likely that the proportion of trips made by cyclists in Canada may be higher than what is reflected by the census numbers.

Rates of bicycle injury are difficult to accurately calculate, as there are significant challenges to determining the affected population and defining the "exposure" (e.g. owning a bicycle vs. number of

trips vs. km cycled), therefore estimated rates may vary significantly depending on the data source. For instance, estimates calculated using traffic crash reports may significantly underestimate the number of bicycle-only collisions depending on a region's crash reporting requirements, and hospital treatment records may underestimate minor injuries due to the overrepresentation of severe injuries presenting for medical treatment, compared with minor injuries. Overall, Canadian adolescents aged 11–15 years old experience the highest rate of bicycle-related injury, followed by children 1–10 years old and persons aged 16 and older.[12] Considering that the majority of cyclists are male and that most injuries presenting for medical treatment occur in males, it is not surprising that males also make up the majority of bicycle-related injuries and fatalities, although this proportion is highest in youth (80.7%) compared to adults (76.7%) or children (66.1%).[12-18]

1.3 THE INJURY PYRAMID

While cycling has many well documented benefits, loss of control and a subsequent fall or collision with another object (including a moving or stationary motor vehicle) can have catastrophic consequences such as severe isolated head injury, multisystem trauma and/or death. Additionally, cycling-related injuries are among the most common sports and recreation injuries presenting to EDs in Canada and the United States.[19-21] Cycling injuries that present to EDs are "just the tip of the iceberg"; in general, the number of patients with injuries who seek medical treatment represent a small proportion of the total number of injuries that occur (Figure 1). In this regard, cycling injuries are no different from other types of injury; up to half of all bicycle-related injuries do not require the attention of a medical professional and up to half of cycling injuries that present for treatment are minor injuries that do not require extensive treatment.[21-25] Because of the speeds involved and the height of the cyclist off the ground when mounted, head injury after a bicycle crash is common, especially when helmets are not used and among severely injured cyclists.[21, 23, 26] Fatal cycling crashes are rare, but remain disproportionate to road usage; while only ~1.5% of Canadians cycle on a regular basis, cyclists

account for ~3% of fatalities and ~4% of serious injuries among Canadian road users.[11, 13, 27] Cyclingrelated fatalities usually involve a collision with a motor vehicle.[16, 17, 25, 28] Finally, although bicycle ownership and ridership is more prevalent among children and adolescents than adults, a large portion of injury burden is borne by adults who are more frequently injured after a collision with a motor vehicle and have higher rates of bicycle-related severe injury and fatality compared with children and adolescents.[16, 17, 21, 29, 30]

The high incidence of injuries that occur during cycling is not surprising given its popularity and highlights the important public health implications of an increase in cycling activities.

1.4 HADDON'S MATRIX

Many factors contribute to the occurrence of an injury event. Bicycle crashes and the resulting injuries are ultimately the result of one or more environmental (e.g., road condition, weather, etc.), mechanical (e.g., brake failure, flat tire, etc.) or behavioural (of either/both cyclists and motorists) factors, most of which are preventable. The factors and prevention strategies associated with cycling injury can be categorized based on their relationship to the cyclist, the agent of injury (i.e. the bicycle in cyclist-only crashes or motor vehicle in MVCCs), and the physical or social environment leading up to or present during and/or after the event, as described by Haddon's Matrix (Table 1.1).

It is important to note that while there are always theoretical measures that could be implemented to address any of the factors associated with cycling crashes and injuries, not all measures are feasible. For example, cyclists' increased vulnerability compared to motor vehicles could be addressed by requiring all bicycles to be fitted with protective devices; however, such an approach would require significant resources from both cyclists (in order to purchase and/or install a cage and the increased encumbrance of cycling with such) and law enforcement agencies (as enforcement is an important part of a law's effectiveness as a public health intervention). Additionally, some factors

associated with one of the four columns in the matrix may be effectively addressed by interventions from another column; for example, drinking prior to cycling - like other risk-taking behaviors such as non-use of helmets - may be more effectively curbed by a societal intervention such as targeted drinking-and-biking legislation than by individual-level interventions.

The remainder of this chapter presents a selection of factors associated with cycling injury occurrence and severity and some of the interventions that have been applied to address them. Cyclist-related factors include modifiable characteristics, such as risk-taking behavior and physical fitness, and non-modifiable characteristics (e.g., age, sex, socioeconomic status, etc.) which are not generally subject to change. Bicycle-related factors, while specific to the bicycle, may also be altered by cyclist behavior, such as using a bicycle that correctly fits the cyclist and ensuring proper bicycle maintenance. Environmental and societal factors are difficult to alter as they require significant temporal and financial resources to be effective, but these ecologic approaches may also have the greatest overall impact on cycling safety.

1.5 CYCLIST FACTORS

1.5.1 Sex

The majority of cyclists are male; therefore, it is no surprise that the majority of cycling injuries and fatalities also occur in males.[16, 17, 26, 28, 31] Male cyclists are involved in bicycle crashes more frequently than females, but also at a higher per-trip rate than female cyclists.[32] Males' higher frequency of cycling crashes correlates with their increased risk-taking behavior compared to females of a similar age, especially among adolescents and young adults.[33, 34] On the other hand, a Spanish study of fatalities calculated rate based on time spent travelling and found that females may experience a higher rate of cycling-related fatality, per person-hour spent cycling.[35]

1.5.2 Age

Children and adolescents are most often involved in bicycle crashes. [36, 37] Bicycle-only crashes, however, which typically result in less severe injuries than collisions with motor vehicles, are more prevalent among children than adults. [25] This may be due to childrens' inexperience making decisions in a traffic environment, and undeveloped bicycle-riding skills. [37-39] To combat these problems, different bicycle-training programs have been implemented among school-aged children in different jurisdictions to varying degrees of success. [40-45] Education-based safety training programs have been shown to increase children's safety knowledge, such as proper helmet fit, which is in turn associated with reduced risk-taking behaviors (including wearing a helmet). These courses, however, may not improve motor skills required for safe cycling, [44, 46, 47] although there is evidence to suggest that children who participate in a skills-based training programs show significant improvement in the physical skills needed to safely operate a bicycle. [40]

While young people experience the largest number of crashes, older adults also experience significant risk while cycling. Adults over the age of 65 have greatest exposure-adjusted risk of injury and are also disproportionately represented among cycling fatalities. Likely, increased reaction time, decreased coordination, increased co-morbidities including sensory deficits (i.e., visual and hearing impairment), and decreased balance makes them less able to avoid a crash, and their increased physical frailty results in increased injury severity, decreased ability to recover, and therefore poorer outcomes compared with younger cyclists.[48-50]

1.5.3 Use of Bike Helmets

Head injuries account for a large portion of bicycle injuries and fatalities, and there is overwhelming evidence for the effectiveness of helmets at protecting against head injury in the event of a crash.[31, 36, 51-54] Helmets, however, are not universally worn, and there is evidence that their use varies by sex, age, as well as social determinants (e.g., socioeconomic status and race).[18, 33, 38, 55, 56] For optimal protection the helmet should be fitted properly and worn correctly; however, many

cyclists do not wear a properly fitted helmet, putting themselves at increased risk of head injury.[57-59] While mandatory-helmet legislation (MHL) increases helmet use and reduces bicycle-related head injuries and fatalities,[54, 60-65] it does not guarantee the helmet will be fitted or worn properly.[58] Mandatory helmet laws may have a minimal effect on helmet use in the long term in those with low socioeconomic status, [66] as helmet use is affected by social environment, cultural elements, socioeconomic status, and race, among other factors.[38, 57, 67] Non-legislative community-based interventions have shown promise in promoting helmet use and may have a greater impact on helmet use among groups resistant to legislation.[68] While helmets are an effective intervention for mitigating injury severity, they do not prevent bicycle crashes or non-head cycling injuries;[51, 54, 62] therefore, to further reduce cycling injury rates, additional injury prevention strategies need to be implemented in conjunction with approaches to encourage helmet use in order.

1.5.4 Alcohol Use

It is well documented that cycling while intoxicated increases risk of a crash, severity of injury, and risk of head injury.[36, 52, 69-73] Consumption of alcohol prior to cycling also correlates with not wearing a bike helmet.[10, 52, 70, 71, 74] Additionally, the majority of cyclists who sustain a cycling injury after reportedly consuming alcohol are legally intoxicated.[70, 75] Cyclists with a BAC >0.10% who sustained a severe injury are at 2.81 times increased odds of death compared to cyclists who were not consuming alcohol immediately prior to being injured.[70] In a study by Li *et al.* cyclists who were legally intoxicated at the time of the crash were significantly more likely to have previously had their driver's license suspended or revoked compared with cyclists who were injured while riding sober.[76] Cyclists may view bicycles as a safe alternative for transportation after they have consumed alcohol, a theory supported by the increased frequency of injury events during the early morning hours of Saturday and Sunday morning compared to the early hours during the rest of the week.[37, 72, 77] Relatedly, Johnson et al. conducted a study on the attitudes towards alcohol use of injured cyclists presenting to an ED, and

when interviewed the vast majority of cyclists agreed that alcohol impairs their ability to ride a bicycle, including 94% of cyclists who reported that they ride a bicycle home after imbibing.[78] Despite the strong evidence for the increased risk of cycling while intoxicated, following extensive literature searching (e.g., EMBASE, Medline, CINAHL), no reports of interventions targeting alcohol use as a risk factor for injury were identified. Even though most cyclists acknowledge that alcohol likely impairs their ability to ride a bicycle, cyclists may not recognize that drinking and cycling increases risk of a crash, so public awareness campaigns about the dangers of drinking and cycling may also reduce cycling injury rates.

1.6 AGENT FACTORS

1.6.1 Bicycles

The fit and style of a bicycle may contribute to bicycle crashes. While there has been research in the area of ergonomics about the role of bicycle fit in over-use injuries, the role of bicycle fit in acute injury has not been well studied. It is possible that a bicycle that is too large or too small may lead to fatigue, over-use injury that handicaps the cyclist while riding, or loss of control, resulting in a fall or crash.

Similarly, poor bicycle maintenance can lead to a crash though mechanical failure, such as the bike chain detaching or a brake failure. Mechanical failure of a bicycle has been reported in 11-13% of bicycle crashes that resulted in an injury requiring medical treatment, and bicycle brake failure increases this risk.[36, 79-81] Promoting proper bicycle fit and regular bicycle maintenance may reduce bicycle crashes resulting from loss of control or mechanical failure.

1.6.2 Motor Vehicles

Involvement of a motor vehicle in a bicycle crash is strongly associated with severe injuries, poor outcomes (e.g., admissions to hospital and fatalities), and disability. Collisions involving motor vehicles

more often result in a serious injury or death than cyclist-only crashes.[16, 22] Approximately one quarter to one third of severe bicycle injuries result from a collision that involved a motor vehicle.[13, 17, 27, 82, 83] Moreover, the majority of bicycle-related fatalities involve collision with a motor vehicle and the size of the motor vehicle may affect survivorship of the cyclist involved in a MVCC.[13, 14, 16, 17, 28, 84, 85] Cyclist collisions with motor vehicles travelling at higher speeds are also associated with increased severity.[49, 86-88] The separation of bicycles and motor vehicles by bicycle-targeted infrastructure has been shown to reduce crash rates on streets compared to those without bicyclefriendly infrastructure in place.[89-91] Not all bicycle-infrastructure is equally protective; structures such as cycle tracks and paved off-road trails that physically separate cyclists from motor vehicle-dominated roads reduce the risk of MVCCs more than on-road bike lanes.[89, 92] Furthermore, on-street bike lanes may have a greater protective affect against collision with a motor vehicle when implemented on lowspeed, low-traffic flow roads compared to high traffic thoroughfares.[89, 91, 92]

1.7 FACTORS OF THE PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT

1.7.1 Climate, Weather, and Visibility

In a northern climate like Canada, seasonal cycling presents unique challenges for cyclists. Despite this, heterogeneity in climate across regions results in markedly different cycling activity throughout the year. Harsh winter weather conditions in much of Canada leads to poor road conditions including snow and/or ice. Road maintenance practices such as plowing snow to the side of the road and using sand or gravel for traction are designed to improve road conditions for cars; however, cyclists report that they feel these practices make cycling unsafe because plowed snow may obstruct bike lanes forcing cyclists to ride with motor traffic and gravel can decrease handling ability for cyclists.[93, 94] A study conducted in northern Sweden found that the majority of bicycle injuries in the winter were attributed to poor road maintenance.[95] Winter road maintenance strategies that keep cyclists in mind may increase winter cycling rates and reduce occurrence of cycling injuries due to road conditions.

Finally, road conditions (e.g., gravel debris, pot holes, etc.) in the post-winter period can lead to dangerous cycling conditions.

In addition to poor road conditions, the winter months also have longer periods of darkness than other seasons, which decreases visibility of cyclists and has been shown to be a factor in bicycle crashes, especially collisions with motor vehicles.[49, 96] Cyclists can mitigate the risk of riding in darkness by wearing reflective clothing, mounting reflectors on their bicycle, and installing (and using) bicycle lights.[77, 97] In an effort to "reduce serious injury and deaths caused by its new cars to zero by 2020", the car maker Volvo recently released a highly reflective "safety spray" designed to coat the bicycle, cyclist, and protective equipment to enhance the cyclist's visibility in the dark, although to-date there has been no study of the paint's effectiveness at reducing cyclist-motor vehicle conflicts.[98, 99]

Rain and strong winds may also increase the risk of a crash.[49] The role of poor weather in bicycle crashes has not been well studied, although poor weather likely plays only a small role in cycling injuries since the large majority of injury events occur during times of fair weather.[16, 49]

1.7.2 Infrastructure

The built environment includes traffic signals, road surface, and transportation infrastructure, all of which influence the occurrence of cycling injuries. Involvement of road defects or wet/slippery surfaces in a bicycle crash is uncommon.[49, 88] While each crash event and injury is unique, the majority of bicycle injuries and fatalities occur on a paved surface, mainly roads, and especially in intersections.[92] This is not a surprise since severe injuries and fatalities often result from injury events involving cyclist-motor vehicle collisions,[21, 25, 37, 88, 92, 100, 101] and collisions between motor vehicles and cyclists are most likely to occur at intersections.[86] Bicycle-specific infrastructure physically separates motor vehicles from more vulnerable road users, thereby reducing cyclist-motor vehicle interactions and subsequently reducing the risk of a crash.[89, 90, 102]

1.8 THE SOCIAL ENVIRONMENT

1.8.1 Behavior and Attitudes of Road Users

Road users overestimate their own safety and the safety of road users in their own group compared to other groups of road users.[103] Road users also place a greater level of responsibility for safety of all road users on groups of road users other than their own.[103] The inability of road users to take responsibility for their own safety suggests that they are likely to make them resistant to behavioral changes affected through educational interventions and has implications for the potential effectiveness of educational road safety interventions targeting interactions between groups of road users, such as campaigns to encourage motorists to share the road with cyclists.

Increasing the number of cyclists on the roads may decrease the risk of injury and death for cyclists though the "safety in numbers" principle, which states that an increase in injury incidence due to an increase in the number of cyclists will be less than the increase in cycling. In other words, the risk of injury to an individual cyclist decreases inversely with an increasing number of cyclists.[104, 105] On the other hand, the individual-level protection afforded by increased cycling volume is only effective if the increased levels of participation can be sustained; in Victoria, Australia participation in cycling decreased following the implementation of mandatory helmet laws and cycling injury rates subsequently increased.[106]

1.8.2 Legislation

Legislation is one injury prevention strategy that can be successful at reducing injury rates. For example, legislation for the mandatory use of protective equipment such as seat belts and child car seats, as well as prohibition of high-risk activities like impaired driving, has influenced incidence of traffic-related injuries.[107-112] As previously mentioned, helmets are highly effective; summary evidence suggests they reduce head and brain injury by 65-88%, and upper facial injury by 65%.[113]

Despite their effectiveness, the use of appropriately sized and properly fit helmets is often low. One of the most controversial areas of legislation is MHLs for cyclists. While these legislative interventions have significantly increased helmet use in areas where they have been implemented, bicycle helmets do not significantly affect the occurrence of other types of bicycle injuries. In some cases, it may be that other legislation to reduce bicycle injuries is already in place but enforcement is lacking. For example, in many regions cycling under the influence of alcohol is prohibited either by targeted "bicycling under the influence" legislation or under the same drinking and driving legislation that also prohibits motorists from driving while intoxicated, [114, 115] but cyclists are rarely prosecuted under these laws. Given that helmet legislation has proved effective at increasing helmet use, legislating use of other safety equipment such as bicycle mounted lights and high-visibility clothing at night may increase their use, and including cyclists in regular check stop programs may discourage cyclists from cycling while intoxicated.

1.9 AIMS OF THIS THESIS

Although cycling provides many health and environmental benefits, limited information is available about severe and fatal injury events in adults. Additionally, cycling injuries are multi-factorial and likely involve interactions between risk factors. As all levels of North American governments implement policies and strategies to increase cycling among residents, it is necessary to assess the possible public health outcomes that may result from increasing the number of cyclists in North America. In addition, further elucidation of the risk factors for cycling injury and how those factors may interact is necessary to develop effective injury prevention and control interventions. Furthermore, although cycling is popular in some northern regions in North America (the Yukon has the highest cycling rate in Canada), cycling injuries are very rarely studied in cold, northern, and mostly rural regions.

Edmonton is one Canadian city encouraging increased cycling participation. Edmonton has a continental climate that reaches -35°C in winter and the harsh winter weather results in poor road conditions year-round. Until recently, bicycle-specific infrastructure was infrequent, and cycling on roads remains common. Helmet use in adults is lower than in children/adolescents, and bicycle helmet use has not been mandatory for adult cyclists in the current legislation (except in the City of St. Albert).

The aims of this thesis are to: i) define the current literature bicycle fatalities and the factors reported to be associated with them; ii) review the burden of severe and fatal bicycle injuries in North American adult cyclists compared to children cyclists; and iii) describe the epidemiology of bicycle fatalities in the province of Alberta and their associated factors.

1.10 REFERENCES

- 1. Cragg S, Cameron C, Craig CI. 2004 National Transportation Survey. In: institute CFaLR, editor. Ottawa, ON, 2006.
- 2. Lindsay G, Macmillan A, Woodward A. Moving urban trips from cars to bicycles: impact on health and emissions. *Aust N Z J Public Health* 2011;35(1):54-60. doi:10.1111/j.1753-6405.2010.00621.x
- 3. Lusk AC, Mekary RA, Feskanich D, et al. Bicycle riding, walking, and weight gain in premenopausal women. *Arch Intern Med* 2010;170(12):1050-6. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2010.171
- 4. Oja P, Titze S, Bauman A, et al. Health benefits of cycling: a systematic review. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2011;21(4):496-509. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011.01299.x
- Pucher J, Buehler R, Bassett DR, et al. Walking and cycling to health: a comparative analysis of city, state, and international data. *Am J Public Health* 2010;100(10):1986-92. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.189324
- Matthews CE, Jurj AL, Shu XO, et al. Influence of exercise, walking, cycling, and overall nonexercise physical activity on mortality in Chinese women. *Am J Epidemiol* 2007;165(12):1343-50. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm088
- 7. Hoevenaar-Blom MP, Wendel-Vos GC, Spijkerman AM, et al. Cycling and sports, but not walking, are associated with 10-year cardiovascular disease incidence: the MORGEN Study. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil* 2011;18(1):41-7. doi:10.1097/HJR.0b013e32833bfc87
- Pucher J, Dill J, Handy S. Infrastructure, programs, and policies to increase bicycling: an international review. *Prev Med* 2010;50 Suppl 1:S106-25. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2009.07.028
- 9. Winters M, Friesen MC, Koehoorn M, et al. Utilitarian bicycling: a multilevel analysis of climate and personal influences. *Am J Prev Med* 2007;32(1):52-8. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2006.08.027
- Teschke K, Brubacher JR, Friedman SM, et al. Personal and trip characteristics associated with safety equipment use by injured adult bicyclists: a cross-sectional study. *BMC public health* 2012;12:765. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-765

- 11. Turcotte M. NHS in Brief: Commuting to Work. In: Statistics Canada, editor. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Minister of Industry, 2013.
- 12. Public Health Agency of Canada. Injuries associated with Bicycles: CHIRPP database, 2006.
- 13. A Quick Look at Fatally Injured Vulnerable Road Users. In: Transport Canada, editor. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Minister of Public Works, 2010.
- 14. Kelly KD, Lissel HL, Rowe BH, et al. Sport and recreation-related head injuries treated in the emergency department. *Clin J Sport Med* 2001;11(2):77-81.
- 15. Alberta Center for Injury Control. Bicycle-Related Injuries Fact Sheet. Edmonton, ON: Alberta Center for Injury Control,, 2008.
- 16. Rowe BH, Rowe AM, Bota GW. Bicyclist and environmental factors associated with fatal bicyclerelated trauma in Ontario. *CMAJ* 1995;152(1):45-53.
- Konkin DE, Garraway N, Hameed SM, et al. Population-based analysis of severe injuries from nonmotorized wheeled vehicles. *Am J Surg* 2006;191(5):615-8. doi:10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.02.012
- 18. Davison CM, Torunian M, Walsh P, et al. Bicycle helmet use and bicycling-related injury among young Canadians: an equity analysis. *Int J Equity Health* 2013;12:48. doi:10.1186/1475-9276-12-48
- 19. Schwartz HJ, Brison RJ. Bicycle-related injuries in children: a study in two Ontario emergency departments, 1994. *Chronic Dis Can* 1996;17(2):56-62.
- 20. Harris AW, Jones CA, Rowe BH, et al. A population-based study of sport and recreation-related head injuries treated in a Canadian health region. *J Sci Med Sport* 2012;15(4):298-304. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2011.12.005
- 21. Chen WS, Dunn RY, Chen AJ, et al. Epidemiology of Nonfatal Bicycle Injuries Presenting to United States Emergency Departments, 2001-2008. *Acad Emerg Med* 2013;20(6):570-75.

- 22. Heesch KC, Garrard J, Sahlqvist S. Incidence, severity and correlates of bicycling injuries in a sample of cyclists in Queensland, Australia. *Accid Anal Prev* 2011;43(6):2085-92.
 doi:10.1016/j.aap.2011.05.031
- 23. Meuleners LB, Lee AH, Haworth C. Emergency presentations by vulnerable road users: implications for injury prevention. *Inj Prev* 2006;12(1):12-4. doi:10.1136/ip.2005.010389
- 24. Mehan TJ, Gardner R, Smith GA, et al. Bicycle-related injuries among children and adolescents in the United States. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)* 2009;48(2):166-73. doi:10.1177/0009922808324952
- 25. Rivara FP, Thompson DC, Thompson RS. Epidemiology of bicycle injuries and risk factors for serious injury. *Inj Prev* 1997;3(2):110-4.
- 26. Roberts DJ, Ouellet JF, Sutherland FR, et al. Severe street and mountain bicycling injuries in adults: a comparison of the incidence, risk factors and injury patterns over 14 years. *Can J Surg* 2013;56(3):E32-8. doi:10.1503/cjs.027411
- 27. Transport Canada. Canadian Motor Vehicle Traffic Collision Statistics. In: Transport Canada, editor. Ottawa, ON, 2014.
- 28. Nicaj L, Stayton C, Mandel-Ricci J, et al. Bicyclist fatalities in New York City: 1996-2005. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2009;10(2):157-61. doi:10.1080/15389580802641761
- 29. Siman-Tov M, Jaffe DH, Peleg K. Bicycle injuries: a matter of mechanism and age. *Accid Anal Prev* 2012;44(1):135-9. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.006
- 30. Naumann RB, Dellinger AM, Zaloshnja E, et al. Incidence and total lifetime costs of motor vehiclerelated fatal and nonfatal injury by road user type, United States, 2005. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2010;11(4):353-60. doi:10.1080/15389588.2010.486429
- 31. Linn S, Smith D, Sheps S. Epidemiology of bicycle injury, head injury, and helmet use among children in British Columbia: a five year descriptive study. Canadian Hospitals Injury, Reporting and Prevention Program (CHIRPP). *Inj Prev* 1998;4(2):122-5.

- 32. Beck LF, Dellinger AM, O'Neil ME. Motor vehicle crash injury rates by mode of travel, United States: using exposure-based methods to quantify differences. Am J Epidemiol 2007;166(2):212-8. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm064
- Grenier T, Deckelbaum DL, Boulva K, et al. A descriptive study of bicycle helmet use in Montreal, 2011. Can J Public Health 2013;104(5):e400-4.
- 34. Cobey KD, Stulp G, Laan F, et al. Sex differences in risk taking behavior among Dutch cyclists. *Evol Psychol* 2013;11(2):350-64.
- 35. Santamarina-Rubio E, Perez K, Olabarria M, et al. Gender differences in road traffic injury rate using time travelled as a measure of exposure. *Accid Anal Prev* 2014;65:1-7. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.11.015
- 36. Martinez-Ruiz V, Lardelli-Claret P, Jimenez-Mejias E, et al. Risk factors for causing road crashes involving cyclists: An application of a quasi-induced exposure method. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;51:228-37. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2012.11.023
- 37. Boufous S, Rome LD, Senserrick T, et al. Cycling crashes in children, adolescents, and adults--a comparative analysis. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2011;12(3):244-50. doi:10.1080/15389588.2011.563333
- 38. Dellinger AM, Kresnow MJ. Bicycle helmet use among children in the United States: the effects of legislation, personal and household factors. J Safety Res 2010;41(4):375-80. doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2010.05.003
- 39. Twisk D, Vlakveld W, Mesken J, et al. Inexperience and risky decisions of young adolescents, as pedestrians and cyclists, in interactions with lorries, and the effects of competency versus awareness education. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;55:219-25.
- 40. Ducheyne F, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Lenoir M, et al. Does a cycle training course improve cycling skills in children? *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;59:38-45. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.05.018
- 41. Lachapelle U, Noland RB, Von Hagen LA. Teaching children about bicycle safety: an evaluation of the New Jersey Bike School program. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;52:237-49. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2012.09.015

- 42. Hooshmand J, Hotz G, Neilson V, et al. BikeSafe: evaluating a bicycle safety program for middle school aged children. *Accid Anal Prev* 2014;66:182-6. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2014.01.011
- 43. Voukelatos A, Khan S. Children's bicycle safety education does not reduce injuries. *Health Promot J Austr* 2010;21(2):152.
- 44. Nagel RW, Hankenhof BJ, Kimmel SR, et al. Educating grade school children using a structured bicycle safety program. *J Trauma* 2003;55(5):920-3. doi:10.1097/01.TA.0000092682.79696.FA
- 45. Richmond SA, Zhang YJ, Stover A, et al. Prevention of bicycle-related injuries in children and youth: a systematic review of bicycle skills training interventions. *Inj Prev* 2013. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2013-040933
- 46. Dong X, Peek-Asa C, Yang J, et al. The association of road safety knowledge and risk behaviour with paediatric road traffic injury in Guangzhou, China. *Inj Prev* 2011;17(1):15-20.
 doi:10.1136/ip.2010.027540
- 47. Cusimano MD, Faress A, Luong WP, et al. Evaluation of a bicycle helmet safety program for children. *Can J Neurol Sci* 2013;40(5):710-6.
- 48. Richter M, Pape HC, Otte D, et al. The current status of road user injuries among the elderly in Germany: a medical and technical accident analysis. *J Trauma* 2005;58(3):591-5.
- 49. Kim JK, Kim S, Ulfarsson GF, et al. Bicyclist injury severities in bicycle-motor vehicle accidents. *Accid Anal Prev* 2007;39(2):238-51. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2006.07.002
- 50. Martinez-Ruiz V, Jimenez-Mejias E, Luna-del-Castillo Jde D, et al. Association of cyclists' age and sex with risk of involvement in a crash before and after adjustment for cycling exposure. *Accid Anal Prev* 2014;62:259-67. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.10.011
- 51. Bergenstal J, Davis SM, Sikora R, et al. Pediatric bicycle injury prevention and the effect of helmet use: the West Virginia experience. *W V Med J* 2012;108(3):78-81.
- 52. Bambach MR, Mitchell RJ, Grzebieta RH, et al. The effectiveness of helmets in bicycle collisions with motor vehicles: a case-control study. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;53:78-88. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.01.005

- 53. Amoros E, Chiron M, Martin JL, et al. Bicycle helmet wearing and the risk of head, face, and neck injury: a French case--control study based on a road trauma registry. *Inj Prev* 2012;18(1):27-32. doi:10.1136/ip.2011.031815
- 54. Karkhaneh M, Rowe BH, Saunders LD, et al. Trends in head injuries associated with mandatory bicycle helmet legislation targeting children and adolescents. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;59:206-12.
- 55. Schuster MA, Elliott MN, Kanouse DE, et al. Racial and ethnic health disparities among fifth-graders in three cities. *N Engl J Med* 2012;367(8):735-45. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa1114353
- 56. Webman R, Dultz LA, Simon RJ, et al. Helmet use is associated with safer bicycling behaviors and reduced hospital resource use following injury. *The journal of trauma and acute care surgery* 2013;75(5):877-81. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e3182a85f97
- 57. Rezendes JL. Bicycle helmets: overcoming barriers to use and increasing effectiveness. *J Pediatr Nurs* 2006;21(1):35-44. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2005.06.005
- 58. Hagel BE, Lee RS, Karkhaneh M, et al. Factors associated with incorrect bicycle helmet use. *Inj Prev* 2010;16(3):178-84. doi:10.1136/ip.2009.023994
- 59. Romanow NR, Hagel BE, Williamson J, et al. Cyclist head and facial injury risk in relation to helmet fit: a case-control study. *Chronic diseases and injuries in Canada* 2014;34(1):1-7.
- 60. Macpherson AK, To TM, Macarthur C, et al. Impact of mandatory helmet legislation on bicyclerelated head injuries in children: a population-based study. *Pediatrics* 2002;110(5):e60.
- 61. Karkhaneh M, Rowe BH, Saunders LD, et al. Bicycle helmet use four years after the introduction of helmet legislation in Alberta, Canada. *Accid Anal Prev* 2011;43(3):788-96. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.026
- 62. Walter SR, Olivier J, Churches T, et al. The impact of compulsory cycle helmet legislation on cyclist head injuries in New South Wales, Australia. *Accid Anal Prev* 2011;43(6):2064-71. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2011.05.029

- 63. Meehan WP, 3rd, Lee LK, Fischer CM, et al. Bicycle helmet laws are associated with a lower fatality rate from bicycle-motor vehicle collisions. *J Pediatr* 2013;163(3):726-9. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.03.073
- 64. Olivier J, Walter SR, Grzebieta RH. Long term bicycle related head injury trends for New South Wales, Australia following mandatory helmet legislation. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;50:1128-34. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2012.09.003
- 65. Leblanc JC, Beattie TL, Culligan C. Effect of legislation on the use of bicycle helmets. *CMAJ* 2002;166(5):592-5.
- 66. Macpherson AK, Macarthur C, To TM, et al. Economic disparity in bicycle helmet use by children six years after the introduction of legislation. *Inj Prev* 2006;12(4):231-5. doi:10.1136/ip.2005.011379
- 67. Pierce SR, Palombaro KM, Black JD. Barriers to bicycle helmet use in young children in an urban elementary school. *Health Promot Pract* 2014;15(3):406-12. doi:10.1177/1524839913512329
- 68. Owen R, Kendrick D, Mulvaney C, et al. Non-legislative interventions for the promotion of cycle helmet wearing by children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011(11):CD003985. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003985.pub3
- 69. Andersson AL, Bunketorp O. Cycling and alcohol. Injury 2002;33(6):467-71.
- 70. Li G, Baker SP, Sterling S, et al. A comparative analysis of alcohol in fatal and nonfatal bicycling injuries. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 1996;20(9):1553-9.
- 71. Crocker P, Zad O, Milling T, et al. Alcohol, bicycling, and head and brain injury: a study of impaired cyclists' riding patterns R1. *Am J Emerg Med* 2010;28(1):68-72. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2008.09.011
- 72. Dultz LA, Foltin G, Simon R, et al. Vulnerable roadway users struck by motor vehicles at the center of the safest, large US city. *The journal of trauma and acute care surgery* 2013;74(4):1138-45. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e31827ab722
- 73. Asbridge M, Mann R, Cusimano MD, et al. Cycling-related crash risk and the role of cannabis and alcohol: a case-crossover study. *Prev Med* 2014;66:80-6. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.06.006
- 74. Orsi C, Ferraro OE, Montomoli C, et al. Alcohol consumption, helmet use and head trauma in cycling collisions in Germany. *Accid Anal Prev* 2014;65:97-104. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.12.019
- 75. Elliott S, Woolacott H, Braithwaite R. The prevalence of drugs and alcohol found in road traffic fatalities: a comparative study of victims. *Sci Justice* 2009;49(1):19-23. doi:10.1016/j.scijus.2008.06.001
- 76. Li G, Shahpar C, Soderstrom CA, et al. Alcohol use in relation to driving records among injured bicyclists. *Accid Anal Prev* 2000;32(4):583-7. doi:10.1016/S0001-4575(99)00089-5
- 77. Twisk DA, Reurings M. An epidemiological study of the risk of cycling in the dark: the role of visual perception, conspicuity and alcohol use. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;60:134-40.
 doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.08.015
- 78. Johnson M, Newstead S, Biegler P. Too drunk to ride? Insights on cyclists' behaviour and attitudes towards alcohol, drugs and cycling 2013 Australasian Road Safety Research, Policing & Education Conference. Brisbane, Australia, 2013.
- 79. Tinsworth DK, Cassidy SP, Polen C. Bicycle-related injuries: Injury, hazard, and risk patterns. International Journal for Consumer and Product Safety 1994;1(4):207-20. doi:10.1080/09298349408945738
- 80. Ueland Ø. Characteristics of injured bicyclists in Norway a case-control study. *International Journal for Consumer and Product Safety* 1998;5(4):191-201. doi:10.1080/09298349808945815
- 81. Cushman R, Down J, MacMillan N, et al. Bicycle-related injuries: a survey in a pediatric emergency department. *CMAJ* 1990;143(2):108-12.
- 82. Davidson JA. Epidemiology and outcome of bicycle injuries presenting to an emergency department in the United Kingdom. *Eur J Emerg Med* 2005;12(1):24-9.
- 83. Canadian Motor Vehicle Traffic Collision Statistics 2013. In: Transport Canada, editor. Ottawa, ON:Office of the Minister of Public Works, 2015.
- 84. Ackery AD, McLellan BA, Redelmeier DA. Bicyclist deaths and striking vehicles in the USA. *Inj Prev* 2012;18(1):22-6. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2011-040066

- 85. Manson J, Cooper S, West A, et al. Major trauma and urban cyclists: physiological status and injury profile. *Emerg Med J* 2013;30(1):32-7. doi:10.1136/emermed-2011-200966
- 86. Romanow NT, Couperthwaite AB, McCormack GR, et al. Environmental determinants of bicycling injuries in Alberta, Canada. J Environ Public Health 2012;2012:487681. doi:10.1155/2012/487681
- 87. Richter M, Otte D, Haasper C, et al. The current injury situation of bicyclists--a medical and technical crash analysis. *J Trauma* 2007;62(5):1118-22. doi:10.1097/01.ta.0000221060.78894.cb
- 88. Wang C, Lu L, Lu J. Statistical Analysis of Bicyclists' Injury Severity at Unsignalized Intersections. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2014:0. doi:10.1080/15389588.2014.969802
- 89. Teschke K, Harris MA, Reynolds CC, et al. Route infrastructure and the risk of injuries to bicyclists: a case-crossover study. *Am J Public Health* 2012;102(12):2336-43. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300762
- 90. Hamann C, Peek-Asa C. On-road bicycle facilities and bicycle crashes in Iowa, 2007-2010. Accid Anal Prev 2013;56:103-9. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2012.12.031
- 91. Minikel E. Cyclist safety on bicycle boulevards and parallel arterial routes in Berkeley, California. Accid Anal Prev 2012;45:241-7. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2011.07.009
- 92. Harris MA, Reynolds CC, Winters M, et al. Comparing the effects of infrastructure on bicycling injury at intersections and non-intersections using a case-crossover design. *Inj Prev* 2013;19(5):303-10. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2012-040561
- 93. Bergström A, Magnusson R. Potential of transferring car trips to bicycle during winter. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 2003;37(8):649-66. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0965-8564(03)00012-0
- 94. Spencer P, Watts R, Vivanco L, et al. The effect of environmental factors on bicycle commuters in Vermont: influences of a northern climate. *Journal of Transport Geography* 2013;31(0):11-17. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2013.05.003</u>
- 95. Nyberg P, Bjornstig U, Bygren LO. Road characteristics and bicycle accidents. *Scand J Soc Med* 1996;24(4):293-301.

- 96. Bil M, Bilova M, Muller I. Critical factors in fatal collisions of adult cyclists with automobiles. *Accid Anal Prev* 2010;42(6):1632-6. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.04.001
- 97. Madsen JC, Andersen T, Lahrmann HS. Safety effects of permanent running lights for bicycles: A controlled experiment. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;50:820-9. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2012.07.006

98. Volvo Cars UK. Volvo Cars Life Paint. United Kingdom, 2015.

99. Laker L. Volvo Life Paint comes under fire while freebies fly off the shelves, 2015.

- 100. Hagel BE, Romanow NT, Enns N, et al. Severe bicycling injury risk factors in children and adolescents: A case-control study. *Accid Anal Prev* 2015;78:165-72.
 doi:10.1016/j.aap.2015.03.002
- 101. Cripton PA, Shen H, Brubacher JR, et al. Severity of urban cycling injuries and the relationship with personal, trip, route and crash characteristics: analyses using four severity metrics. *BMJ open* 2015;5(1):e006654. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006654
- 102. Reynolds CC, Harris MA, Teschke K, et al. The impact of transportation infrastructure on bicycling injuries and crashes: a review of the literature. *Environ Health* 2009;8:47. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-8-47
- 103. King MJ, Wood JM, Lacherez PF, et al. Optimism about safety and group-serving interpretations of safety among pedestrians and cyclists in relation to road use in general and under low light conditions. Accid Anal Prev 2012;44(1):154-9. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.12.003
- 104. Jacobsen PL. Safety in numbers: more walkers and bicyclists, safer walking and bicycling. *Inj Prev* 2003;9(3):205-9.
- 105. Tin ST, Woodward A, Thornley S, et al. Regional variations in pedal cyclist injuries in New Zealand: safety in numbers or risk in scarcity? *Aust N Z J Public Health* 2011;35(4):357-63. doi:10.1111/j.1753-6405.2011.00731.x
- 106. Robinson DL. Safety in numbers in Australia: more walkers and bicyclists, safer walking and bicycling. *Health Promot J Austr* 2005;16(1):47-51.

- 107. Houston DJ, Richardson LE, Jr., Neeley GW. Mandatory seat belt laws in the states. A study of fatal and severe occupant injuries. *Eval Rev* 1996;20(2):146-59.
- 108. Rivara FP, Thompson DC, Cummings P. Effectiveness of primary and secondary enforced seat belt laws. *Am J Prev Med* 1999;16(1 Suppl):30-9.
- 109. Eichelberger AH, Chouinard AO, Jermakian JS. Effects of booster seat laws on injury risk among children in crashes. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2012;13(6):631-9. doi:10.1080/15389588.2012.660663
- 110. Farmer P, Howard A, Rothman L, et al. Booster seat laws and child fatalities: a case-control study. *Inj Prev* 2009;15(5):348-50. doi:10.1136/ip.2008.021204
- 111. Brubacher JR, Chan H, Brasher P, et al. Reduction in fatalities, ambulance calls, and hospital admissions for road trauma after implementation of new traffic laws. Am J Public Health 2014;104(10):e89-97. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302068
- 112. Voas RB, Tippetts AS, Fell J. The relationship of alcohol safety laws to drinking drivers in fatal crashes. *Accid Anal Prev* 2000;32(4):483-92.
- 113. Thompson DC, Rivara FP, Thompson R. Helmets for preventing head and facial injuries in bicyclists. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2000(2):CD001855.
- 114. Burglin P, Simons B, Kuwatch E. Drunk Bicycling. In: Pringle A, editor. *California Drunk Driving Law*.Costa Mesa, CA: James Publishing, 2002:1-51.
- 115. Suchetka D. If it has wheels, better not drive it drunk in Ohio. *The Plain Dealer* 2006 May 10, 2006.

TABLE 1.1 PROPORTIONS OF COMMUTERS USING CYCLING AS THEIR PRIMARY MODE OF

	Proportion of residences cycling as a primary mode of transportation to work
Canada	1.4%
British Columbia	2.3%
Alberta	1.2%
Saskatchewan	1.3%
Manitoba	1.8%
Ontario	1.2%
Quebec	1.4%
New Brunswick	0.5%
Nova Scotia	0.7%
Prince Edward Island	0.4%
Newfoundland and Labrador	0.2%
Territories	
Yukon	2.8%
Northwest Territories	2.1%
Nunavut	0.1%
Note: Data compiled from Statistic: Canada Catalogue no. 99-012-X201	s Canada, 2011 National Household Survey, Statistics 1064.

TABLE 1.2 HADDON'S MATRIX DESCRIBING PRE- AND POST-EVENT FACTORS THAT MAY

AFFECT INJURY OCCURRENCE AND/OR SEVERITY AND SUGGESTED INTERVENTIONS TO

REDUCE THE ROLE OF EACH FACTOR.

		Cyclists	Bicycle/Motor Vehicle	Environment	Legislation/ Society
ash	Cause Impairment Age (traffic knowledge and experience, decision making skills)		Bicycle fit Mechanical soundness	Surface/infrastructure Weather Light conditions	Driver attitudes towards cyclists
Pre-cr	Prevention	Alcohol abstinence Educational/training programs Requiring a bicycle license	Ensure proper bicycle fit Regular bicycle maintenance	Cycling infrastructure Separation of cyclists and moving vehicles Use of visibility aids	Helmet laws Alcohol laws Safety-in-Numbers
٩	Cause	Not wearing protective equipment (e.g. helmet, wrist guards)	Size of bicycle Type of bicycle Strength of frame Size of motor vehicle	Surface type Car design Design of curbs, grates, rail track crossings	Emergency medical services
Prevention Protective equination Helmets Cyclist conspice		Protective equipment Helmets Cyclist conspicuity	Design of bicycle (protective cage) Design of car bumper	Surface repair Design of curbs, grates, rail track crossings Installation of shock- absorbing surfaces	Universal access to healthcare
	Cause	Age (elderly) Physical condition	Protective clothing Availability of first aid care	Location/access to medical services	Access to rehabilitation services
Post-crash	Prevention	Physical conditioning	Required first aid training for drivers and cyclists	Universal access to emergency medical services (EMS) and 911 ATLS training Trauma programs/centers	Universally accessible rehabilitation services Social programs for assisted living during rehabilitation

FIGURE 1.1 THE INJURY PYRAMID INCLUDING THE NUMBER OF FATALITIES, ADMISSIONS, AND EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT PRESENTATIONS IN THE UNITED STATES IN 2004. *DATA FROM NAUMANN *ET AL.* 2010.[30]



Chapter 2 Scoping Review of Cyclist Fatalities in North America

2.1 BACKGROUND

Cycling is a common recreational activity and expanding mode of transportation that has many environmental and health benefits. Cycling increases cardiovascular function and reduces obesity, risk of cardiovascular disease, and risk of diabetes.[1-6] Cycling does not contribute to air pollution and reduces production of greenhouse gas emissions and traffic congestion by removing cars from the road.[7] Because of the public health and environmental benefits, municipalities in North America seek to harness these benefits for their residents by implementing policies and plans to encourage cycling within their communities.[8]

The public health implications of increasing numbers of cyclists in North America have not been fully examined. Cycling is not without risk, as cycling injuries are one of the most common sports and recreation injuries presenting to Canadian emergency departments (ED).[9-11] While cycling fatalities are uncommon, they represent a disproportionate number of traffic fatalities compared to other road users,[12, 13] and the proportion of fatally injured road users in Canada who were cyclists nearly doubled from 1.7% in 2008 to 3.2% in 2013.[12, 14] Additionally, cycling fatalities have high per-event medical, loss-of-productivity, and quality of life costs compared to nonfatal cycling injuries,[15] and the estimated total yearly cost of the relatively few fatal cycling injuries has been estimated to be higher than the total due to nonfatal injuries.[16]

Despite their significant costs to individuals and healthcare providers, there is little research being done on fatal cycling injuries. Most cycling injury research in the past decade has focused on children and bicycle helmets, including helmet effectiveness and legislation mandating their use.[17-23] There is conflicting evidence, however, regarding the role of bicycle helmets in prevention of cycling fatalities. In addition, studies of factors other than helmet use that may relate to cycling fatalities have

been sporadic. Although there have been several studies of severe and fatal cycling injuries in North America, to date there has been no comprehensive review describing the epidemiology of severe and fatal cycling injuries or the factors associated with the crashes from which they result.

The aims of this scoping review are to describe the current literature on cycling fatalities in North America, including the factors associated with them, in order to compile the current knowledge, highlight gaps in the evidence, and provide direction for future research and policy development.

2.2 METHODS

2.2.1 Protocol

This scoping review was conducted as part of a larger review on severe and fatal cycling injuries, the protocol for which was developed *a priori* and is registered in the National Institute of Health Research's Center for Reviews and Dissemination PROSPERO database (Reg. No:CRD42014013769), which creates a permanent electronic record of the protocol for the review.[24]

2.2.2 Study Eligibility Criteria

This review focuses on injuries that occur during utilitarian and non-competitive recreational bicycling. Activities such as mountain biking, BMX bicycling, trick biking, and competitive road cycling are not likely to be impacted by public policies or infrastructure aimed at increasing bicycling; therefore, studies focusing on these disciplines have also been excluded.

Only studies that specifically identified cycling fatalities either as all or a part of their study sample were included in this review. A study was determined to be specifically examining cycling fatalities if medical examiner/coroner's reports, death certificates, or a fatality database were comprehensively searched for cycling deaths. Previous studies indicate that a large portion of fatally injured cyclists are killed at the scene of the crash and not treated in hospital;[25, 26] therefore a large portion of cycling fatalities may not be reported by hospital-based studies unless they also used external data sources. Studies that specifically stated that they intended to include deaths in the study, accessed appropriate data sources, and reported no deaths during the study period were considered relevant to framing the scope of the issue and are also on reported here.

Considerable social and geographic differences related to bicycling exist between North America and the rest of the developed world, especially Europe, where there is strong popular and government support for healthy, safe, and environmentally friendly modes of transportation and the views on the mandatory use of personal safety equipment differ.[8] The social perceptions of cycling in Europe may lead to substantial differences in the epidemiology of cycling injuries,[27-29] therefore, this review has been limited to studies of cycling injuries and fatalities occurring in Canada and the United States. Additionally, because road safety is vastly different between developing nations and developed nations,[30, 31] studies of cycling injuries in nations of limited economic and social development, including Mexico, were not included.

2.2.3 Data Sources and Search strategy

A detailed search strategy, which included searches of electronic databases, hand searching, and grey literature, was developed in consultation with an experienced medical librarian. Search terms included bicycle, bicycles, bicycling, bicycled, bicyclist, bicyclists, cyclist, cyclists, injury, injuries, injured, trauma, traumatic, wound, wounds, wounded, morbidity, mortality, fatal, fatality, fatalities, dead, dies, died, deaths, Canada, Canadian, United States, American, North America. An example of the detailed search strategy can be found in Appendix A. Primary literature databases searched included: Medline and EMBASE, Sports Discus, Transportation Research Information System, and the multidisciplinary database SCOPUS. PROQuest Theses and Dissertations and Google Scholar were also searched. References of included studies were hand searched for relevant articles, as were the past three years of the journals *Academic Emergency Medicine, Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine, Annals of Emergency Medicine* and *Injury Prevention*, and the proceedings from the annual meetings of the Society for

Academic Emergency Medicine and the Canadian Association for Emergency Physicians. Index search terms included bicycle, injury, injuries (bicycle), and cyclist(s). Studies were not excluded by language or year of publication, nor by publication type or status.

2.2.4 Data Collection

Data were abstracted from included studies independently by two trained researchers (LG, FO) onto standardized forms. Data extraction was piloted by independent double-data extraction from five typical studies, and discrepancies were resolved by consensus.

When available, extracted data included: publication year, country and region where the study was conducted, study period, demographics of study population (e.g., proportion adult, proportion male), types of injuries including the nature of injury and affected anatomy, use of protective equipment (e.g., helmet), mechanism of injury including involvement of motor vehicles, and crash details, including day of the week, time and/or light condition, and rural vs. urban.

2.2.5 Definitions

The mechanism of the crash (e.g., motor vehicle-cyclist collision [MVCC], cyclist-only, mid-block ride-out, etc.), as well as "weekend", and "darkness" were documented; however, not all studies that reported on these factors provided category definitions. For example, some studies listed cycling fatality occurrence by day of the week or by hours of the day, without defining "weekend" or "nighttime" periods. In order to categorize this data, common definitions were used to categorize data from studies that did not provide a definition. In these cases, times of darkness were considered to be between 8 PM and 6 AM, or the time categories reported by the authors that accounted for the substantive majority of that time period. Unless otherwise specified, "weekend" was considered to be anytime on Saturday or Sunday. Where available, the study's definition of adult cyclists was used. In mixed population studies

that did not clearly differentiate between children and adult age categories, the boundary closest to 18 years between categories was used to divide adults from children.

2.2.6 Analysis

Where appropriate, weighted proportions and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for factors of interest were calculated under a random effects model using the Microsoft Excel tool developed by Neyeloff *et al.* for meta-analysis of descriptive studies.[32]

2.3 RESULTS

2.3.1 Search Results and Characteristics of Studies

The systematic searches were conducted on July 18, 2014 and resulted in 2264 unique entries. After screening titles and abstracts, the full texts of 61 papers were reviewed and 22 unique studies were included. Three additional studies were identified in the grey literature, for a total of 25 studies. All studies were published in the English language. Studies were published between 1983 and 2013 with a median year of publication of 1998 (interquartile range [IQR]: 1995, 2012). Characteristics of the included studies are presented in Table 2.1.

Most studies were published as one or more articles in a peer reviewed journal; however, one dissertation, one conference abstract and two conference papers were also identified (Table 2.1). Two studies were published both as peer-reviewed papers and as government-issued reports on cycling injury and fatalities: one in New York City and one in Ontario.[33, 34] Ten of the 25 studies collected data on both injuries and fatalities (Table 2.1); however, only data on fatalities were included in the meta-analysis.

2.3.2 Study Designs and Definitions

Studies used data collected from the years 1956 to 2011. The duration of included studies ranged from 1 to 23.8 years with a median duration of 5.5 years (IQR: 2.9, 10). All except one of the

included studies were retrospective. The majority of studies (21 [84%]) were observational studies that used a descriptive design to examine the incidence of cycling fatalities and factors associated with fatal cycling events. Three studies employed a case-control design to: compare alcohol use in fatal and nonfatal cycling injuries; [26] examine characteristics of the striking vehicle between cyclist road deaths compared to non-cyclist road deaths; [35] and compare helmet use between head-injured and non-head injured fatally injured cyclists. [34] Zhu et al. conducted a retrospective cohort study to examine traffic injury rates among different types of road users (including cyclists) in Appalachia.[36] Other study designs included: one cost analyses of the lifetime costs of pedestrian and cyclist injuries;[15] a cost analysis of all-terrain vehicles compared to cyclist injuries;[37] an ecologic study examining nonfatal and fatal injury rates resulting from motor vehicle collisions across different road-users;[13] a multi-level analysis examining the correlations between cycling fatalities and state-level traffic laws; [38] and one before-after study examining a school-based educational intervention for traffic injury prevention intervention.[39] Mechanisms of injury were most often defined as involvement (or not) of a motor vehicle in the crash-event. Three studies used more detailed categories to describe collisions between cyclists and motor vehicles (Table 2.1).[25, 33, 40] Seven studies did not report on the mechanism of the crash event. The definition of "adult" ranged from 14 to 24 and the most common categorization for "adult" was 16 years or older (Table 2.2). The weekend was generally considered all-day Saturday and Sunday, and the reported periods of "night" or "darkness" varied, but generally began between 6pm and 8pm and ended between 6am and 8am (Table 2.2).

2.3.3 Study Data Sources and Populations

Data sources used by each study to gather information on cycling fatalities are listed in Table 2.1. Some studies examined fatality data from multiple sources (Table 2.1), for example using record linkage methods to ensure completeness and validity of the data,[33, 41] or to compare different sources for reporting accuracy.[42] The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration's Fatality

Analysis and Reporting System (FARS) was the most common, as it was used by eight studies. The next most common source of data was records from the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner of the jurisdiction where the study was carried out (n=7). Other sources of data included regional trauma databases (n=4), the National Center for Health Statistics Multiple Cause of Death database (n=3), regional death certificates records (n=3), autopsy reports (n=2), the National Vital Statistics System (n=1), and data from the New York Police Department and New York Department of Transportation (n=1).

Most studies (n=19 [76%]) included both child and adult cyclists. Four studies focused on injuries or fatalities in children and two reported deaths only in adult cyclists. Overall, four studies were conducted in Canada and 21 studies involved US samples. Eleven of the US studies used nation-wide samples. Fourteen of the 25 included studies were conducted solely in one state or province: Ontario (3) and Alberta (1), California, Connecticut, Florida, Indiana, Maryland, New York (2), Oregon (2), and Washington DC were also identified. Five of the fourteen "regional" studies were restricted to one metropolitan area: San Diego County, CA; Washington DC; New York City, NY (n=2); and Dade County, FL.

The median sample size of all cyclists (of any injury severity) in all studies was 394 (IQR: 225, 1964). The sample sizes of fatality-only studies ranged from 36 to 4924, with a median of 394 (IQR: 151, 1788). The median number of cyclist fatalities reported across all included studies was 212 (IQR: 62, 917).

2.3.4 Factors Associated with Fatal Cycling Injuries

Two studies were excluded from further analysis because they reported that there were no cycling-related deaths during their respective study periods.[39, 41] An additional four studies were excluded from the meta-analysis due to unavailable data on associated factors.[13, 19, 43, 44]

Commonly reported factors associated with cycling fatalities are described in Table 2.3 and Figure 2.2. In general, fatally injured cyclists were predominantly male, were most often not wearing a helmet, and were in a collision involving a motor vehicle. Studies reporting on the occurrence of head injury indicated that head injuries in fatally injured cyclists were common (Table 2.3).

Because a large portion of studies used the same datasets over similar time periods, a sensitivity analysis was conducted to determine whether the overlap in data may influence the estimates. Weighted proportions for each factor of interest were calculated from all studies reporting them and compared with the data from studies for which no overlap was a reasonable assumption (data not shown). A Pearson's chi-squared test determined that the differences in weighted proportions between the overlapping and no-overlap samples were not significant (p=0.98).

2.4 DISCUSSION

This is the first comprehensive review of the primary studies and factors involved in cycling fatalities in North America. Using an *a priori* protocol, comprehensive search strategies to avoid publication bias, and strategies to mitigate selection bias, 25 studies were identified for inclusion. Overall, most studies reporting on cycling fatalities were retrospective; a third studied both fatal and nonfatal injuries. Fatally injured cyclists were mainly adult, mainly male, and rarely wore helmets (although the latter may slowly be changing, as newer studies generally reported higher proportions of helmet use than older studies). Using pooling techniques to adjust for sample-size variation, multiple factors were quantized and could be used by injury prevention planners and policy makers to explore ways to reduce fatal and severe cycling injuries.

Overall, there were relatively few studies reporting on cycling fatalities using sources of medical data, and the quality of evidence provided by studies that were found was, anecdotally, poor, as most studies were descriptive, a study design that is prone to multiple biases. The majority of identified

studies were descriptive, nearly all were retrospective, and few examined the etiology of cycling fatalities, all of which are common to studies typically at high risk for bias. Additionally, only one study that examined interventions to reduce cycling fatality rates was identified; Meehan *et al.* reported the correlation in state cycling fatality rate with the presence or absence of traffic laws that may impact cycling safety and found state cycling fatality rates to be associated with the presence or absence of a state-wide helmet law.[38] The dearth of evidence for interventions to prevent cycling fatalities is likely due to the difficulties in studying etiology of a rare outcome and the obvious ethical issues associated with conducting controlled trials to study fatal injuries. Study designs exist to circumvent such issues; for example the before-after study design that uses the same population as its own control before and after an intervention is effective for examining ecologic-level interventions such as regulation or public safety campaigns.

Nonfatal cycling injuries are among the most common sports and recreation injuries presenting to emergency departments in North America, and injured cyclists can often be directly interviewed to identify the events and environment surrounding the injury, both of which make nonfatal cycling injuries much easier to study than fatal cycling injuries. Obtaining accurate event and environmental data is often difficult for fatal collisions, as the majority of fatally injured cyclists die before arriving at or while in the ED.[25] Even if the cyclist were conscious when medical personnel arrived, they may be otherwise unable to accurately recall the event, and it may also be unethical to interrogate a patient (or witness) for details about such a traumatic event.

An understanding of the causes of and risk factors for cycling fatalities is necessary to further prevent them. Among studies included in this review, reporting of factors associated with cycling fatalities was highly inconsistent. Without knowledge of the factors associated with cycling fatalities, injury prevention specialists will have a difficult time developing and implementing successful strategies

to reduce the occurrence of cycling fatalities. While some factors, such as sex and age, are not modifiable, their distribution among cyclists could be used for indicative prevention strategies to target those most at risk, as well as directing future research to determine why these groups are at the most risk. Based on the results of this review, more than 80% of fatally injured cyclists are male. Conversely males make up 60% of cyclists in North America, [45] suggesting that other factors may account for their disproportionate contribution to cycling fatalities; for example, male cyclists ride more often on shared infrastructure with motor vehicles, [46] which may be associated with increased risk of a crash. [47]

Although cycling fatalities are relatively rare events, they are associated with high costs in medical expenses, lost productivity, and quality of life years lost. Together, these costs have been estimated at US\$2-4.5 million per event.[15, 37] Even though fatalities are much rarer than nonfatal cycling injury events, the total cost from fatalities has been estimated to be greater: \$3.3 billion per year compared to \$2.8 billion in 2012.[16] Even a small reduction in cycling fatality rates will have a noteworthy impact on reducing the overall cost of these tragic events on society and the individuals to whom they occur.

Much of the current literature focuses on providing evidence for the use of helmets and implementation of legislation for their mandatory use. In this review, helmet use was low, and head injuries were frequent. Consequently, it makes intuitive sense that injury prevention strategies include helmet use. While helmets do protect against head and facial injuries[48], they do not prevent injury to other areas of the body or reduce the overall risk of severe injury from a cycling crash.[49] Overlooking crash prevention strategies may result in failures to address important factors that contribute to bicyclerelated mortality and morbidity. For example, since a large portion of cycling fatalities result from collisions with motor vehicles, North American traffic safety officials may consider targeting prevention strategies at motorists as well as cyclists, or developing educational programs such as those

implemented in Europe, to teach courteous and safe road interactions between all types of road users.[50] Finally, based on these results, use of alcohol avoidance (e.g., educational campaigns), cycling during darkness (e.g., focus on cyclist conspicuity), weekend cycling activities (e.g., boulevard/road closures during weekends), and other factors should be considered when forming a comprehensive injury prevention strategy.

2.4.1 Strengths

This review fills a gap in the current evidence, as no comprehensive review of the factors involved in cycling fatalities in North America has been previously published. The large gaps in cycling fatality knowledge have been highlighted, giving direction for future research. Finally, pooled data provides stronger evidence for the association of previously indicated risk factors with cycling fatalities in North America.

2.4.2 Limitations

One of the main limitations of this review is the degree of heterogeneity among studies, which precludes, in most cases, the validity of the weighted proportions in the real world. As a scoping review, this study aimed to report on the status of the current literature, including commonly studied factors associated with cycling fatalities and presents the proportion of fatalities occurring alongside factors that are anecdotally reported in the literature to be associated with cycling fatalities. Absence of comparison groups in the majority of cycling fatality studies, however, made it impossible to determine which factors may be more strongly associated with fatalities compared with cycling injuries of other severities. This review is not able to measure the effect of any factor on cycling fatality risk, as very few studies included in this review were designed to examine etiology; however identifying causal relationships is not traditionally one of the objectives of a scoping review, nor was it a specific objective of this review.

2.5 CONCLUSIONS

Although many descriptive studies have been conducted on cycling fatalities, there are few studies examining the etiological nuances involved in cycling fatalities, especially compared to nonfatal injuries. Reporting of associated factors varies widely, but fatally injured cyclists are most often male and are involved in a collision with a motor vehicle. Overall, the evidence regarding cycling fatalities is limited and generally of low quality, and efforts to standardize them are warranted. Injury prevention strategies should target male cyclists, and future studies should focus on improved methods, including use of comparison groups and more detailed reporting of known or suspected risk factors.

2.6 REFERENCES

- Boone-Heinonen J, Jacobs DR, Jr., Sidney S, et al. A walk (or cycle) to the park: active transit to neighborhood amenities, the CARDIA study. *Am J Prev Med* 2009;37(4):285-92. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.06.006
- 2. Morris JN, Clayton DG, Everitt MG, et al. Exercise in leisure time: coronary attack and death rates. *Br Heart J* 1990;63(6):325-34.
- Wen LM, Rissel C. Inverse associations between cycling to work, public transport, and overweight and obesity: findings from a population based study in Australia. *Prev Med* 2008;46(1):29-32. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.08.009
- 4. Pucher J, Buehler R, Bassett DR, et al. Walking and cycling to health: a comparative analysis of city, state, and international data. *Am J Public Health* 2010;100(10):1986-92.
 doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.189324
- 5. Hoevenaar-Blom MP, Wendel-Vos GC, Spijkerman AM, et al. Cycling and sports, but not walking, are associated with 10-year cardiovascular disease incidence: the MORGEN Study. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil* 2011;18(1):41-7. doi:10.1097/HJR.0b013e32833bfc87
- 6. Oja P, Titze S, Bauman A, et al. Health benefits of cycling: a systematic review. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2011;21(4):496-509. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011.01299.x
- 7. Lindsay G, Macmillan A, Woodward A. Moving urban trips from cars to bicycles: impact on health and emissions. *Aust N Z J Public Health* 2011;35(1):54-60. doi:10.1111/j.1753-6405.2010.00621.x
- Pucher J, Dill J, Handy S. Infrastructure, programs, and policies to increase bicycling: an international review. *Prev Med* 2010;50 Suppl 1:S106-25. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2009.07.028
- 9. Schwartz HJ, Brison RJ. Bicycle-related injuries in children: a study in two Ontario emergency departments, 1994. *Chronic Dis Can* 1996;17(2):56-62.
- 10. Kelly KD, Lissel HL, Rowe BH, et al. Sport and recreation-related head injuries treated in the emergency department. *Clin J Sport Med* 2001;11(2):77-81.

- 11. Harris AW, Jones CA, Rowe BH, et al. A population-based study of sport and recreation-related head injuries treated in a Canadian health region. J Sci Med Sport 2012;15(4):298-304.
 doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2011.12.005
- 12. Canadian Motor Vehicle Traffic Collision Statistics 2013. In: Transport Canada, editor. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Minister of Public Works, 2015.
- Beck LF, Dellinger AM, O'Neil ME. Motor vehicle crash injury rates by mode of travel, United States: using exposure-based methods to quantify differences. *Am J Epidemiol* 2007;166(2):212-8. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm064
- 14. A Quick Look at Fatally Injured Vulnerable Road Users. In: Transport Canada, editor. Ottawa, ON:Office of the Minister of Public Works, 2010.
- 15. Miller TR, Zaloshnja E, Lawrence BA, et al. Pedestrian and pedalcyclist injury costs in the United States by age and injury severity. *Annu Proc Assoc Adv Automot Med* 2004;48:265-84.
- 16. Injury Facts. United States: National Safety Council,, 2012.
- 17. Macpherson AK, Macarthur C, To TM, et al. Economic disparity in bicycle helmet use by children six years after the introduction of legislation. *Inj Prev* 2006;12(4):231-5.
 doi:10.1136/ip.2005.011379
- Injuries associated with Bicycles: Canadian Hospitals Injury Reporting and Prevention Program (CHIRPP) database. In: Health Surveillance and Epidemiology Division (Public Health Agency of Canada), editor. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Minister of Health, 2006.
- 19. Mehan TJ, Gardner R, Smith GA, et al. Bicycle-related injuries among children and adolescents in the United States. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)* 2009;48(2):166-73. doi:10.1177/0009922808324952
- 20. Dellinger AM, Kresnow MJ. Bicycle helmet use among children in the United States: the effects of legislation, personal and household factors. *J Safety Res* 2010;41(4):375-80.
 doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2010.05.003

- 21. Karkhaneh M, Rowe BH, Saunders LD, et al. Bicycle helmet use four years after the introduction of helmet legislation in Alberta, Canada. *Accid Anal Prev* 2011;43(3):788-96.
 doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.026
- 22. Bergenstal J, Davis SM, Sikora R, et al. Pediatric bicycle injury prevention and the effect of helmet use: the West Virginia experience. *W V Med J* 2012;108(3):78-81.
- 23. Karkhaneh M, Rowe BH, Saunders LD, et al. Trends in head injuries associated with mandatory bicycle helmet legislation targeting children and adolescents. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;59:206-12.
- 24. Gaudet L, Arrotta N, Operke F, et al. Rates of severe injury and fatality resulting from bicycling in Canada and the United States. *PROSPERO*. York, UK: University of York, 2014.
- 25. Rowe BH, Rowe AM, Bota GW. Bicyclist and environmental factors associated with fatal bicyclerelated trauma in Ontario. *CMAJ* 1995;152(1):45-53.
- 26. Li G, Baker SP, Sterling S, et al. A comparative analysis of alcohol in fatal and nonfatal bicycling injuries. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 1996;20(9):1553-9.
- 27. Osberg JS, Stiles SC, Asare OK. Bicycle safety behavior in Paris and Boston. *Accid Anal Prev* 1998;30(5):679-87.
- 28. Buehler R. Transport Policies, Travel Behavior, and Sustainability: A Comparison of Germany and the U.S. Rutgers The State University of New Jersey New Brunswick, 2008.
- 29. Pucher J, Komanoff C, Schimek P. Bicycling renaissance in North America?: Recent trends and alternative policies to promote bicycling. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 1999;33(7–8):625-54. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0965-8564(99)00010-5</u>
- 30. Peden M. Global collaboration on road traffic injury prevention. *Int J Inj Contr Saf Promot* 2005;12(2):85-91. doi:10.1080/15660970500086130
- 31. Ameratunga S, Hijar M, Norton R. Road-traffic injuries: confronting disparities to address a globalhealth problem. *Lancet* 2006;367(9521):1533-40. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68654-6

- 32. Neyeloff JL, Fuchs SC, Moreira LB. Meta-analyses and Forest plots using a microsoft excel spreadsheet: step-by-step guide focusing on descriptive data analysis. BMC Res Notes 2012;5:52. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-5-52
- 33. Nicaj L, Stayton C, Mandel-Ricci J, et al. Bicyclist fatalities in New York City: 1996-2005. Traffic Inj Prev 2009;10(2):157-61. doi:10.1080/15389580802641761
- 34. Persaud N, Coleman E, Zwolakowski D, et al. Nonuse of bicycle helmets and risk of fatal head injury:
 a proportional mortality, case-control study. *CMAJ* 2012;184(17):E921-3.
 doi:10.1503/cmaj.120988
- 35. Ackery AD, McLellan BA, Redelmeier DA. Bicyclist deaths and striking vehicles in the USA. *Inj Prev* 2012;18(1):22-6. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2011-040066
- 36. Zhu M, Zhao S, Gurka KK, et al. Appalachian versus non-Appalachian U.S. traffic fatalities, 2008-2010. Ann Epidemiol 2013;23(6):377-80. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2013.04.001
- 37. Helmkamp JC, Aitken ME, Lawrence BA. ATV and bicycle deaths and associated costs in the United States, 2000-2005. *Public Health Rep* 2009;124(3):409-18.
- 38. Meehan WP, 3rd, Lee LK, Fischer CM, et al. Bicycle helmet laws are associated with a lower fatality rate from bicycle-motor vehicle collisions. *J Pediatr* 2013;163(3):726-9. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.03.073
- 39. Durkin MS, Laraque D, Lubman I, et al. Epidemiology and prevention of traffic injuries to urban children and adolescents. *Pediatrics* 1999;103(6):e74.
- 40. Gaudet L, Romanow NT, Nettel-Aguirre A, et al. The epidemiology of fatal cyclist crashes over a 14year period in Alberta, Canada. *BMC public health* 2015;15(1):1142. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2476-9
- 41. Cheng TL, Fields CB, Brenner RA, et al. Sports injuries: An important cause of morbidity in urban youth. District of Columbia Child/Adolescent Injury Research Network. *Pediatrics* 2000;105(3):E32.

- 42. Rodgers GB. Bicyclist deaths and fatality risk patterns. *Accid Anal Prev* 1995;27(2):215-23. doi:10.1016/0001-4575(94)00063-R
- 43. Kraus JF, Fife D, Conroy C. Incidence, severity, and outcomes of brain injuries involving bicycles. *Am J Public Health* 1987;77(1):76-8.
- 44. Ni H. Evaluation of the Oregon Bicycle Helmet Use Law on Bicycle Helmet Usage and Bicycle-Related Head Injuries. Oregon State University, 1996.
- 45. Teschke K, Brubacher JR, Friedman SM, et al. Personal and trip characteristics associated with safety equipment use by injured adult bicyclists: a cross-sectional study. *BMC public health* 2012;12:765. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-765
- 46. Garrard J, Rose G, Lo SK. Promoting transportation cycling for women: the role of bicycle infrastructure. *Prev Med* 2008;46(1):55-9. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.07.010
- 47. Teschke K, Harris MA, Reynolds CC, et al. Route infrastructure and the risk of injuries to bicyclists: a case-crossover study. *Am J Public Health* 2012;102(12):2336-43. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300762
- 48. Thompson DC, Rivara FP, Thompson R. Helmets for preventing head and facial injuries in bicyclists. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2000(2):CD001855.
- 49. Rivara FP, Thompson DC, Thompson RS. Epidemiology of bicycle injuries and risk factors for serious injury. 1997. *Inj Prev* 2015;21(1):47-51. doi:10.1136/injprev-00002-0038rep
- 50. Pucher J, Buehler R. Making Cycling Irresistible: Lessons from The Netherlands, Denmark and Germany. *Transport Rev* 2008;28(4):495-528. doi:10.1080/01441640701806612

TABLE 2.1 CHARACTERISTICS OF 25 STUDIES REPORTING ON CYCLING FATALITIES IN NORTH AMERICA

First author, year	Publication status	Design	Injury Type	No. deaths	Study Period	Region, Country	Pop.	Source(s) of Fatality Data [*]	Mechanism Coding
Ackery, 2012	Article	Case-Control	Fatal	711	2008	USA	Mixed	FARS [‡]	Motor- Vehicle/Bicycle
Beck, 2007	Article	Ecologic	Fatal	695	1999- 2003	USA	Mixed	FARS	Motor- Vehicle/Bicycle
Cheng, 2000	Article	Descriptive	Fatal and Nonfatal	0	1996- 1998	DC, USA	Children	OCME [#] of the District of Columbia, Department of Vital Statistics	Not Reported
Durkin, 1999	Article	Before/After	Fatal and Nonfatal	0	1983- 1999	NY, USA	Children	Northern Manhattan Injury Surveillance System	Not Reported
Eichelberger, 2013	Conference paper	Descriptive	Fatal	2907	2007- 2011	USA	Adult	FARS	Motor- Vehicle/Bicycle
Fife, 1983	Article	Descriptive	Fatal	173	1956- 1979	FL, USA	Mixed	Autopsy Records	Motor-vehicle involvement
Frank, 1995	Article	Descriptive	Fatal and Nonfatal	15	1989	OR, USA	Mixed	Oregon Injury Registry	Not Reported
Hawley, 1995	Article	Descriptive	Fatal	36	1984- 1993	IN, USA	Mixed	Autopsy Records	Struck by Motor Vehicle
Helmkamp, 2009	Article	Descriptive/ Cost Analysis	Fatal	4924	2000- 2005	USA	Mixed	NCHSMCD ^{II}	Not Reported
Kraus, 1987	Article	Descriptive	Fatal and Nonfatal Brain injury	5	1981	CA, USA	Mixed	Coroner's reports, death certificates	Not Reported
Li, 1994	Article	Descriptive	Fatal	2694	1987- 1991	USA	Adult	FARS	Motor- Vehicle/Bicycle
Li, 1996	Article	Case-Control	Fatal and Nonfatal	63	1985- 1997	ME, USA	Mixed	OCME of Maryland, Shock Trauma Center database	Not Reported
Gaudet, 2015	Abstract	Descriptive	Fatal	101	1998- 2011	AB, Canada	Mixed	OCME of Alberta	Mid-block ride out, Cyclist inattention, Driver inattention
Meehan, 2013	Article	Cross- sectional/ Multi-level	Fatal	1612	1999- 2010	USA	Mixed	FARS	Bicycle-Motor vehicle

Miller, 2004	Conference Paper	Descriptive/ Cost Analysis	Fatal and Nonfatal	866	2000	USA	Mixed	National Vital Statistics System fatality census, FARS	Bicycle-Motor vehicle
Ni, 1996	Dissertation	Descriptive	Fatal and Nonfatal	62	1989- 1995	OR, USA	Children	Oregon Trauma Registry	Not Reported
Nicaj, 2009	Article, Government Report	Descriptive	Fatal	225	1996- 2005	NY, USA	Mixed	New York (NY) Police Department, NY Department of Transport, NY Vital Statistics, OCME of NY	Crash with moving motor vehicle, Bicycle-only, crash with parked Motor vehicle
Persaud, 2012	Article, Government Report	Case- control/ Descriptive	Fatal	129	2006- 2010	ON, Canada	Mixed	OCME of Ontario	bicycle-motor vehicle collision
Rodgers, 1995	Article	Descriptive	Fatal	917	1991	USA	Mixed	NCHSMCD and $FARS^{\dagger}$	Motor vehicle traffic- related
Rowe, 1995	Article	Descriptive	Fatal	212	1986- 1991	ON, Canada	Mixed	OCME of Ontario	Mid-block ride out, Cyclist inattention, Driver inattention
Sosin, 1996	Article	Descriptive	Fatal and Nonfatal Head Injuries	1278	1989- 1992	USA	Children	NCHSMCD	Collision with motor vehicles on public streets
Spence, 1993	Article	Descriptive	Fatal	81	1985- 1989	ON, Canada	Children	OCME of Ontario	Collision with Motor Vehicle
Stimpson, 2013	Article	Descriptive	Fatal	394	2005- 2010	USA	Mixed	FARS	Struck by Distracted Driver
Zavoski, 1995	Article	Descriptive	Fatal and Nonfatal	49	1987- 1992	CT, USA	Mixed	Death certificates	Motor-vehicle involvement
Zhu, 2013	Article	Cohort	Fatal	1964	2008- 2010	USA	Mixed	FARS	Motor- Vehicle/Bicycle

*Sources used to collect data on nonfatal injuries that may be included in each study are not listed.

[†]Data from NCHSMCD was used for meta-analysis

^{*}FARS = National Highway Traffic Safety Administration Fatality Analysis and Reporting System

[#]OCME = Office of the Chief Medical Examiner

^INCHSMCD = National Center for Health Statistics Multiple Cause of Death data file

Author, year of publication	Adult Cut-off Age	Definition of "Darkness"	Definition of "Weekend"
Ackery, 2012	Not Reported	8:00 PM-8:00 AM	Not reported
Beck, 2007	15 [*]		
Cheng, 2000	16	-	-
Durkin, 1999	17	-	-
Eichelberger, 2013	16	9:00 PM – 6:00 AM	Saturday-Sunday
Fife, 1983	17	6:00 PM -6:00 AM	-
Frank, 1995	21	-	-
Hawley, 1995	16	-	-
Helmkamp, 2009	16	-	-
Kraus, 1987	Not Reported	-	-
Li, 1994	15	Not Reported	Saturday-Sunday
Li, 1996	20	7:00 PM to 6:59 AM	Saturday-Sunday
Lovstrom, 2013	20	6:00 PM to 6:00 AM	Saturday-Sunday
Meehan, 2013	16	-	-
Miller, 2004	20	-	-
Ni, 1996	16	-	-
Nicaj, 2009	18	-	-
Persaud, 2012	20	8:01 PM - 6:00 AM	-
Rodgers, 1995	16	"Dark"	-
Rowe, 1995	20	8:00 PM t to 8:00 AM	4:00 PM Friday to 8:00 AM Monday
Sosin, 1996	20	-	-
Spence, 1993	16		-
Stimpson, 2013	25	6 PM – 5:59AM	-
Zavoski, 1995	20	Not Reported	-
Zhu, 2013	Not Reported	-	-
[*] Did not report age-specific	cycling fatality data		

TABLE 2.2 STUDY DEFINITIONS FROM 25 STUDIES REPORTING CYCLING FATALITIES IN NORTH AMERICA

Variable	No. Studies	Sample size n	Median Proportion % (IQR)	Range
Male sex	16	13631	85.8 (80.5, 88.1)	69.1, 100
Adult ages [*]	15	10093	66.7 (53.2, 80.8)	30.9, 85.3
MVCC [†]	12	4096	90.5 (79.8, 92.3)	68.3, 100
Darkness	12	8607	37.8 (28.8, 45.6)	12.0, 56.5
Alcohol use [‡]	11	6636	24.8 (11.4, 29.5)	0, 33.3
Helmet use [#]	9	1035	3.0 (0.0,17.0)	0, 26.4
Head Injury	9	1872	69.4 (55.0, 75.0)	45.3, 86.1
Urban location	7	8225	70.7 (64.1, 80.9)	54.8, 94.4
Weekend	6	6688	32.0 (28.8, 37.4)	28.0, 46.0

TABLE 2.3 FACTORS REPORTED IN 25 STUDIES REPORTING NORTH AMERICAN BICYCLE FATALITIES

^{*}Mixed population studies only

⁺ MVCC = Motor vehicle-cyclist collision; data from studies using only data from the Fatality Analysis

Reporting System, which only reports cycling-crashes that involve motor vehicles, was excluded.

⁺Excludes one study (n=36 cyclists) that reported that all cyclists had a negative toxicology screen.

[#]Excludes four studies (n=305 cyclists) that reported that zero cyclists had been wearing a helmet.



FIGURE 2.1 PRISMA FLOW CHART OF SCOPING REVIEW SEARCH RESULTS

FIGURE 2.2 WEIGHTED PROPORTIONS OF FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH CYCLING FATALITIES

IN NORTH AMERICA



Chapter 3 Systematic Review of Severe and Fatal Cycling Injuries in Adults Compared with Children

3.1 BACKGROUND

The health and environmental benefits of bicycle riding, a popular recreational activity, are well documented, [1-4] and many North American governments are currently implementing development plans and policies to encourage cycling in their communities. [5] Cycling is not, however, without risk; collision with the ground or objects in the environment, including a moving or stationary motor vehicle, and subsequent injuries are ultimately the result of one or more environmental (e.g., road conditions, weather), mechanical (e.g., brake failure, a flat tire, etc.) or behavioural (of both cyclists and motorists) causes, most of which are preventable. Injuries from bicycle crashes are one of the most common sports and recreation injuries presenting to North American emergency departments (ED) and can range in severity from minor to severe. [6-9] Fatal cycling injuries, while uncommon, have larger per-event and total annual costs to the health-care system than non-fatal injuries, [10, 11] and contribute to the perception of cycling as a dangerous activity which is one barrier to increasing participation. [12] Given the lack of protection and the energy transfer, injuries from crashes are common and can be serious; therefore, a large uptake of regular cycling could have substantive public health implications.

While it may be ideal to implement multiple concurrent injury prevention interventions to maximize the safety of cycling in North America, most stakeholders interested in injury prevention have limited resources to allocate to this issue, so identification of the most important factors associated with bicycle injuries will help policy- and decision-makers focus on interventions for the types of injuries or road users are a priority for each organization. Studies of sports and recreation injuries report that incidence rates differ across age groups.[13, 14] These differences may be due to variation in the incidence or level of exposure of associated risk factors. While there is previous evidence that some

factors, such as alcohol use[15] and cycling location (on-road vs. non-road),[16] may differ with age, few studies of cycling injuries have directly compared these factors in both adults and children. Age-based injury occurrence data could be used by organizations and regional governments invested in preventing bicycle injuries to tailor injury prevention strategies based on age.

Although there have been several studies of severe non-fatal and fatal cycling-related injuries in North America, [17-23] there has been no comprehensive review comparing the epidemiology of severe and fatal cycling injuries between adults and children. This systematic review aims to compare the proportion of fatalities between severely injured adult and pediatric cyclists in North America.

3.2 METHODS

3.2.1 Objectives

This review aimed to compare the proportion of deaths among severe cycling injuries in children compared with adults in North America and describe the factors reported to be associated with injury in each group.

3.2.2 Outcome of Interest

The primary outcome of interest was the proportion of severe bicycle injuries that were fatal and the comparison of fatal events between children and adults. For this review, "severe injury" was defined by the authors of each study or, when a definition was not provided, by either: an Injury Severity Score (ISS) \geq 12 or an injury that required hospitalization. Secondary outcomes included the proportion of cyclists in each study who were reported to be wearing a helmet, who were reported to have consumed alcohol prior to being injured/killed, who sustained a head injury, who sustained trunk (thoracic, abdominal, or spinal) injury, who were injured/killed in crashes that occurred at night or on the weekend, at urban and rural locations, and the mechanism of the crash (e.g., motor vehicle-cyclist crash, cyclist-only crash/fall).

3.2.3 Study Eligibility Criteria

To be included in the review, studies must have reported on both severe and fatal cycling injuries using comprehensive data from ED/hospital enrolments, medical records, trauma registries, or medical examiner's/coroner's documentation. Studies had to report on fatalities and in the case of reporting that no fatalities occurred, provide evidence of a comprehensive search for fatal events. Studies focusing strictly on fatalities were not included. While some cycling injury studies use police reports as their primary source of data, police data may notably under-report the occurrence of cycling as often authors only reported on bicyclist crashes involving a motor vehicle.[24, 25] In addition, police data does not reliably report injury severity in non-fatal cases.[26] Therefore, only studies using medical records to determine injury severity were included in this review. To ensure that included studies met this criterion, only primary reports of research that sufficiently described the data sources and methods of the study were included.

Studies of overuse or repetitive-stress injuries were excluded. Cyclists engaged in competitive or recreational cycling races encounter different circumstances than the average cyclist (e.g., many cyclists riding close together at very high speeds); therefore, studies of injuries occurring during organized cycling events were excluded. Mountain biking, BMX biking, trick-biking, and competitive road cycling are unlikely to be impacted by policies intended to increase day-to-day cycling and were also excluded.

Due to social and geographic differences, cycling differs significantly between developed and developing nations, and also between North America and Europe;[27] therefore, studies using data from countries other than Canada and/or the United States were not included. Studies were not excluded by publication status, year of publication, or language.

3.2.4 Data Sources and Search strategy

The search strategy was developed in consultation with medical librarians and carried out on October 26, 2015 by LG. Five databases were searched: Medline and EMBASE, Sports Discus, Transportation Research Information System (TRIS), and SCOPUS. In addition, PROquest Theses and Dissertations and Google Scholar were searched for relevant grey literature, and a web-based search for non-indexed research on bicycle injuries was also conducted. Search terms included bicycle, bicycles, cycling, bicycled, bicyclist, bicyclists, cyclist, cyclists, injury, injuries, injured, trauma, traumatic, wound, wounds, wounded, morbidity, mortality, fatal, fatality, fatalities, dead, dies, died, deaths, Canada, Canadian, United States, American, North America. A detailed example of the systematic search strategy can be found in Appendix A.

References of included studies were hand searched for relevant articles. The previous three years (2011-2014) of the journals *Academic Emergency Medicine, Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine, Annals of Emergency Medicine* and *Injury Prevention* were hand-searched for relevant articles, and the proceedings from the annual meetings of the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine, the Canadian Association for Emergency Physicians, the American College of Emergency Physicians and the World Conference on Injury Control and Prevention were also reviewed for relevant abstracts. Hand searching involved scanning the index of each issue for articles indexed under bicycle, injuries (bicycle), or cyclist(s).

3.2.5 Data Collection

Data were abstracted independently and in duplicate from included studies by two of the trained researchers (LG, NA, CA) onto standardized forms. Data extraction was piloted on five typical studies and any disagreements were discussed and resolved by consensus. During the initial round of validation, the inclusion criteria were updated to better reflect the objectives of the review. A second round of validation, with discrepancies being resolved by discussion and consensus, was done before data was extracted from the rest of the included studies, and any remaining discrepancies were resolved

through discussion. In cases where data of interest was potentially collected but not reported in the publication, three attempts to contact the study authors were made.

The following data were extracted, where available: country of first author, publication year, country and region where the study was conducted, study period, number of male cyclists, number of patients with a head injury, number of patients with a torso (thoracic, abdominal, or spinal) injury, number of cyclists injured or killed by location (rural vs. urban), by mechanism of injury (i.e., involvement of motor vehicle, cyclist-only crash, fall from bicycle, etc.), by time of crash (at night or on the weekend). The definitions of injury severity, mechanism (motor vehicle-cyclist collision [MVCC], cyclist-only, mid-block ride-out, etc.), "urban," and "weekend" used by each study were also carefully documented. Presence of mandatory helmet legislation (MHL) during the study period (for regional studies only) was obtained from relevant government websites.

3.2.6 Quality Assessment

Overall quality of included studies was assessed using an amended version of the Effective Public Health Practice Project (EPHPP) assessment tool,[28] which has high overall inter-reviewer reliability and moderate validity for assessment of quantitative studies.[29] Studies were assessed independently by two trained reviewers (LG, SK); assessment was piloted on five sample studies; disagreements were discussed and resolved by consensus.

3.2.7 Analysis

High levels of heterogeneity were expected; therefore, further analyses are predominantly descriptive. To avoid Simpson's paradox, a type of confounding that causes apparent reversal of an effect when data across studies are aggregated without weighting,[30] counts and categorical variables are reported as weighted proportions with 95% confidence intervals (CI) and were calculated using the Microsoft Excel tool developed by Neyeloff *et al.* for meta-analysis of non-comparative studies.[31]

Where ordinal variables (i.e., ISS) were reported as three or more categories, the mean was estimated by weighting the midpoint of each category by the number of patients in each category. Continuous variables are reported as the median of the medians and interquartile ranges or as a weighted mean and 95% CI, as appropriate, and were calculated using STATA Statistical Software Release 12.0 (Stata Corporation; College Station, TX, USA).

Data from mixed-population studies were used to calculate the odds ratio of fatal to nonfatal severe injury in children compared with adults using a random effects model in Review Manager Version 5.3 (Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014).

3.3 RESULTS

3.3.1 Search Results

Results of the search strategy are presented in Figure 3.1. The comprehensive database searches returned 2925 results, of which 418 were duplicates. The titles and abstracts of the remaining 2507 articles were screened for relevance; ultimately, the full texts of 142 articles from the systematic search and eleven reports from the grey literature were reviewed. Overall, 46 unique studies met the inclusion criteria; of these 27 had sufficient data to be included in the analysis.

3.3.2 Description of Included studies

Descriptive characteristics of the included studies are presented in Table 3.1. Thirteen studies limited their study population to children and/or adolescents, ten studies included cyclists of all ages, and four studies were limited to adults. Two of the pediatric studies[32, 33] and one mixed-population study[34] reported that there were no pediatric fatalities. These studies have still been included because Cheng *et al.* and Durkin *et al.* made attempts to identify pre-hospital deaths by accessing the District of Columbia Office of the Chief Medical examiner and Vital Statistics data, and New York state death certificate data, respectively, and Thompson *et al.* reported adult fatalities.[32, 33] Twenty studies used
data from American samples, six studies used data from Canada, and one study reported using data from both the US and Canadian samples. Ten studies used national-level databases and 17 examined regional samples including: Alberta (n=1), British Columbia (n=2), California (n=1), Connecticut (n=1), District of Columbia (n=1), Florida (n=2), Massachusetts (n=1), Maryland (n=1), New York (n=1), Ohio (n=1), Ontario (n=2), Oregon (n=1), and Washington (n=2).

Most studies (n=16) were descriptive in design; six studies used a cohort design, three were case-control studies, and there was one ecologic trend analysis and one descriptive cost analysis included. Studies ranged in duration from one to sixteen years with a median of five years (IQR 2.6-9.1). The median publication year was 2001 (IQR: 1997-2008). Overall, data from the years 1983 to 2009 were used. All but one of the included studies were published as one or more peer-reviewed journal articles; Miller *et al.* was published as a conference paper.[10]

3.3.3 Study Definitions

The most frequent definition used for severe injury was "requires admission to hospital" (Table 3.2, n=17). Other definitions of severe injury included: admitted to trauma center;[35, 36] admitted to hospital for head injury;[37] admitted to hospital for \geq 3 days;[23] injury severity score (ISS) \geq 9;[38, 39] ISS \geq 10;[40] ISS \geq 16;[41] brain injury with acute injury score \geq 3;[34] and designated trauma alert status.[42] Few studies reported whether injury occurred during the weekend (n=2) or at night (n=2), and no study included in this review reported on inclement weather or occurrence in urban vs. rural areas.

The terminology used to define the mechanisms of injury was not consistent. Most frequently, mechanisms were loosely defined by involvement of a motor vehicle, collision with an object other than a motor vehicle (i.e., collision with the ground, collision with another bicycle, collision with a pedestrian, etc.), or fall from the bicycle. Examples of other mechanism categories that were used included: loss of

control; unsafe riding practices; travelling at high speeds; fall during tricks/stunts; attempt to avoid person, animal or object; mechanical/equipment failure; "poor conditions"; etc. (Table 3.2). Ten studies did not describe the mechanisms of injury.

Age category definitions varied among studies and are presented in Table 3.2. The median cutoff age between children and adults was \geq 17 years old (IQR 14-19, range: 14-20). The adolescent age group was identified in nine studies, two of which reported zero fatalities in the adolescent age group.[32, 43] The age boundaries for the adolescent age group varied widely by study, but generally referred to teenaged cyclists between the ages of 15 and 19 (Table 3.2). Data on cycling injuries in older adults was available from six studies, which defined "older adults" as cyclists \geq 60 (n=1), \geq 65 (n=3), \geq 66 (n=2), or \geq 71 (n=1) years old (Table 3.2).

3.3.4 Quality of included studies

Included studies were generally of low quality. No included studies received a "strong" global rating using the EPHPP quality assessment tool, and two thirds of the included studies were rated as "weak" (n=18; Table 3.5). The majority of studies were at either low (n=14) or moderate (n=12) risk of selection bias. Most studies (n=23) were rated "strong" for blinding because they were retrospective studies the included patients or clinicians would not have been aware of the study hypothesis and the assessors' knowledge of a patient's exposure or outcome status would not likely bias the results of a descriptive study. The presence and control of confounding was generally poorly reported, and 16 studies scored "weak" in that section of the EPHPP quality assessment tool. Similarly, 19 studies were not able to show that their data collection tools were valid. Twenty-three of 27 received a "moderate rating" for reporting of their withdrawal/dropout rates.

Severe and Fatal Bicycle Injuries by Age Group

The weighted proportions of fatalities among severely injured cyclists by age group are presented in Table 3.3. The weight proportion among children was 3.01% (95% CI: 2.27 - 3.76; $I^2 = 98.2$). Data on adolescents were available from nine studies, two of which reported there were no fatalities during their respective study periods. From the remaining seven studies, the proportion of fatalities among adolescents was 2.5% (95% CI: 1.1-3.9; $I^2 = 95.6$). Mean ISS was reported by three pediatric studies and was estimated for two others; the weighted mean ISS for these five studies was 11.04 (95% CI: 10.99-11.09).

Fourteen studies reported on adult injuries and fatalities. The weighted proportion of fatalities among severely injured adult cyclists was 7.1% (95% CI: 5.6-8.7; I^2 =98.8). Data on older adults were available from seven studies; the weighted proportion of fatalities among these studies was 14.2% (95% CI: 9.4-19.0; I^2 = 95.7). Mean ISS was reported for adults by studies and was estimated for one other study; the weighted mean ISS for adults was 15.49 (95% CI: 15.48 – 15.51). One study reported median ISS among adults to be 17 (IQR 16-25).[18] The high level of heterogeneity precluded further pooling, except to identify sources of the heterogeneity.

3.3.5 Factors Associated with Severe and Fatal Bicycle Injuries

The median proportions and number of studies (by age group) reporting on factors indicted in cycling injuries are listed in Table 3.4. Most included cyclists were male, there was low reported helmet usage, and generally large proportions of both children and adults suffered head injury. The median proportion of adult cycling injuries with motor vehicle involvement was substantially higher than children. Alcohol use and crash during darkness were reported by more studies for adults than for children. None of the included studies reported occurrence of cycling crash location (urban vs. rural, on-street vs. off-street) by age group.

To confirm these findings, data from mixed population studies were compared in a sensitivity analysis to determine the weighted odds ratio of death among severely injured cyclists in children compared to adults using a random effects model. Children were at significantly lower odds of death compared to adults (OR = 0.54, 95% CI: 0.41-0.72; Figure 2). Due to an insufficient number of comparative studies, a funnel plot was not produced.[44]

3.3.6 Potential Sources of Heterogeneity

The overwhelming heterogeneity led to a *post hoc* exploratory analysis to attempt to identify some of the factors contributing to the differences in studies. Several potential sources of heterogeneity were considered, including: composition of study population (pediatric vs adult vs mixed); study design (etiologic vs. descriptive); study quality; data source for determining deaths (medical examiner/vital statistics vs. hospital-based trauma registry or enrolment); national vs. regional studies; geographic region; and year of publication.

Heterogeneity was notably reduced by stratifying by country of the study population, with lower heterogeneity observed in studies using Canadian samples for children (I²=26.5). Presence of MHL during all or part of the study period eliminated heterogeneity among studies conducted on populations subject to MHL and using pediatric data (I²=0). No included studies had MHL in place for adults during their study period; although previous studies have shown that the presence of MHL for children may also increase adult helmet use,[45] stratifying adult studies by presence of MHL did not reduce the I² among included studies. Pediatric studies with MHL present during the study period had a significantly lower weighted proportion of fatalities (1.47% vs. 3.0%), compared to all pediatric studies.

3.4 DISCUSSION

The present study is the first systematic review of severe and fatal cycling injuries in North America including children and adults. Although a large number of studies met the inclusion criteria,

only two-thirds were able to be included in the analysis due to lack of available data. Of the 29 studies included in the analysis, most were descriptive studies. Generally, adults had a higher proportion of fatalities than children. Reporting of associated factors was inconsistent, and reporting of factors other than sex and occurrence of head injury was rare. Overall, the quality of included studies was low, and heterogeneity precluded pooled analysis for secondary outcomes.

To-date, only one other systematic review on cycling injuries and no reviews on cycling fatalities have been published. Macpherson *et al.* focused their review on the effectiveness of MHL at increasing helmet use and reducing head injuries.[46] Additionally, few studies have examined differences in cycling injuries between adults and children as their primary focus,[47] and none in North America. In fact, many studies of cycling injuries appear to be conducted on one specific age group. The agespecificity of cycling injury studies implies that there are differences among age groups; however, few studies have examined these differences directly.[39, 47]

High levels of heterogeneity were observed in the current review; however, that the 95% CI for the pooled weight proportions for children and adults do not overlap suggests that severely-injured adults suffer a higher proportion of fatalities than children or adolescents. Additionally, the 95% CI for the estimate for adults and older adults also did not overlap, suggesting that older adults who sustain severe injuries while cycling are at the highest risk of a fatal outcome compared to all other ages. The lack of studies providing "strong" evidence is unsurprising and is related to both the EPHPP quality assessment tool, for which only randomized trials can receive a "strong" rating for study design, and the variables of interest in this review (age and proportion of fatalities), neither of which can be randomized.

Although the level of heterogeneity present among studies precluded pooling of data, when the proportions of deceased children vs. adults reported by mixed population studies were compared,

children had significantly lower odds of dying compared with adults. Two studies had a higher proportion of pediatric fatalities compared with adults; both were regional studies with a comparatively small sample and the odds ratio for fatalities in children compared with adults was not statistically significant. In all of the studies for which the odds ratios were statistically significantly, adults were at greater odds of dying. The reports of zero pediatric cycling fatalities by several included studies also indicates that children may be less likely than adults to sustain fatal cycling injuries, and suggests that the estimate for the proportion of pediatric cycling fatalities reported here may be biased upwards, as studies without occurrence of the event were not able to be included in the pooled analyses. While children may be at more risk of a cycling injury of any severity due to lack of coordination and cycling experience,[48] previous studies have shown that adults typically suffer from more severe injuries[25] and may be exposed to more factors associated with increased severity such as exposure to motor vehicle traffic (i.e., cycling on the road), consumption of alcohol prior to cycling, and cycling in the dark.[15, 16, 35]

An additional observation from this systematic review is the high proportion of fatality among severely injured older adult cyclists. There is recent evidence that the burden of injury may be shifting to older cyclists.[49] Older cyclists may be more physically susceptible to serious injury than younger cyclists and thus more likely to succumb to their injuries if they are involved in a serious cycling collision or they may be involved in serious cycling collisions more frequently than cyclists in other age groups due to reduced vision, hearing, and reflexes.[50]

High heterogeneity precluded pooling of data for more concrete results; however high heterogeneity is in itself is an important finding. Potential sources of heterogeneity included: study design (etiologic vs. descriptive); study population (pediatric vs adult vs mixed); injury focus (head injury vs. non-head injury); geographic region; and year of publication. Geographic region and year of

publication of included studies may be linked to helmet use, as regions where MHL has been implemented may have had higher rates of helmet use.[46] Unfortunately, helmet use was not always documented by studies included in this review, but has been shown to decrease severe head injuries.[51] It is well documented that cycling culture differs significantly between North America and Europe, but it may be that cycling culture and environment also differ among cities/regions across North America. Cycling injury prevention strategies may need to be tailored to the specific cycling market in which they are being implemented in order to be successful.

3.3.1 Limitations

A large proportion of studies which met the inclusion criteria for this review were unable to be included due to a lack of available data (19/48). Poor reporting in the individual manuscripts was common and problematic. In addition, the broad scope of the review resulted in few inclusion criteria. The high levels of heterogeneity present in this study have been discussed at some length; the heterogeneity makes drawing conclusions about the point estimates for the proportion of fatal injuries potentially biased, but analyses provided other evidence to support the primary conclusion of this review: that adults bear a higher burden of injury from cycling fatalities than children, based on the proportion of fatalities among severely injured cyclists. Finally, the quality of included studies was generally low; however, the majority of included studies used the same definition for severe injury, and death is not likely to be over-reported.

3.5 CONCLUSIONS

Despite high economic and social costs of cycling fatalities,[10, 11] studies of severe and fatal cycling injury events provide only weak evidence and have inconsistent reporting of results. In cases of severe injury, adults appear to have a higher burden of fatality than children, and older adults (≥60 years old) had the highest fatality burden. Future studies should standardize definitions and reporting. Study

of cycling injuries and fatalities at a regional level may provide stronger evidence for policy- and decision-makers, as injury interventions can then be tailored to fit the local cycling culture (e.g. focus on recreational vs. utilitarian cyclists) and environment.

3.6 REFERENCES

- 1. Lindsay G, Macmillan A, Woodward A. Moving urban trips from cars to bicycles: impact on health and emissions. *Aust N Z J Public Health* 2011;35(1):54-60. doi:10.1111/j.1753-6405.2010.00621.x
- 2. Oja P, Titze S, Bauman A, et al. Health benefits of cycling: a systematic review. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2011;21(4):496-509. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011.01299.x
- Boone-Heinonen J, Jacobs DR, Jr., Sidney S, et al. A walk (or cycle) to the park: active transit to neighborhood amenities, the CARDIA study. *Am J Prev Med* 2009;37(4):285-92. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.06.006
- 4. Pucher J, Buehler R, Bassett DR, et al. Walking and cycling to health: a comparative analysis of city, state, and international data. *Am J Public Health* 2010;100(10):1986-92.
 doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.189324
- 5. Pucher J, Dill J, Handy S. Infrastructure, programs, and policies to increase bicycling: an international review. *Prev Med* 2010;50 Suppl 1:S106-25. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2009.07.028
- 6. Finch C, Valuri G, Ozanne-Smith J. Sport and active recreation injuries in Australia: evidence from emergency department presentations. *Br J Sports Med* 1998;32(3):220-5.
- 7. Harris AW, Jones CA, Rowe BH, et al. A population-based study of sport and recreation-related head injuries treated in a Canadian health region. J Sci Med Sport 2012;15(4):298-304. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2011.12.005
- 8. Kelly KD, Lissel HL, Rowe BH, et al. Sport and recreation-related head injuries treated in the emergency department. *Clin J Sport Med* 2001;11(2):77-81.
- 9. Schwartz HJ, Brison RJ. Bicycle-related injuries in children: a study in two Ontario emergency departments, 1994. *Chronic Dis Can* 1996;17(2):56-62.
- 10. Miller TR, Zaloshnja E, Lawrence BA, et al. Pedestrian and pedalcyclist injury costs in the United States by age and injury severity. *Annu Proc Assoc Adv Automot Med* 2004;48:265-84.

- Naumann RB, Dellinger AM, Zaloshnja E, et al. Incidence and total lifetime costs of motor vehiclerelated fatal and nonfatal injury by road user type, United States, 2005. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2010;11(4):353-60. doi:10.1080/15389588.2010.486429
- 12. Winters M, Teschke K. Route preferences among adults in the near market for bicycling: findings of the cycling in cities study. *Am J Health Promot* 2010;25(1):40-7. doi:10.4278/ajhp.081006-QUAN-236
- Coronado VG, Haileyesus T, Cheng TA, et al. Trends in Sports- and Recreation-Related Traumatic Brain Injuries Treated in US Emergency Departments: The National Electronic Injury Surveillance System-All Injury Program (NEISS-AIP) 2001-2012. J Head Trauma Rehabil 2015;30(3):185-97. doi:10.1097/HTR.00000000000156
- 14. Corra S, Girardi P, de Giorgi F, et al. Severe and polytraumatic injuries among recreational skiers and snowboarders: incidence, demographics and injury patterns in South Tyrol. *Eur J Emerg Med* 2012;19(2):69-72. doi:10.1097/MEJ.0b013e328347c1e9
- 15. Twisk DA, Reurings M. An epidemiological study of the risk of cycling in the dark: the role of visual perception, conspicuity and alcohol use. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;60:134-40. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.08.015
- 16. Stutts JC, Hunter WW. Motor vehicle and roadway factors in pedestrian and bicyclist injuries: an examination based on emergency department data. *Accid Anal Prev* 1999;31(5):505-14.
- 17. Hagel BE, Romanow NT, Enns N, et al. Severe bicycling injury risk factors in children and adolescents: A case-control study. *Accid Anal Prev* 2015;78:165-72. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2015.03.002
- Roberts DJ, Ouellet JF, Sutherland FR, et al. Severe street and mountain bicycling injuries in adults: a comparison of the incidence, risk factors and injury patterns over 14 years. *Can J Surg* 2013;56(3):E32-8. doi:10.1503/cjs.027411
- 19. Hamann C, Peek-Asa C. On-road bicycle facilities and bicycle crashes in Iowa, 2007-2010. Accid Anal Prev 2013;56:103-9. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2012.12.031
- 20. Mehan TJ, Gardner R, Smith GA, et al. Bicycle-related injuries among children and adolescents in the United States. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)* 2009;48(2):166-73. doi:10.1177/0009922808324952

- 21. Kim JK, Kim S, Ulfarsson GF, et al. Bicyclist injury severities in bicycle-motor vehicle accidents. *Accid Anal Prev* 2007;39(2):238-51. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2006.07.002
- 22. Meuleners LB, Lee AH, Haworth C. Emergency presentations by vulnerable road users: implications for injury prevention. *Inj Prev* 2006;12(1):12-4. doi:10.1136/ip.2005.010389
- 23. Konkin DE, Garraway N, Hameed SM, et al. Population-based analysis of severe injuries from nonmotorized wheeled vehicles. *Am J Surg* 2006;191(5):615-8. doi:10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.02.012
- 24. Dhillon PK, Lightstone AS, Peek-Asa C, et al. Assessment of hospital and police ascertainment of automobile versus childhood pedestrian and bicyclist collisions. *Accid Anal Prev* 2001;33(4):529-37.
- 25. Stutts JC, Williamson JE, Whitley T, et al. Bicycle accidents and injuries: a pilot study comparing hospital- and police-reported data. *Accid Anal Prev* 1990;22(1):67-78.
- 26. Agran PF, Castillo DN, Winn DG. Limitations of data compiled from police reports on pediatric pedestrian and bicycle motor vehicle events. *Accid Anal Prev* 1990;22(4):361-70.
- 27. Pucher J, Buehler R. Making Cycling Irresistible: Lessons from The Netherlands, Denmark and Germany. *Transport Rev* 2008;28(4):495-528. doi:10.1080/01441640701806612
- 28. Effective Public Health Practice Project. QUALITY ASSESSMENT TOOL FOR QUANTITATIVE STUDIES: Effective Public Health Practice Project, 2009.
- 29. Armijo-Olivo S, Stiles CR, Hagen NA, et al. Assessment of study quality for systematic reviews: a comparison of the Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias Tool and the Effective Public Health Practice Project Quality Assessment Tool: methodological research. *J Eval Clin Pract* 2012;18(1):12-8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2753.2010.01516.x
- 30. Simpson EH. The Interpretation of Interaction in Contingency Tables. *J Roy Stat Soc B Met* 1951;13(2):238-41.

- 31. Neyeloff JL, Fuchs SC, Moreira LB. Meta-analyses and Forest plots using a microsoft excel spreadsheet: step-by-step guide focusing on descriptive data analysis. BMC Res Notes 2012;5:52. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-5-52
- Cheng TL, Fields CB, Brenner RA, et al. Sports injuries: An important cause of morbidity in urban youth. District of Columbia Child/Adolescent Injury Research Network. *Pediatrics* 2000;105(3):E32.
- 33. Durkin MS, Laraque D, Lubman I, et al. Epidemiology and prevention of traffic injuries to urban children and adolescents. *Pediatrics* 1999;103(6):e74.
- 34. Thompson RS, Rivara FP, Thompson DC. A case-control study of the effectiveness of bicycle safety helmets. *N Engl J Med* 1989;320(21):1361-7. doi:10.1056/NEJM198905253202101
- 35. Li G, Baker SP, Sterling S, et al. A comparative analysis of alcohol in fatal and nonfatal bicycling injuries. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 1996;20(9):1553-9.
- 36. Teisch LF, Allen CJ, Tashiro J, et al. Injury patterns and outcomes following pediatric bicycle accidents. *Pediatr Surg Int* 2015;31(11):1021-25. doi:10.1007/s00383-015-3756-2
- Wesson D, Spence L, Hu X, et al. Trends in bicycling-related head injuries in children after implementation of a community-based bike helmet campaign. *J Pediatr Surg* 2000;35(5):688-9. doi:10.1053/jpsu.2000.5944
- 38. Haider AH, Chang DC, Haut ER, et al. Mechanism of injury predicts patient mortality and impairment after blunt trauma. *J Surg Res* 2009;153(1):138-42. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2008.04.011
- 39. Rivara FP, Thompson DC, Thompson RS. Epidemiology of bicycle injuries and risk factors for serious injury. *Inj Prev* 1997;3(2):110-4.
- 40. Li G, Baker SP, Fowler C, et al. Factors related to the presence of head injury in bicycle-related pediatric trauma patients. *J Trauma* 1995;38(6):871-5.
- 41. Lustenberger T, Inaba K, Talving P, et al. Bicyclists injured by automobiles: relationship of age to injury type and severity--a national trauma databank analysis. *J Trauma* 2010;69(5):1120-5. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e3181d0f68b

- 42. Puranik S, Long J, Coffman S. Profile of pediatric bicycle injuries. South Med J 1998;91(11):1033-7.
- 43. Linn S, Smith D, Sheps S. Epidemiology of bicycle injury, head injury, and helmet use among children in British Columbia: a five year descriptive study. Canadian Hospitals Injury, Reporting and Prevention Program (CHIRPP). *Inj Prev* 1998;4(2):122-5.
- 44. Anzures-Cabrera J, Higgins JPT. Graphical displays for meta-analysis: An overview with suggestions for practice. *Res Synth Methods* 2010;1(1):66-80. doi:10.1002/jrsm.6
- 45. Karkhaneh M, Rowe BH, Saunders LD, et al. Bicycle helmet use four years after the introduction of helmet legislation in Alberta, Canada. *Accid Anal Prev* 2011;43(3):788-96. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.026
- 46. Macpherson A, Spinks A. Bicycle helmet legislation for the uptake of helmet use and prevention of head injuries. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2008(3):CD005401. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD005401.pub3
- 47. Siman-Tov M, Jaffe DH, Peleg K. Bicycle injuries: a matter of mechanism and age. *Accid Anal Prev* 2012;44(1):135-9. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.006
- 48. Twisk D, Vlakveld W, Mesken J, et al. Inexperience and risky decisions of young adolescents, as pedestrians and cyclists, in interactions with lorries, and the effects of competency versus awareness education. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;55:219-25.
- 49. Sanford T, McCulloch CE, Callcut RA, et al. Bicycle Trauma Injuries and Hospital Admissions in the United States, 1998-2013. *JAMA* 2015;314(9):947-9. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.8295
- 50. Richter M, Pape HC, Otte D, et al. The current status of road user injuries among the elderly in Germany: a medical and technical accident analysis. *J Trauma* 2005;58(3):591-5.
- 51. Karkhaneh M, Rowe BH, Saunders LD, et al. Trends in head injuries associated with mandatory bicycle helmet legislation targeting children and adolescents. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;59:206-12.

TABLE 3.1 DESCRIPTIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES INCLUDED IN A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF SEVERE AND FATAL CYCLING

INJURIES IN ADULTS AND CHILDREN.

First Author, Year	Region	Country	Study period	Population	Study design	Data source(s)	Age and year of mandatory helmet legislation
Brown, 2002	OH	USA	1991 – 2000	Children	Retrospective Cohort	Hospital trauma registry	Not applicable (No current state law)
Cheng, 2000	DC	USA	1995 — 1998	Children	Retrospective Descriptive	Medical records, District of Columbia adolescent injury surveillance program	Not applicable (<16, implemented 2000)
Durkin, 1999	NY	USA	1983 – 1995	Children	Retrospective Descriptive	Northern Manhattan Injury surveillance system	<14, 1994
Frank, 1995	OR	USA	1989	Mixed	Retrospective Descriptive	Oregon injury registry	Not applicable (<16, implemented 1994)
Haider, 2008	-	USA	2001 – 2005	Adults	Retrospective Cohort	National trauma databank	-
Hamann, 2013	-	USA	2002 – 2009	Mixed	Retrospective Descriptive	HCUP-NIS*	-
Hu, 1995	ON	Canada	1989 – 1991	Children	Prospective Descriptive	Hospital discharge records	Not applicable (<18, implemented 1995)
Konkin, 2006	BC	Canada	1993 - 2003	Mixed	Retrospective Cohort	British Columbia Trauma Registry	All ages, 1996
Li, 1995	-	Canada and USA	1989 — 1992	Children	Retrospective Descriptive	National pediatric trauma registry	-
Li, 1996	ME	USA	1987 - 1994	Mixed	Retrospective case-control	Coroner's records, hospital medical records	Not applicable (<16, implemented 1996)
Linn, 1998	BC	Canada	1991 — 1995	Children	Retrospective Descriptive	Canadian Hospitals Injury Reporting and Prevention Program	Not applicable (All ages, Implemented 1996)
Lopez, 2012	CA	USA	2000 - 2009	Adults	Retrospective cohort	Hospital medical records	<18, 1994
Lustenberger, 2010	-	USA	2002 – 2006	Mixed	Retrospective Descriptive	National trauma databank	-
Macpherson, 2002	-	Canada	1994 - 1998	Children	Retrospective Ecologic trend	Canadian Institute for Health Information	-

Mehan, 2008	-	USA	1990 - 2005	Children	Retrospective Descriptive	National Electronic Injury Surveillance System	-
Miller, 2004	-	USA	2000	Mixed	Retrospective Cohort	$FARS^{\dagger}$, HCUP-NIS, NVSS [‡]	-
Naumann, 2010	-	USA	2005	Mixed	Descriptive cost analysis	NVSS, FARS, HCUP-NIS	-
Powell, 1997	-	USA	1986 – 1996	Children	Retrospective Descriptive	National pediatric trauma registry	-
Puranik, 1998	FL	USA	1992 – 1996	Children	Retrospective Descriptive	Trauma service records, emergency medical services reports, autopsy reports	Not applicable (<16, implemented 1997)
Rivara, 1997	WA	USA	1992 – 1994	Mixed	Prospective case- control	Hospital medical records	Not applicable (No current state law)
Roberts, 2013	AB	Canada	1995 – 2009	Adults	Retrospective cohort	Southern Alberta trauma Database	<18, 2002
Rosenkranz, 2003	MA	USA	1993 – 2000	Adults	Retrospective Descriptive	Massachusetts Discharge Dataset	<12, 1994 (<17, implemented 2004)
Teisch, 2015	FL	USA	2000 – 2012	Children	Retrospective cohort	Hospital medical records	<16, 1997
Thompson, 1989	WA	USA	1989 - 1987	Mixed	Prospective case- control	Medical records, corner's records	Not applicable (No current state law)
Wesson, 2000	ON	Canada	1989 - 1996	Children	Prospective Cohort	Ontario trauma registry, coroner's reports	<18, 1995
Winston, 2002	-	USA	1997	Children	Retrospective Descriptive	19-state hospital discharge data set	-
Zavoski, 1995	СТ	USA	1987 - 1992	Mixed	Retrospective Descriptive	Death certificates, Connecticut health information management and exchange	Not applicable (<16, implemented 1993)

^{*}HCUP-NIS – Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project National Inpatient Survey

⁺FARS = Fatality Analysis and Reporting System

^{*}NVSS = National Vital Statistics System

TABLE 3.2 AGE CATEGORIES OF STUDIES INCLUDED IN A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF SEVERE AND FATAL CYCLING INJURIES IN

ADULTS AND CHILDREN.

First Author, year	Mechanism coding	Definition of "Severe Injury"	Children	Adolescents	Adults	Older adults
Brown, 2002	Fall from bicycle; collision with moving object; collision with stationary object	Admitted to hospital	≤17	-	-	-
Cheng, 2000	Collision with motor vehicle; collision involving other people; equipment related; poor conditions	Admitted to hospital	≤19	10-19	-	-
Durkin, 1999	Traffic-related bicycle injury	Admitted to hospital	≤17	-	-	-
Frank, 1995	Not reported	Admitted to hospital	≤20	-	≥21	-
Haider, 2008	Not reported	ISS [‡] ≥9	-	-	≥15	-
Hamann, 2013	Motor vehicle collision; non-motor vehicle collision	Admitted to hospital	≤17	11-17	≥18	≥71
Hu, 1995	Not reported	Admitted to hospital	≤17	-	-	-
Konkin, 2006	Alone; vs. motor vehicle; vs other	Hospital admission ≥3 days	≤14	$15-24^{\dagger}$	≥15	≥65
Li, 1995	Collided with motor vehicle; collided with bike; collided with other	ISS≥10	≤14	-	-	-
Li, 1996	Not reported	Admitted to trauma center	≤19	10-19	≥20	≥60
Linn, 1998	Loss of control; fall, collision; traffic accident	Admitted to hospital	≤19	15-19	-	-
Lopez, 2012 [*]	Auto-vsbicycle; cyclist-only	Admitted to hospital	-	-	-	-
Lustenberger, 2010	Cyclist injured by motor vehicle	ISS≥16	≤14	-	≥15	≥66
Macpherson, 2002	Struck by motor vehicle	Admitted to hospital	≤19	-	-	-
Mehan, 2008	Not reported	Admitted to hospital	≤17	-	-	-
Miller, 2004	Not reported	Admitted to hospital	≤19	10-19	≥20	≥66
Naumann, 2010	Not reported	Admitted to hospital	≤19	15-19	≥20	≥65
Powell, 1997	Motor vehicle involved; fall from bicycle	Admitted to hospital	≤14	-	-	-
Puranik, 1998	Bicycle-motor vehicle collision; lost control; hit object other than motor vehicle	Designated trauma alert status	≤15	-	-	-

Rivara, 1997	Motor vehicle involvement; lost control and hit ground; lost control and hit obstacle	ISS>8	≤19	13-19	≥20	-		
Roberts, 2013	Fell off bike; attempted to avoid person, animal or object; rode downhill at speed; high speed bump, lost balance (speed-related or other); fell during trick, veered off cliff or roadside; collided with object other than motor vehicle; collided with parked vehicle, hit by motor vehicle while moving; hit by commuter train	Admitted to hospital	-	-	≥16	-		
Rosenkranz, 2003	Fall from bike; bike vs bike; bike vs. motor vehicle	Admitted to hospital	-	-	≥16	-		
Teisch, 2015	Not reported	Admitted to trauma center	≤17	-	-	-		
Thompson, 1989	Not reported	"Serious facial injury"	≤14	15-24†	≥15	-		
Wesson, 2000	Not reported	Admitted to hospital for head injury	≤14	-	-	-		
Winston, 2002	Non-motor vehicle collision; bicycle crashes and falls	Admitted to hospital	≤19	-	-	-		
Zavoski, 1995	Motor vehicle-related collision; non- motor vehicle collision	Admitted to hospital	≤19	15-19	≥20	≥65		
*Patients enrolled in Lopez 2012 ranged from 1 – 90 years old; study was treated as "adult only" after correspondence with authors indicated the proportion of children that was included was "exceedingly low". Included as adult age group in binary age-group analyses								

⁺ISS = Injury Severity Score

TABLE 3.3 WEIGHTED PROPORTIONS OF FATAL CYCLING INJURIES REPORTED BY STUDIES OF SEVERE AND FATAL CYCLING

INJURIES IN ADULTS AND CHILDREN, BY AGE GROUP.

	No. Studies	Weighted proportion of fatal over severe cycling injuries (%)	95 % Confidence Interval	I ² Statistic
All Pediatric	21	3.02	2.27-3.76	98%
Children	13	2.56	1.73 - 3.40	96%
Adolescents	7	2.53	1.13 - 3.93	96%
All Adults	14	7.15	5.62 - 8.68	99%
Younger adults	7	6.58	4.46 - 8.70	99%
Older Adults	7	14.16	9.36 - 18.97	96%

TABLE 3.4 FACTORS FREQUENTLY REPORTED BY STUDIES INCLUDED IN A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF SEVERE AND FATAL CYCLING INJURY IN ADULTS AND CHILDREN. PROPORTIONS USED WERE THOSE REPORTED FOR ALL CYCLISTS IN EACH AGE GROUP IN EACH STUDY, REGARDLESS OF INJURY SEVERITY.

		Children (n = 19)		Adults (n = 14)			
	No. Studies (n)	Median (IQR [*]) (%)	Range (%)	No. Studies (n)	Median (IQR) (%)	Range (%)	
Sex	11	76 (72, 81)	70 - 100	5	80 (77 <i>,</i> 84)	74 - 86	
Head injury	10	33 (21 <i>,</i> 46)	1.3 - 61	5	28 (26, 41)	16 - 70	
Motor vehicle involvement	8	24% (21, 46)	4.3 - 82	3	28 (28, 35)	28 - 35	
Helmet use	6	2.4 (1.4, 5.8)	1.1 - 12	3	20 (7.4, 42)	7.4 - 42	
On-Road	4	74 (59 <i>,</i> 79)	24 - 79	0	-	-	
Alcohol use	2	2.3, 2.4	2.3 - 2.4	4	16 (9.0, 21)	2.4 - 25	
Weekend	1	54	-	1	45 (45 <i>,</i> 45)	-	
Darkness	0	-	-	2	20 (16, 24)	16 - 24	
[*] IQR = Interquartile	e Range						

TABLE 3.5 QUALITY ASSESSMENT OF 27 STUDIES OF SEVERE AND FATAL CYCLING INJURIES IN ADULTS AND CHILDREN.

Author, Year	Selection Bias	Study Design	Confounding	Blinding	Data Quality	Withdrawals/	Global Rating
						Dropouts	
Brown, 2002	Moderate	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Cheng, 2000	Strong	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Durkin, 1999	Strong	Moderate	Moderate	Strong	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
Frank, 1995	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Haider, 2009	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Moderate
Hamann, 2013	Strong	Moderate	Moderate	Strong	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
Hu, 1995	Strong	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Weak
Konkin, 2006	Moderate	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Li, 1996	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Strong	Weak	Strong	Weak
Li, 1995	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Linn, 1998	Moderate	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Lopez, 2012	Strong	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Lustenberger, 2010	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Moderate
Macpherson, 2002	Moderate	Moderate	Strong	Strong	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
Mehan, 2009	Strong	Weak	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Moderate	Weak
Miller, 2004	Strong	Weak	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Moderate	Weak
Naumann, 2010	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Strong	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
Powell, 1997	Strong	Weak	Weak	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Puranik, 1985	Strong	Weak	Weak	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Rivara, 1997	Strong	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Moderate
Roberts, 2013	Strong	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Rosenkranz, 2003	Weak	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Teisch, 2015	Moderate	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Thompson, 1989	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Strong	Moderate
Wesson, 2000	Moderate	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
Winston, 2002	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak
Zavoski 1995	Moderate	Weak	Moderate	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Weak

FIGURE 3.1 PRISMA FLOW-CHART OF SYSTEMATIC SEARCH RESULTS FOR A SYSTEMATIC

REVIEW OF SEVERE AND FATAL CYCLING INJURIES IN CHILDREN AND ADULTS.



FIGURE 3.2 FOREST PLOT OF ODDS RATIOS COMPARING THE PROPORTION OF FATAL OVER

SEVERE-CYCLING INJURIES BETWEEN ADULTS AND CHILDREN IN MIXED-POPULATION

STUDIES INCLUDED IN A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW.

	Child	ren	Adu	ts		Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl	M-H, Random, 95% Cl
Frank 1995	5	189	10	122	4.9%	0.30 [0.10, 0.91]	
Hamann 2013	77	13644	431	27575	15.3%	0.36 [0.28, 0.46]	-
Konkin 2006	6	225	34	1251	6.6%	0.98 [0.41, 2.36]	
LI 1996	23	87	40	228	10.0%	1.69 [0.94, 3.04]	
Lustenberger 2010	99	817	358	1979	15.4%	0.62 [0.49, 0.79]	-
Miller 2004	264	11869	602	14067	16.5%	0.51 [0.44, 0.59]	•
Naumann 2010	206	10183	799	13726	16.4%	0.33 [0.29, 0.39]	+
Rivara 1997	9	137	5	95	4.7%	1.27 [0.41, 3.90]	
Zavoski 1995	23	1005	26	473	10.2%	0.40 [0.23, 0.71]	
Total (95% CI)		38156		59516	100.0%	0.54 [0.41, 0.72]	•
Total events	712		2305				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	0.12; Ch	i ² = 54.0	7, df = 8 (P < 0.00	001); I ^z =	85% 🖯	
Test for overall effect:	Z= 4.18	(P < 0.00	001)			U	Favours children Favours adults

Chapter 4 Cycling Fatalities over a 14-year period in Alberta, Canada 4.1 INTRODUCTION

Cycling is a popular recreational activity that has both health and environmental benefits.[1] Despite the benefits, cycling can be dangerous, and cycling crashes can be fatal. While cycling fatalities are rare events, cyclists are killed at higher rates than other road users.[2] Cycling fatalities also have higher per-event medical costs than nonfatal injuries.[3]

Previous studies of bicycle fatalities conducted in the United States have found that fatally injured cyclists are usually male, often adult, and rarely wearing a helmet when they crash.[4-6] The relationships of cyclist and environmental factors to the mechanisms of cycling-related deaths among Canadian cyclists have not been thoroughly investigated; however, several recent studies evaluated helmet effectiveness for prevention of cycling-related fatalities and found decreased occurrence of head injury among severely and fatally injured cyclists.[7-10] In addition, the prevalence of cycling fatality risk factors may vary with age,[11] but these differences remain relatively unstudied. Many governments are making efforts to increase cycling among residents; however, the primary barrier is the perception that cycling is dangerous.[12] Understanding the factors that contribute to fatal cycling crashes and their difference between age groups will assist decision-makers to develop tailored interventions for prevention of cycling fatalities, a decrease in which may mitigate the perceived danger of cycling and thereby encourage more people to cycle.

Canada is a large, geographically diverse country with both dense urban and sparse rural areas, and a wide range of climates ranging from warm oceanic to sub-arctic. Most studies of Canadian cycling fatalities have used data from regions that are more densely populated and with warmer, wetter climates than Alberta, namely the province of Ontario and urban centers in southern British

Columbia.[7, 9, 13-16] This is the first study to examine the mechanisms and epidemiological factors (e.g., environmental and demographic) contributing to cycling fatalities in Alberta, a sparsely populated, mostly rural region with a cold northern climate.

4.2 METHODS

4.2.1 Study Design

This is a retrospective chart review. Ethical approval to conduct the study was received from the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board.

4.2.2 Data Collection

Case files from Alberta's Office of the Chief Medical Examiner (OCME) were used. Approximately 20% of all deaths in Alberta are investigated by the OCME, including those that are "the result of violence, accident or suicide".[17] Case files for the years 1998 to 2011, inclusive, coded with any of "MV bicycle", "fall", "sporting", or "other" were manually reviewed by OCME staff to identify bicycle-related deaths. Relevant cases were abstracted by two trained research staff onto standardized forms. Information about demographics, environmental (e.g., location, date and time, lighting) and cyclist (e.g., clothing, helmet use, alcohol or drug use) factors, as well as injury data, were collected and entered into a purpose-built Microsoft Excel database.

4.2.3 Data Sources

All available records within OCME case files were used to complete the form. Event circumstances, including action of involved parties and details on the deceased cyclist, the bicycle, and the scene of the crash, were determined from incident summaries within emergency department (ED) charts, Emergency Medical System (EMS) patient care reports (PCRs) and local police or Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) reports, including scene photographs (n=6). Previous studies have reported that helmet use by fatally injured cyclists is rare, [4, 7, 16] and helmet use in Alberta during the study period was generally low;[18] therefore, deceased cyclists were assumed not to have been wearing a helmet unless specifically stated. Injury details were collected from the medical examiner (ME) reports, nursing notes, medical consultant reports, ED charts, and EMS PCRs. Evidence of alcohol and prescription and illicit drug use was collected from OCME and police toxicology reports or witness statements.

In Alberta, all traffic collisions involving a death must be reported to police. Therefore, information about actions of motorist(s) involved in a fatal motor vehicle-cyclist collision (MVCC) was obtained from RCMP or local police reports. MVCCs were categorized according to the mechanisms defined by others: mid-block ride-out, cyclist inattention, motorist inattention, other, or unknown/unclear.[16]

4.2.4 Case Mapping and Event Rate Calculations

Fatal crashes were mapped into one of six regions (Edmonton region, Calgary region, Northern Alberta, Central Alberta, Southern Alberta, and Alberta Rockies) based on location of the crash using the open-source OpenJUMP geographical information software package (Vivid Solutions, Victoria, BC) and 2006 census sub-division digital boundary data (Figure 4.1).[19] Regional and age-specific cycling fatality rates per million population were calculated by dividing the number of events per region by personyears during the study period, estimated by multiplying the population of each region from the 2006 Statistics Canada census data (the census data closest to the mid-point of the study) by the study duration (14 years).

4.2.5 Statistical Analysis

The numbers of fatally injured cyclists with injuries to each anatomical area (head, neck/spine, trunk, extremities) are reported; some deceased cyclists sustained injury to more than one area of the body. MVCC events were compared to all non-MVCC events on cyclist demographics (% male, age), location (urban vs. rural, road vs. non-road), reported helmet use, alcohol/drug use, light condition,

weather conditions, and injuries. An event was classified as "urban" if it occurred within the legal limits of a city or town; all other settings were considered rural. Urban events were compared to rural events on cyclist demographics (% male, age), reported helmet use, alcohol/drug use, light condition, weather conditions, and injuries. Deceased cyclists were grouped into five age categories: <10 years, 10-19 years, 20-44 years, 45 – 64 years, and ≥65 years. Age groups were compared on reported helmet, alcohol, and illicit drug use, and injuries.

Statistical analyses were performed using STATA Statistical Software Release 12.0 (Stata Corporation; College Station, TX, USA). Numerical data are reported as medians and interquartile ranges (IQR). Proportions were calculated for categorical variables. Differences in sub-groups were tested using Fisher's exact test; $p\leq0.05$ was considered statistically significant.

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 Included Cases

The OCME identified 106 cycling-related fatalities that occurred between February 1998 and October 2011. Five files were excluded because they did not describe the event, leaving 101 cases for analysis.

Deceased cyclists were mostly male (87%) and mainly adult (81%) (Table 4.1). Cyclists most often died at the scene (40%) or after hospital admission (40%) (Table 4.1). Helmet use was reported in 25 (25%) and alcohol use in 26 (26%) cases (Table 4.1).

4.3.2 Environmental Factors of Fatal Cycling Crashes

The number of fatal cycling crashes varied between years from a low of three events in 1998 to a high of 12 events in 2007; no trend in events per year was detected by a non-parametric test for trend (p=0.4). Fatal crashes mainly occurred between May and September, and peaked in September (21 [21%]). Most crashes occurred during the day, and crashes mainly occurred on a weekday (Table 4.2). Nine (9%) events occurred during peak traffic (6:30 AM to 8:30 AM and 4:00 PM to 6:00 PM, Monday to Friday). The majority of crashes occurred on a road, and poor lighting and inclement weather were infrequent (Table 4.2). The majority of fatal crashes were MVCCs (Table 4.2); "other" mechanisms included a collision with a train and three collisions with urban rail transit. Of the 67 MVCC-related deaths, eight (12%) were midblock ride-outs, 23 (34%) were due to cyclist inattention, 25 (37%) were due to motorist inattention, and 11 (16%) were categorized as other/unknown. MVCCs occurred more frequently than non-MVCC crashes on roads (p<0.001; Table 4.3) and more often in poor lighting (p=0.029; Table 4.3). Incidence of trunk injury was higher among cyclists killed in MVCCs than non-MVCC crashes (Table 4.3). Reported helmet use did not differ with crash mechanism; however, evident cyclist alcohol use was present more often in MVCCs than in non-MVCC crashes (p<0.001; Table 4.3).

4.3.3 Cycling Fatalities in Urban and Rural regions

Table 4.4 presents the number of events and rate per million population in each region. Rural regions generally had higher rates of events compared with urban regions (Table 4.4); the event rate was highest in the Alberta Rockies. Table 4.4 also presents the population-based rates of events by age-group, which increased with age.

While the majority of crashes occurred in an urban location (Table 4.5), the proportion of fatalities due to MVCCs was higher in rural areas than in urban areas (84% vs. 58%; p=0.03). Alcohol use was more frequent among cyclists killed in urban compared with rural crashes (Table 4.5; p=0.048). While the frequency of reported helmet use was similar (Table 4.5; p=0.22), head injuries occurred more frequently among cyclists killed in urban crashes compared with rural crashes (Table 4.5; p<0.001)

4.3.4 Cyclist factors of cyclists killed while cycling

Reported helmet use increased with age; deceased children and adolescents were rarely reported to be wearing a helmet and elderly deceased cyclists were most often reported to be wearing a

helmet (Table 4.6; p=0.077). Detected alcohol use was highest among deceased adolescents (Table 4.6). Most (18/25) deceased cyclists with indication of alcohol were intoxicated (BAC>0.08 g/dL); the median BAC was 0.17g/dL (IQR: 0.13, 0.23). All deceased cyclists 20-44 years old with evident alcohol use (n=9) were intoxicated (Table 4.6). Incidence of MVCC compared to non-MVCC crashes was higher among deceased cyclists <20 years old than \geq 20 years old, but was not significant (p=0.101). Motorist inattention was involved in the deaths of most children and a notable fraction of adults 20-64 years old (Table 4.6). All cyclists who were killed after collision with a stationary object were \geq 20 years old (Table 4.6).

Fatally-injured cyclists who had evidence of alcohol consumption were less frequently reported to be wearing a helmet than deceased cyclists without documented alcohol use (4% vs. 33%; p=0.003). More deceased cyclists who crashed in the dark had consumed alcohol compared with those who crashed in daylight (15/25 vs 8/67; p<0.001).

4.4 DISCUSSION

This is the first report of cycling fatalities in Alberta, a province with two large urban areas, five regional centers, and a large number of small towns across sparsely populated rural areas. Fatally injured cyclists were most often adult males and commonly sustained their injuries following a collision with a motor vehicle. Reported helmet use was infrequent, and 76% of fatally injured cyclists suffered a head or brain injury. Fatal cycling collisions most often occurred in urban locations, on roads, and during times of good light and fair weather (i.e., when cycling is most frequent).

Notable differences were observed in deceased cyclists and crash circumstances between urban and rural areas. Although most fatal cycling crashes in Alberta occurred in urban areas, the rates of cycling deaths per 1,000,000 inhabitants per year were noticeably higher in rural regions where cyclists may ride more often on highways due to lack of other available routes. Additionally, health resources

are typically more limited in rural regions which may result in a longer delay between crash occurrence and receiving advanced trauma care than in urban areas. [20] The fatality rate was especially high in the Alberta Rockies, which has a very small population and is popular with cycle-tourists. Future research should examine the burden on local health systems due to injuries occurring in non-residents, as this could have implications for where to target injury prevention strategies. Cyclists killed in urban areas more frequently had evidence of alcohol use than cyclists killed in rural areas. Cycling may be viewed by urban cyclists as a safe transportation alternative to driving after planned drinking; on the other hand, cycling after drinking is not as feasible in rural areas due to the often large distances.

Canadian cycling fatalities have been previously examined in British Columbia and Ontario. In British Columbia, cyclists were at higher risk of being struck by a motor vehicle and fatal injury than inline skaters and skateboarders.[13] In Ontario, young (<10 years old) and older (≥45 years old) cyclists who died after a cycling crash more frequently made cycling errors that contributed to the crash than adolescents and younger adults, while 19-44 year olds were more frequently killed while cycling at night.[16] The most recent Ontario inquiry, which had similar findings to the current study, resulted in a Coroner's Report and recommendations for safer cycling.[7, 21]

Despite the provincial differences, these results from Alberta mainly agree with previous studies of Canadian cycling fatalities in that the majority of cyclist deaths involved males and were the result of collisions with motor vehicles.[7, 16] However, while previous reports from Ontario and the United States indicated that one-third of cycling fatalities occurred in children,[16, 22] only 19% of deceased cyclists in the current report were under the age of 20. In our study, all children and most of adolescents died after a collision with a motor vehicle, which is consistent with other reports of pediatric cycling fatalities.[15, 16] It is possible that recently implemented interventions aimed to reduce distracted

driving may also help to reduce cycling fatalities; however, this level of granularity was not available in these reports.

Cycling fatalities among children and adolescents have been decreasing nationally, which may result from improvements in the built environment and/or mandatory helmet legislation (MHL), which was introduced first in Canada in Ontario in 1998, in 2002 in Alberta (for cyclists <18 years only), and has since been introduced in other provinces. Although reported helmet use was low in this study, a larger proportion of fatally injured cyclists were wearing a helmet compared with older reports.[4, 15, 16] This increase is likely due to the influence of MHL, which (although targeted at under-age cyclists) has been shown to increase helmet use among all ages.[18]

It is interesting to note that the population-based rate of fatal cycling events increased with age, but this observation must be interpreted with caution. Older cyclists may be less coordinated and more frail than younger cyclists and subsequently more likely to be involved in a cycling crash and sustain more serious injuries;[23] however, data on cycling exposure including distance traveled, number of trips, and number of cyclists, are not readily available for Alberta, and it is possible (although unlikely) that older cyclists have a higher level of exposure to cycling which may bias the population-based rate upwards.

Alcohol use prior to fatal cycling events was particularly concerning. The correlation of alcohol consumption with non-use of protective devices such as helmets and seatbelts has been previously documented and is also indicated by our data, as deceased cyclists with evident alcohol use were less frequently reported to have been wearing a helmet than deceased cyclists without evident alcohol use.[24] The legal BAC limit for motorists in Alberta during the study period was 0.08 g/dL (17mmol/L). Twenty-three of the 26 deceased cyclists with evident alcohol consumption, and all of those between 20 and 44 years old, were over the legal limit. Similar to a previous report,[25] in this study a larger

proportion of deceased cyclists involved in non-MVCC collisions were intoxicated. Compared with the widespread knowledge of the effects and penalties of consuming alcohol before driving a motor vehicle, [26] cyclists may not recognize the danger of impairment while cycling and may use cycling as an alternative mode of transportation after social drinking, which is suggested by the high proportion of younger adult (20-44 years old) cyclists with evident alcohol use who were over the legal limit for operation of a motor vehicle. Additionally, drivers who lose their license due to impaired driving convictions are likely turn to cycling as an alternative mode of transportation is an alternative mode of transportation as an alternative mode of transportation. [27] Drinking and biking has been identified as a potential issue elsewhere; [28] further study on the attitudes around drinking and cycling is needed to develop successful strategies to reduce injuries resulting from drinking and biking.

Cycling fatalities account for a disproportionate 3.2% of Canadian road fatalities, though cyclists only make up 1.2% of regular road users.[12, 29] Reports of cyclist crashes contribute to a lack of safety perceived by both cyclists and non-cyclists.[12] While the results presented here represent only one province, there are few other studies of cycling fatalities in regions with similar demographic and climactic characteristics, and the results presented here may be of interest to policy- and decisionmakers in other regions with a low population densities and cold climates in Canada, such as Saskatchewan, Manitoba, and the Territories, and around the world (e.g., Northern mid-west US states, eastern Russia, etc.)

Future efforts to reduce cycling fatalities will require attention to interactions between motorists and cyclists. Prevention strategies that target risk-taking behaviors among cyclists, including education for cyclists on the potential dangers of drinking and cycling and encouraging all cyclists to wear a helmet should be explored. In addition, educational initiatives to instruct safe interactions between all types of road users should be implemented in Alberta, and other similar regions, to inform

all road users on how to safely interact with each other.[30] These safety initiatives could help to reduce the public's perception of cycling as a dangerous activity, and therefore help to decrease injuries, increase physical activity, and promote the uptake of active transportation.

4.4.1 Limitations

The results of this exploratory study should be interpreted with caution, due to the lack of a control group. The retrospective methods employed in this study present several limitations. Relevant cases may have been missed due to miscoding, and OCME files are not available for cases in which an investigation, litigation or criminal proceedings are ongoing; however, given the small number of fatalities that occurred in the late fall and winter in other years, it is unlikely that a significant number of cases from 2011 were missed. The level of detail and missing data in the OCME files varied; thus the proportions listed here should be interpreted conservatively, as they may be underestimates. The rates calculated for the whole study period may over-estimate the annual cycling fatality rates prior to 2006 and under-estimate the annual rates after 2006 due to variation in the annual number of events and the change in Alberta's population over the study period. Finally, the use of population as the denominator for the fatality rates here does not reflect the risk of death due to exposure to cycling.

4.5 CONCLUSIONS

Cycling fatalities in Alberta are rare events that usually involve adults and are largely the result of a motor vehicle-cyclist encounter. Strategies to prevent cycling-related fatalities should consider the physical separation of and promotion of safe interactions between motor vehicles and cyclists, strategies to increase helmet use by all ages, and education about the potentially devastating effect of alcohol use on the operation of a bicycle. Reducing fatalities will increase the perceived safety of cycling and should help increase cycling activity in both frequency of cycling and distance travelled.

4.6 REFERENCES

- 1. Lindsay G, Macmillan A, Woodward A. Moving urban trips from cars to bicycles: impact on health and emissions. *Aust N Z J Public Health* 2011;35(1):54-60. doi:10.1111/j.1753-6405.2010.00621.x
- Beck LF, Dellinger AM, O'Neil ME. Motor vehicle crash injury rates by mode of travel, United States: using exposure-based methods to quantify differences. *Am J Epidemiol* 2007;166(2):212-8. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm064
- 3. Miller TR, Zaloshnja E, Lawrence BA, et al. Pedestrian and pedalcyclist injury costs in the United States by age and injury severity. *Annu Proc Assoc Adv Automot Med* 2004;48:265-84.
- 4. Nicaj L, Stayton C, Mandel-Ricci J, et al. Bicyclist fatalities in New York City: 1996-2005. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2009;10(2):157-61. doi:10.1080/15389580802641761
- 5. Ackery AD, McLellan BA, Redelmeier DA. Bicyclist deaths and striking vehicles in the USA. *Inj Prev* 2012;18(1):22-6. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2011-040066
- Rodgers GB. Bicyclist deaths and fatality risk patterns. Accid Anal Prev 1995;27(2):215-23. doi:10.1016/0001-4575(94)00063-R
- Persaud N, Coleman E, Zwolakowski D, et al. Nonuse of bicycle helmets and risk of fatal head injury: a proportional mortality, case-control study. *CMAJ* 2012;184(17):E921-3. doi:10.1503/cmaj.120988
- Macpherson A, Spinks A. Bicycle helmet legislation for the uptake of helmet use and prevention of head injuries. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2008(3):CD005401. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD005401.pub3
- 9. Wesson DE, Stephens D, Lam K, et al. Trends in pediatric and adult bicycling deaths before and after passage of a bicycle helmet law. *Pediatrics* 2008;122(3):605-10. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-1776
- Dennis J, Ramsay T, Turgeon AF, et al. Helmet legislation and admissions to hospital for cycling related head injuries in Canadian provinces and territories: interrupted time series analysis. *BMJ* 2013;346:f2674. doi:10.1136/bmj.f2674

- 11. Siman-Tov M, Jaffe DH, Peleg K. Bicycle injuries: a matter of mechanism and age. *Accid Anal Prev* 2012;44(1):135-9. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.006
- 12. Urban Bicycle Planning. In: Transport Canada, editor. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Minister of Public Works, 2008.
- Konkin DE, Garraway N, Hameed SM, et al. Population-based analysis of severe injuries from nonmotorized wheeled vehicles. *Am J Surg* 2006;191(5):615-8. doi:10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.02.012
- 14. Teschke K, Harris MA, Reynolds CC, et al. Exposure-based traffic crash injury rates by mode of travel in British Columbia. *Can J Public Health* 2013;104(1):e75-9.
- 15. Spence LJ, Dykes EH, Bohn DJ, et al. Fatal bicycle accidents in children: a plea for prevention. J Pediatr Surg 1993;28(2):214-6. doi:10.1016/S0022-3468(05)80278-7
- 16. Rowe BH, Rowe AM, Bota GW. Bicyclist and environmental factors associated with fatal bicyclerelated trauma in Ontario. *CMAJ* 1995;152(1):45-53.
- 17. Ministry of Justice and Solicitor General. Death investigations. Edmonton, Alberta: Government of Alberta.
- Karkhaneh M, Rowe BH, Saunders LD, et al. Bicycle helmet use four years after the introduction of helmet legislation in Alberta, Canada. *Accid Anal Prev* 2011;43(3):788-96. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.026
- 19. Census Subdivision boundary file. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada, 2006. http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/geo/bound-limit-eng.cfm
- 20. Muelleman RL, Wadman MC, Tran TP, et al. Rural motor vehicle crash risk of death is higher after controlling for injury severity. *J Trauma* 2007;62(1):221-5; discussion 25-6. doi:10.1097/01.ta.0000231696.65548.06
- 21. Cass D, Lauwers B, Persaud N, et al. Cycling Death Review: A review of all accidental cycling deaths in Ontario from January 1st, 2006 to December 31st, 2010. In: Office of the Chief Coroner, editor. Toronto, ON: Office of the Chief Coroner, 2012.

- 22. Rodgers GB. Bicycle helmet use patterns in the United States. A description and analysis of national survey data. *Accid Anal Prev* 1995;27(1):43-56. doi:10.1016/0001-4575(94)00044-M
- 23. Richter M, Pape HC, Otte D, et al. The current status of road user injuries among the elderly in Germany: a medical and technical accident analysis. *J Trauma* 2005;58(3):591-5.
- 24. Crocker P, Zad O, Milling T, et al. Alcohol, bicycling, and head and brain injury: a study of impaired cyclists' riding patterns R1. *Am J Emerg Med* 2010;28(1):68-72. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2008.09.011
- 25. Stutts JC, Hunter WW. Injuries to Pedestrians and Bicyclists: An Analysis Based on Hospital Emergency Department Data. Springfield, VA: U.S. Department of Transportation, 1999.
- 26. Mader EM, Zick CD. Active transportation: Do current traffic safety policies protect non-motorists? Accid Anal Prev 2014;67:7-13. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2014.01.022
- 27. Li G, Shahpar C, Soderstrom CA, et al. Alcohol use in relation to driving records among injured bicyclists. *Accid Anal Prev* 2000;32(4):583-7. doi:10.1016/S0001-4575(99)00089-5
- 28. de Waard D, Houwing S, Lewis-Evans B, et al. Bicycling under the influence of alcohol. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2015.03.003</u>
- 29. Canadian Motor Vehicle Traffic Collision Statistics 2013. In: Transport Canada, editor. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Minister of Public Works, 2015.
- 30. Pucher J, Buehler R. Making Cycling Irresistible: Lessons from The Netherlands, Denmark and Germany. *Transport Rev* 2008;28(4):495-528. doi:10.1080/01441640701806612
| TABLE 4.1 DEMOGRAPHIC DETAILS | OF FATALLY INJURED | CYCLISTS IN ALBERTA | CANADA. |
|-------------------------------|---|---|---------|
| | ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• | 0.0000000000000000000000000000000000000 | |

Characteristic	n (%)			
	N= 101			
Male	88 (87)			
Age (years)				
<10	7 (7)			
10 – 19	12 (12)			
20-44	31 (31)			
45 - 64	31 (31)			
≥65	20 (20)			
Helmet use	26 (26)			
Alcohol use	25 (25)			
BAC >0.08g/L	18 (18)			
Unknown	3 (3)			
Unknown	10 (10)			
Illicit drug use	14 (14)			
Unknown	33 (33)			
Prescription drug use	7 (7)			
Unknown	35 (35)			
Time of death				
Dead at scene	41 (41)			
Transport but DOA^\dagger	7 (7)			
Transport but died in $ED^{^{\pm}}$	13 (13)			
Died after admission to hospital	40 (40)			
[*] BAC - blood alcohol concentration				
${}^{T}_{DOA}$ - dead on arrival				
[*] ED - emergency department.				
Note: Percentages may not sum to 100 due to rounding.				

TABLE 4.2 DESCRIPTIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF 101 FATAL BICYCLE CRASHES IN ALBERTA,

CANADA.

Characteristic	n (%)			
Time of Crach	N = 101			
0601 - 1200	20 (20)			
1201 – 1800	38 (38)			
1801 - 0000	28 (28)			
0001 - 0600	9 (9)			
Unknown	6 (6)			
Day of the Week				
Monday	13 (13)			
Tuesday	14 (14)			
Wednesday	11 (11)			
Thursday	14 (14)			
Friday	16 (16)			
Saturday	19 (19)			
Sunday	14 (14)			
Location				
Urban	64 (63)			
Rural	31 (31)			
Undetermined	6 (6)			
Route type				
Road	77 (76)			
Sidewalk/Pathway	6 (6)			
Trail/off-road	10 (10)			
Other	4 (4)			
Unknown	4 (4)			
Surface Type				
Pavement	80 (80)			
Gravel	7 (7)			
Dirt/grass	4 (4)			
Unable to determine	10 (10)			
Mechanism				
MVCC [*]	67 (66)			
Fell or thrown from bicycle	15 (15)			
Collision with stationary object	7 (7)			
Other	12 (12)			
MVCC = motor vehicle-cyclist collision				
Note: Percentages may not sum to 100 due to rounding.				

TABLE 4.3 CYCLISTS AND CRASH CHARACTERISTICS BY MECHANISM FOR 101 FATAL

	Non-MVCC [*] (N=34)	MVCC	Fischer's Exact
	n (%)	n (%)	p-value
Location			
Urban	27 (79)	37 (55)	0.030
Rural	5 (15)	26 (39)	
Undetermined	2 (6)	4 (6)	
Environment			
On road	14 (41)	63 (94)	<0.001
Poor lighting	6 (18)	20 (30)	0.029
Cyclist			
Helmet use	8 (24)	18 (27)	0.812
Alcohol use	13 (38)	12 (18)	0.031
BAC^{\dagger} >0.08g/dL (17 mmol/ L)	8 (24)	10 (15)	0.378
Drug use	4 (12)	10 (15)	0.448
Type of Injury			
Head Injury	28 (82)	48 (72)	0.330
Trunk Injury	10 (29)	47 (70)	<0.001
Spine Injury	11 (32)	15 (22)	0.337
Limb Injury	17 (50)	51 (76)	0.013

BICYCLE CRASHES IN ALBERTA, CANADA.

MVCC = motor vehicle-cyclist collision

[†]BAC = blood alcohol content

Note: Percentages may not sum to 100 due to rounding.

TABLE 4.4 REGIONAL AND AGE-BASED RATES OF FATAL BICYCLE INJURIES. RATES WERE CALCULATED BY DIVIDING THE NUMBER OF EVENTS PER REGION BY PERSON-YEARS DURING THE STUDY PERIOD, WHICH WERE ESTIMATED BY MULTIPLYING THE POPULATION OF EACH REGION BY THE STUDY DURATION (14 YEARS).

	No. Events (%)	Population [*]	Events per 1,000,000 inhabitants per year	
Region				
Edmonton	30 (30)	1,034,945	2.1	
Calgary	26 (26)	1,079,310	1.7	
Northern Alberta	13 (13)	328,073	2.8	
Central Alberta	11 (11)	240,368	3.3	
Southern Alberta	13 (13)	272,017	3.4	
Alberta Rockies	8 (8)	35,983	15.9	
Age Category				
< 10	7 (7)	406,705	1.2	
10 to 19	12 (12)	462,705	1.9	
20 to 44	31 (31)	1,232,350	1.8	
45 to 64	31 (31)	835,170	2.7	
≥65	20 (20)	353,410	4.0	
[*] Population data taken from the Statistics Canada 2006 Census Note: Percentages may not sum to 100 due to rounding.				

TABLE 4.5 CYCLISTS AND CRASH CHARACTERISTICS BY LOCATION OF THE CRASH EVENT

	Urban	Rural	Undetermined	Fischer's Exact
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	<i>p</i> -value
Environment				
On road	46 (72)	26 (84)	5 (83)	0.500
Poor lighting	21 (33)	5 (16)	2 (33)	0.322
Cyclist				
Helmet use	14 (22)	9 (29)	3 (50)	0.222
Alcohol use	20 (31)	3 (10)	2 (33)	0.048
BAC [*] >0.08g/L	14 (22)	2 (6)	2 (33)	1.00
Drug use				0.171
Age				
<10	4 (6)	3 (10)	0	0.980
10-19	7 (11)	4 (13)	1 (17)	
20-44	22 (34)	8 (26)	1 (17)	
45-64	18 (28)	10 (32)	3 (50)	
≥65	13 (20)	6 (20)	1 (17)	
Type of Injury				
Head Injury	56 (88)	15 (48)	5 (83)	<0.001
Trunk Injury	31 (48)	23 (74)	3 (50)	0.053
Spine Injury	14 (22)	11 (35)	1 (17)	0.362
Limb Injury	45 (70)	20 (65)	3 (50)	0.491
[*] BAC = blood alcohol content				

FOR 101 FATAL BICYCLE CRASHES IN ALBERTA, CANADA.

Note: Percentages may not sum to 100 due to rounding.

TABLE 4.6 CYCLIST CHARACTERISTICS AND CRASH CHARACTERISTICS FOR 101 FATAL

	<10	10 - 19	20-44	45 - 64	≥65	Fisher's
	(N=7)	(N=12)	(N=31)	(N=31)	(N=20)	Exact p-value
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	·
Male	4 (57)	12 (100)	27 (87)	27 (87)	18 (90)	0.161
Alcohol use	0	5 (42)	9 (29)	10 (32)	1 (5)	0.035
BAC [*] >0.08g/L	0	4 (33)	9 (100)	5 (50)	0	0.029
Illicit Drug use	0	3 (25)	9 (29)	2 (6)	0	0.0984
Helmet	1 (14)	1 (8)	8 (26)	6 (19)	10 (50)	0.077
Location						
Urban	4 (57)	7 (58)	22 (71)	18 (58)	13 (65)	0.955
Rural	3 (43)	4 (33)	8 (26)	10 (32)	6 (30)	
Unknown	0 (0)	1 (8)	1 (3)	3 (10)	1 (5)	
Environment						
On Road	6 (86)	11 (92)	21 (68)	23 (74)	16 (80)	0.575
Darkness	1 (14)	5 (42)	12 (39)	9 (29)	1(5)	0.044
Mechanism						
Cyclist fall	0	0	6 (19)	6 (19)	3 (15)	0.390
MVCC [†]	7 (100)	9 (75)	20 (65)	19 (61)	12 (60)	
Midblock ride-out	1 (14)	2 (17)	3 (15)	1 (5)	1 (5)	0.545
Cyclist inattention	2 (29)	4 (44)	4 (20)	6 (32)	7 (35)	
Motorist inattention	4 (57)	1 (8)	9 (45)	7 (37)	4 (20)	
Unclear/Unknown	0	2 (17)	4 (20)	5 (26)	0	
Struck object	0	0	4 (13)	2 (6)	1 (5)	
Other	0	3 (25)	1 (3)	4 (13)	4 (20)	
Injury						
Head Injury	5 (71)	10 (83)	24 (77)	23 (74)	14 (70)	0.929
Trunk Injury	4 (57)	9 (75)	18 (58)	15 (48)	11 (55)	0.655
Spine Injury	1 (14)	1 (8)	11 (35)	8 (26)	5 (25)	0.475
Limb Injury	5 (71)	9 (75)	22 (71)	20 (65)	12 (60)	0.895

BICYCLE CRASHES IN ALBERTA, CANADA BY AGE.

BAC = blood alcohol concentration

⁺MVCC = motor vehicle-cyclist collision

Note: percentages may not sum to 100% due to rounding

FIGURE 4.1 POPULATION-BASED RATES PER 1,000,000 POPULATION PER YEAR OF FATAL CYCLING CRASHES IN ALBERTA FROM 1998 TO 2011 BY REGION. NUMBERS OF EVENTS ARE IN PARENTHESES. RATES WERE CALCULATED BY DIVIDING THE NUMBER OF EVENTS PER REGION BY PERSON-YEARS DURING THE STUDY PERIOD, WHICH WERE ESTIMATED BY MULTIPLYING THE POPULATION OF EACH REGION BY THE STUDY DURATION (14 YEARS)



Chapter 5 Relevance, Conclusions, and Future Directions for Research 5.1 RELEVANCE

Cycling is a popular form of recreation and transportation with health and environmental benefits that is being encouraged by many jurisdictions in North America as an alternative mode of transportation to motorized vehicles. Crashes while cycling can lead to injuries ranging in severity from minor to severe or fatal, and these injuries can significantly impact both the short- and long-term health of cyclists. As a result, lack of safety is frequently cited by Canadians as a reason for not cycling on a regular basis.[1] While severe and fatal cycling injuries are a small proportion of total cycling-related injury events (the top of the so-called "injury pyramid"),[2] they account for a large proportion of cycling injury-related health spending.[3] Although cycling fatalities are rare, cyclists have higher per-trip and per-distance fatality rates than motorists.[4, 5] Cycling fatalities also have larger per-event costs compared to other cycling injury events.[6, 7]

Research on cycling fatalities and their causes is sparse and generally of poor quality (due in part to the inherent difficulties of studying fatal events). In order to develop effective injury prevention interventions for bicycle injuries, the factors associated with their occurrence and mechanisms of action need to be identified. Similar to other types of sports and recreation injuries, the mechanisms of cycling injuries may vary with the age of the cyclist.[8, 9] The aims of this thesis were to investigate the state of the literature on severe and fatal cycling injuries; examine differences in their occurrence between children and adults; and describe their epidemiology in a northern and mostly rural province. This thesis is comprised of: a scoping review to compile the state of the literature on cycling fatalities; a systematic review examining the difference in the ratio of severe to fatal cycling injuries between different age groups; and a descriptive study using chart review methods to examine cycling fatalities in the province of Alberta, Canada – a mostly rural province with a cold, northern climate - over a 14-year period.

5.2 OVERVIEW OF THESIS RESULTS

5.2.1 Cycling Fatalities in North America: A Scoping Review

A scoping review was conducted to identify and describe the current state of the research on cycling fatalities, factors commonly associated with them, and potential gaps in knowledge. The search strategy resulted in 25 unique studies that reported on cycling fatalities in North America. Few etiological studies examined cycling fatalities; most studies reporting on cycling fatalities were retrospective descriptive studies. Eight of the 25 included studies were published in the last five years using data collected from 1996-2011, and cycling fatality studies were most commonly conducted using data from US samples (n=21). Reporting of potential risk factors was inconsistent; studies reported the proportions of fatally injured cyclists who had evidence of alcohol use (n=10), sustained a head injury (n=9), or were wearing a helmet (n=5). The low number of studies reporting on helmet use likely relates to the time period during which most studies were conducted (i.e., prior to the introduction of helmet legislation in many parts of North America), and the data sources used, as most studies obtained data from trauma registries and medical records which often do not accurately record helmet use. Studies also reported on crash-specific factors such as motor vehicle involvement (n=12), occurrence at night (n=12), in urban locations (n=7), or during the weekend (n=6).

Data on cycling fatalities in Canada remains uncommon and focuses on the role of helmet-use. Comparative studies of cycling fatalities examined helmet use and alcohol use; other factors frequently reported as factors associated with bicycle crashes have not been thoroughly examined. Studies of motor vehicle involvement, time and location of crash (urban or rural setting, on-street, etc.), and actions of involved parties (i.e., cyclists and motorists) using etiologic methods are necessary to confirm their roles in cycling fatalities and identify feasible behavioral and environmental targets for injury prevention interventions.

5.2.2 Systematic Review of Severe and Fatal Cycling Injuries in Children and Adults in North America

Previous studies have indicated that age may be related to the types of cycling crashes that occur,[8] so a systematic review was conducted with the aims of comparing the occurrence of fatal cycling injuries to non-fatal severe injury in children compared to adults and the factors associated with each. Twenty-nine studies reported on the occurrence of cycling fatalities, including 15 studies on children, four studies on adults, and ten mixed-population studies. Reporting of associated factors among studies was inconsistent. Proportion of cyclists involved in a collision with a motor vehicle (n=12 for children and n=5 for adults), and the proportions of cyclists who were male (n=12 for children and n=5 for adults) were most common factors reported by age group. Studies were generally of low quality, likely due to the difficulties associated with studying fatal events. While high levels of heterogeneity tempered the strength of conclusions drawn from pooled data, there was no evidence that children experience higher proportions of fatality than adults. In fact, the data indicates that the opposite is true; in both the weighted proportion and the sensitivity analysis using data from studies that included both pediatric and adult populations, adults had a significantly higher proportion of fatalities. Additionally, older adults (\geq 60 years old) had the highest proportion of fatality, at over 14%. In the *post hoc* analyses to identify potential sources of heterogeneity, only groups of pediatric studies conducted in Canada or in regions with mandatory helmet legislation (MHL) during any part of the study period had reduced heterogeneity and lower proportions of cycling fatalities.

Overall, this review suggests that studies of severe and fatal cycling injury events rarely compare differences in severe and fatal cycling injury occurrence between children and adults, provide weak evidence, and have inconsistent reporting of results. Adults have a higher burden of cycling fatality than children, and older adults (≥60 years old) have the highest fatality burden of all. Cycling fatalities are less frequent in Canada. Studying cycling injuries and fatalities at the regional level may provide stronger

evidence for policy- and decision-makers so that injury interventions can be tailored to the local social and physical environments.

5.2.3 Cycling Fatalities in Alberta Canada over a 14-year period

Finally, a descriptive study of cycling fatalities in Alberta from 1998 to 2011 (inclusive) was undertaken. There are few studies of cycling fatalities in Canada and none in a region as sparsely populated as Alberta, as most other Canadian cycling fatality studies have been conducted in Ontario or in the urban centers of British Columbia.[9-12] In the present study, chart review methods were used to collect data on personal characteristics and crash circumstances from the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner of Alberta case files with listed bicycle involvement, and Canadian census data were used to calculate region-specific and provincial age-specific cycling fatality rates.

Overall, this fatality review concluded that cycling fatalities are rare events in Alberta and usually involved adult male cyclists. Crash events mainly occurred during the summer and in urban settings. Collisions with motor vehicles accounted for 68% of fatal crashes. Among fatally injured cyclists in Alberta, helmet use was low and the proportion of head injuries was high; however, the proportion of torso injuries was also high, likely due to the large proportion of crashes that involved collision with a motor vehicle. Alcohol was reported in a quarter of fatalities, frequently in fatal crashes occurring at night and involving younger adults aged 20-44 and 45-64. The population-based fatality rate over the study period was highest in the Alberta Rockies, which has a relatively low population and where cycletouring is popular, and among cyclists ≥65 years old.

5.3 IMPLICATIONS FOR CYCLISTS

Overall, these results suggest several ways in which cyclists can protect themselves from severe injury and death while cycling. First, the most obvious action cyclists can take to protect themselves from severe injury or death while cycling is to avoid interaction with motor vehicles as often as possible

by riding on separated bicycle infrastructure whenever possible, being aware of their surroundings, and cycling courteously when using shared routes. Additionally, where the interconnectedness of cyclist and motorist transportation networks where cycling paths and roads cross is unavoidable, cyclists should take care when coming to an intersection between off-road cycling paths and roads to ensure that motor vehicles have time to see the cyclist and/or the cyclist is able to safely stop, if necessary.

Properly fitted bicycle helmets have been shown repeatedly to decrease rates of cycling-related head injury.[13] Using a properly fitted helmet is one of the simplest things cyclists can do to protect themselves from severe injury and death; however, the cyclist must be wearing the helmet at the time of a crash and the helmet must be properly fitted to obtain full benefit from its use.[14] One intervention that has successfully increased helmet use is MHL. There is some controversy about whether MHL may have other consequences that overshadow the public health benefits associated with increasing helmet use among cyclists.[15, 16] Opponents have raised multiple concerns about MHL including its potential to reduce cycling rates due to cyclists considering wearing a bicycle helmet uncomfortable, inconvenient or unstylish.[17] Fortunately, helmets in a variety of shapes and styles have become available in the past few years, making it increasingly easy for cyclists to find a comfortable helmet.

Although not addressed by results presented here, in part due to lack of reporting of visibility data by severe and fatal cycling injury studies, the use of visibility aids is an easy step that cyclists can take in order to make motor vehicles aware of their presence when riding in darkness. Wearing brightly coloured or reflective clothing, attaching lights to their bicycle or helmet, or applying reflective coatings to the entire bicycle will allow motorists to more easily identify cyclists riding in low-light or at night, especially at intersections between roads and separated bicycle paths. Additionally, using reflective markers around the knees and ankles highlights the biomechanical motion of a cyclist pedaling which

may increase the ability of motorists to see the lighted object (cyclist) in front of them and also to more readily identify it as a cyclist.[18] Earlier identification of a lit or reflective object, such as a cyclist, may enable motorists to better avoid cyclists as they approach.[18] This may be especially helpful in preventing collisions in areas with lower rates of cycling, where motorists may not be used to seeing cyclists at night.[19]

Finally, it is clear that "drinking and cycling" leads to an increased risk of bicycle-related injury and death.[20-22] There has been little research into the reasons why cyclists choose to cycle after drinking; regardless, cyclists need to be aware of the potential dangers and the role of alcohol in severe and fatal cycling crashes.

5.4 IMPLICATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

The quality of the available evidence regarding cycling fatalities is sparse and of generally of low quality. Few reports of controlled or comparative studies on bicycle fatalities in North America exist, and most intervention-based studies reported in our reviews focused on the effectiveness of helmets at preventing head injury and/or interventions to increase their use. While helmets do not mitigate crash incidence or the occurrence of non-head injuries, there are more factors involved in cycling injuries and fatality than helmet use and head injury occurrence, and these additional factors need to be studied in more detail, using etiological and/or comparative methodologies, in order to identify best practice for reduction of severe cycling-related injuries and fatalities. Case-control methods, which compare a risk factor or exposure in people with an outcome of interest to those without the outcome to identify significant differences, are particularly suited to studying rare fatal cycling events in a resource-efficient manner.[23] Additional and higher quality evidence is required surrounding cycling fatalities in order to tailor effective injury prevention strategies and guide policy decisions.

Adult cyclists, especially those >60 years of age, bear the largest injury burden due to severe cycling-related injuries and deaths; therefore, to reduce individual and health system costs due to cycling fatalities, interventions targeting older adult cyclists are needed. Additionally, physical activity has been promoted as especially important for older adults and has been shown to be associated with increased physical resilience,[24] protection against mobility disability,[25] protection against dementia,[26] and promotion of mental health and overall quality of life.[27] Cycling is a common activity among older adults who are physically active,[28] yet these and other results indicate that older adult cyclists may be at greatest risk of fatal injury in the event of a cycling crash compared to cyclists in other age groups.[29] There have been few studies to identify the concurrent factors that may be responsible, which is especially imperative as recent evidence suggests that the burden of injury from cycling may be shifting onto older cyclists.[29] Determining whether older cyclists are more likely to be killed by a cycling injury due to their decreased physical resilience against a traumatic injury, their involvement in collisions at a greater rate due to sensory (e.g., hearing and/or visual) impairment or are involved in different types of collisions than other age groups will be important steps in identifying the course of action most likely to promote safe cycling among older adults.

Another important issue in the field of severe and fatal injury research is the lack of standardized reporting. This issue can be divided into two components: i) non-standardized reporting of concurrent variables, especially by age; and ii) unstable definitions of variables including age categories and crash mechanisms. In the systematic review examining age and its relationship to severe and fatal cycling injuries, it was surprising that even among single age-group (i.e., pediatric only or adult only) studies, not all included studies reported the proportion of cyclists sub-grouped by sex. Multiplicitous definitions of age categories make it difficult to accurately compare results across studies, especially given that many studies did not provide any reasoning for their age cut-offs. This issue is especially applicable to the "adolescent" age category, as patients 12-18 years old are often studied as "children",

although there is evidence that suggest adolescent injuries (ages 12-19) are more similar to adults than to children.[30] In the context of the descriptive study in this thesis, the age-groups were based on previously published reports of Canadian cycling fatalities for ease of comparisons.[9]

Finally, given the importance of mechanism of crash to the potential severity of an injury subsequent to a crash, discrete and standardized definitions for types cycling crashes need to be developed and used within the literature. Despite the importance of mechanism of a cycling crash to injury severity and prevention interventions and differences in mechanism among age groups,[8] the mechanism of crash was infrequently reported. Cycling crashes are often divided into motor-vehicle and cyclist only; however, there may be nuances within those two categories that could be specific targets for injury prevention interventions or strategies. For example, cyclists riding off a path onto a road and subsequently being struck by a motor vehicle may be reduced by installing bicycle-specific traffic signals, barriers and signage to signal to drivers to watch for cyclists where cycling routes intersect roads. Clarity and standardization within the literature will increase the quality of the available evidence and make it easier for public health practitioners and policy-makers to identify specific areas of concern and tailor prevention strategies to meet their specific needs.

5.5 IMPLICATIONS FOR POLICY

A variety of interventions are used around the world to reduce the occurrence of cycling injures. These interventions, which are often part of an overarching road-safety strategy, include education for all road users on how to safely interact with other road users of all types, both during motorist driver training and for children in schools, infrastructure designed to accommodate the needs and safety of vulnerable travelers, and promoting use of visibility equipment, and legislation to support road-user education, safer infrastructure, and use of protective equipment.[31] While cycling injury prevention

strategies affect the safety of cycling, they also affect the public's perception of cycling as a viable alternative to traveling by motor vehicle.

North America has been built upon a motorist culture and the subsequent motorist-centric public perspective may foster a negative view of cyclists by motorists. Although only a minority of cyclists regularly flaunt the law, these few negatively influence motorist perceptions of cyclists which has been characterized as unlawful, careless, risk-takers.[32] This may cause significant resistance by motorists (who are the vast majority of road users in all North American markets) to strategies promoting the safety of cyclists and pedestrians, which could be perceived to be anti-motorist. Although the majority of severe and fatal cycling injuries are the result of cyclist-motor vehicle interactions, traditional cycling injury prevention interventions have relied on fear to change the behavior of cyclists, rather than teaching motorists to look out for the more vulnerable cyclists, or separating cyclists and road users. These fear tactics, however, imply that cycling is a dangerous activity and as a result have decreased pediatric cycling injuries by decreasing the number of pediatric cyclists, which is counterproductive to current health promotion approaches.[33] Organizations aiming to increase cycling and increase cycling safety should instead focus on encouraging motorists to watch for cyclists and on interventions that increase cyclist safety passively, such as by implementing changes in city design and infrastructure planning.

Ultimately, a shift needs to occur in urban design from focusing on the needs of motor vehicles to focus on the needs of people.[34] Creating a safer built-environment is possible and can be accomplished. For example, building cycling lanes and multi-use paths along routes that cyclists already use, creating residential dead-ends and other barriers for motor vehicles while allowing shortcuts for cyclists and pedestrians, implementing traffic calming measures in residential neighbourhoods, locating

commercial spaces close to residential areas so they are accessible by walking and cycling, and installing pedestrian routes through large parking lots will help support a shift away from motorist-centric cities.

Additionally, cycling environment and/or culture may differ significantly among cities or regions in North America, and injury prevention strategies that are successful in one area may not be effective elsewhere. For example, while mandatory helmet legislation for cyclists under the age of 18 in Alberta increased helmet use among both adults and children,[35] similar legislation in California showed no effect on helmet use.[36] Alternatively, cyclists avoid cycling routes that are hilly;[32] in hilled regions efforts should be made to increase bicycle-accessible public transportation, such as ensuring bicycles are easily transportable by public transit or ensuring transit centers have adequate (in both amount and level of protection) bicycle parking facilities. Implementing strategies to improve the safety of cycling will help to increase cycling participation, but will require careful planning and marketing of the benefits of safer cycling to all road users, coupled with evidence to support the proposed strategy which should be tailored to the region.

Finally, it has also been suggested by legal experts that the current state of traffic laws in North America are suboptimal for increasing road safety of both cyclists and motorists and it has been proposed that governments review/revise their current laws to more accurately reflect the danger proposed both to and from cyclists and motorists. For example, allowing the "Idaho stop", which allows cyclists to treat stop signs as a yield, and redefining right-of-way for areas where cyclists and motor vehicles are often at conflict, such as crossings between cycling infrastructure and motor vehicle traffic, should be encouraged.[37]

In addition to encouraging safe cycling habits among cyclists, for the safety of cycling in North America to truly increase, some of the responsibility for the safety of non-motorized road users (i.e., cyclists and pedestrians) needs to shift back onto motorists. Strategies to increase the safety and

convenience of cycling should be marketed in a manner that highlights the benefits to all road users, such as the convenience of walking/cycling over short trips and the potential reduction of traffic congestion with greater participation in cycling. Implementation of cycling safety strategies also needs to be carried out with sufficient evidence to support their potential effectiveness and concordant evaluation programs to ensure limited resources are not squandered on interventions with limited effectiveness.

5.6 CONCLUSION

Many factors contribute to the occurrence of severe and fatal cycling injuries. Identifying these factors and how they relate to the severity of injury is important for the development of injury prevention strategies. Considering that the perceived lack of safety is consistently cited as one of the main reasons for not cycling, identifying the factors associated with cycling injuries in regional contexts will help decision-makers to implement appropriate interventions to increase the perceived and actual safety of cycling in order to promote it as a healthy and "green" mode of transportation.

5.7 REFERENCES

- Winters M, Teschke K. Route preferences among adults in the near market for bicycling: findings of the cycling in cities study. *Am J Health Promot* 2010;25(1):40-7. doi:10.4278/ajhp.081006-QUAN-236
- 2. Sahai VS, Ward MS, Zmijowskyj T, et al. Quantifying the iceberg effect for injury: using comprehensive community health data. *Can J Public Health* 2005;96(5):328-32.
- Lopez DS, Sunjaya DB, Chan S, et al. Using trauma center data to identify missed bicycle injuries and their associated costs. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg* 2012;73(6):1602-6. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e318265fc04
- 4. Teschke K, Harris MA, Reynolds CC, et al. Exposure-based traffic crash injury rates by mode of travel in British Columbia. *Can J Public Health* 2013;104(1):e75-9.
- Beck LF, Dellinger AM, O'Neil ME. Motor vehicle crash injury rates by mode of travel, United States: using exposure-based methods to quantify differences. *Am J Epidemiol* 2007;166(2):212-8. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm064
- 6. Miller TR, Zaloshnja E, Lawrence BA, et al. Pedestrian and pedalcyclist injury costs in the United States by age and injury severity. *Annu Proc Assoc Adv Automot Med* 2004;48:265-84.
- Naumann RB, Dellinger AM, Zaloshnja E, et al. Incidence and total lifetime costs of motor vehiclerelated fatal and nonfatal injury by road user type, United States, 2005. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2010;11(4):353-60. doi:10.1080/15389588.2010.486429
- Siman-Tov M, Jaffe DH, Peleg K. Bicycle injuries: a matter of mechanism and age. Accid Anal Prev 2012;44(1):135-9. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.006
- 9. Rowe BH, Rowe AM, Bota GW. Bicyclist and environmental factors associated with fatal bicyclerelated trauma in Ontario. *CMAJ* 1995;152(1):45-53.
- 10. Persaud N, Coleman E, Zwolakowski D, et al. Nonuse of bicycle helmets and risk of fatal head injury:
 a proportional mortality, case-control study. *CMAJ* 2012;184(17):E921-3.
 doi:10.1503/cmaj.120988

- Konkin DE, Garraway N, Hameed SM, et al. Population-based analysis of severe injuries from nonmotorized wheeled vehicles. *Am J Surg* 2006;191(5):615-8. doi:10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.02.012
- Spence LJ, Dykes EH, Bohn DJ, et al. Fatal bicycle accidents in children: a plea for prevention. J Pediatr Surg 1993;28(2):214-6. doi:10.1016/S0022-3468(05)80278-7
- 13. Thompson DC, Rivara FP, Thompson R. Helmets for preventing head and facial injuries in bicyclists. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2000(2):CD001855.
- 14. Rivara FP, Astley SJ, Clarren SK, et al. Fit of bicycle safety helmets and risk of head injuries in children. Inj Prev 1999;5(3):194-7.
- 15. Robinson DL. Bicycle helmet legislation: can we reach a consensus? *Accid Anal Prev* 2007;39(1):86-93. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2006.06.007
- 16. Macpherson A, Spinks A. Bicycle helmet legislation for the uptake of helmet use and prevention of head injuries. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2008(3):CD005401. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD005401.pub3
- 17. Rezendes JL. Bicycle helmets: overcoming barriers to use and increasing effectiveness. *J Pediatr Nurs* 2006;21(1):35-44. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2005.06.005
- Wood JM, Tyrrell RA, Marszalek R, et al. Bicyclists overestimate their own night-time conspicuity and underestimate the benefits of retroreflective markers on the moveable joints. *Accid Anal Prev* 2013;55:48-53. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.02.033
- 19. Tin Tin S, Woodward A, Ameratunga S. The role of conspicuity in preventing bicycle crashes involving a motor vehicle. *European journal of public health* 2015;25(3):517-22.
 doi:10.1093/eurpub/cku117
- 20. Crocker P, Zad O, Milling T, et al. Alcohol, bicycling, and head and brain injury: a study of impaired cyclists' riding patterns R1. *Am J Emerg Med* 2010;28(1):68-72. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2008.09.011
- 21. Li G, Baker SP, Smialek JE, et al. Use of alcohol as a risk factor for bicycling injury. *JAMA* 2001;285(7):893-6.

- 22. Asbridge M, Mann R, Cusimano MD, et al. Cycling-related crash risk and the role of cannabis and alcohol: a case-crossover study. *Prev Med* 2014;66:80-6. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.06.006
- 23. Schulz KF, Grimes DA. Case-control studies: research in reverse. *The Lancet* 2002;359(9304):431-34. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07605-5
- 24. Gregg EW, Pereira MA, Caspersen CJ. Physical activity, falls, and fractures among older adults: a review of the epidemiologic evidence. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2000;48(8):883-93.
- 25. Pahor M, Guralnik JM, Ambrosius WT, et al. Effect of structured physical activity on prevention of major mobility disability in older adults: the LIFE study randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2014;311(23):2387-96. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.5616
- 26. Larson EB, Wang L, Bowen JD, et al. Exercise is associated with reduced risk for incident dementia among persons 65 years of age and older. *Ann Intern Med* 2006;144(2):73-81.
- 27. Strawbridge WJ, Deleger S, Roberts RE, et al. Physical activity reduces the risk of subsequent depression for older adults. *Am J Epidemiol* 2002;156(4):328-34.
- Yusuf HR, Croft JB, Giles WH, et al. Leisure-time physical activity among older adults. United States, 1990. Arch Intern Med 1996;156(12):1321-6.
- 29. Sanford T, McCulloch CE, Callcut RA, et al. Bicycle Trauma Injuries and Hospital Admissions in the United States, 1998-2013. *JAMA* 2015;314(9):947-9. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.8295
- 30. Mitra B, Cameron PA, Butt W, et al. Children or young adults? A population-based study on adolescent head injury. *ANZ journal of surgery* 2006;76(5):343-50. doi:10.1111/j.1445-2197.2006.03723.x
- 31. Pucher J, Buehler R. Making Cycling Irresistible: Lessons from The Netherlands, Denmark and Germany. *Transport Rev* 2008;28(4):495-528. doi:10.1080/01441640701806612
- 32. Daley M, Rissel C. Perspectives and images of cycling as a barrier or facilitator of cycling. *Transport Policy* 2011;18(1):211-16. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2010.08.004</u>

- 33. Jacobsen PL, Racioppi F, Rutter H. Who owns the roads? How motorised traffic discourages walking and bicycling. *Inj Prev* 2009;15(6):369-73. doi:10.1136/ip.2009.022566
- 34. Pucher J, Buehler R, Seinen M. Bicycling renaissance in North America? An update and re-appraisal of cycling trends and policies. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 2011;45(6):451-75. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2011.03.001</u>
- 35. Karkhaneh M, Rowe BH, Saunders LD, et al. Bicycle helmet use four years after the introduction of helmet legislation in Alberta, Canada. Accid Anal Prev 2011;43(3):788-96. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.026
- 36. Castle SL, Burke RV, Arbogast H, et al. Bicycle helmet legislation and injury patterns in trauma patients under age 18. *J Surg Res* 2012;173(2):327-31. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2010.10.031
- 37. Waters C. The Rebirth of Bicycling Law? *The Canadian Bar Review* 2013;91(2):395 416.

Bibliography

- Ackery AD, McLellan BA, Redelmeier DA. Bicyclist Deaths and Striking Vehicles in the USA. *Injury Prevention* 2012;18(1):22-26. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2011-040066
- Agran PF, Castillo DN, Winn DG. Limitations of Data Compiled from Police Reports on Pediatric Pedestrian and Bicycle Motor Vehicle Events. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 1990;22(4):361-370.

Alberta Center for Injury Control,. Bicycle-Related Injuries Fact Sheet. Edmonton, ON. 2008.

- Ameratunga S, Hijar M, Norton R. Road-Traffic Injuries: Confronting Disparities to Address a Global-Health Problem. *Lancet* 2006;367(9521):1533-1540. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68654-6
- Amoros E, Chiron M, Martin JL, Thelot B, Laumon B. Bicycle Helmet Wearing and the Risk of Head, Face, and Neck Injury: A French Case--Control Study Based on a Road Trauma Registry. *Injury Prevention* 2012;18(1):27-32. doi:10.1136/ip.2011.031815

Andersson AL, Bunketorp O. Cycling and Alcohol. Injury 2002;33(6):467-471.

- Anzures-Cabrera J, Higgins JPT. Graphical Displays for Meta-Analysis: An Overview with Suggestions for Practice. *Research Synthesis Methods* 2010;1(1):66-80. doi:10.1002/jrsm.6
- Armijo-Olivo S, Stiles CR, Hagen NA, Biondo PD, Cummings GG. Assessment of Study Quality for
 Systematic Reviews: A Comparison of the Cochrane Collaboration Risk of Bias Tool and the Effective
 Public Health Practice Project Quality Assessment Tool: Methodological Research. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 2012;18(1):12-18. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2753.2010.01516.x
- Asbridge M, Mann R, Cusimano MD, Tallon JM, Pauley C, Rehm J. Cycling-Related Crash Risk and the Role of Cannabis and Alcohol: A Case-Crossover Study. *Preventive Medicine* 2014;66:80-86. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.06.006
- Bambach MR, Mitchell RJ, Grzebieta RH, Olivier J. The Effectiveness of Helmets in Bicycle Collisions with Motor Vehicles: A Case-Control Study. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2013;53:78-88. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.01.005

- Beck LF, Dellinger AM, O'Neil ME. Motor Vehicle Crash Injury Rates by Mode of Travel, United States:
 Using Exposure-Based Methods to Quantify Differences. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2007;166(2):212-218. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm064
- Bergenstal J, Davis SM, Sikora R, Paulson D, Whiteman C. Pediatric Bicycle Injury Prevention and the
 Effect of Helmet Use: The West Virginia Experience. West Virginia Medical Journal 2012;108(3):7881.
- Bergström A, Magnusson R. Potential of Transferring Car Trips to Bicycle During Winter. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice 2003;37(8):649-666. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0965-8564(03)00012-0
- Bil M, Bilova M, Muller I. Critical Factors in Fatal Collisions of Adult Cyclists with Automobiles. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2010;42(6):1632-1636. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.04.001
- Boone-Heinonen J, Jacobs DR, Jr., Sidney S, Sternfeld B, Lewis CE, Gordon-Larsen P. A Walk (or Cycle) to the Park: Active Transit to Neighborhood Amenities, the Cardia Study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2009;37(4):285-292. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.06.006
- Boufous S, Rome LD, Senserrick T, Ivers R. Cycling Crashes in Children, Adolescents, and Adults--a Comparative Analysis. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2011;12(3):244-250. doi:10.1080/15389588.2011.563333
- Brown RL, Koepplinger ME, Mehlman CT, Gittelman M, Garcia VF. All-Terrain Vehicle and Bicycle Crashes in Children: Epidemiology and Comparison of Injury Severity. *Journal of Pediatric Surgery* 2002;37(3):375-380.
- Brubacher JR, Chan H, Brasher P, Erdelyi S, Desapriya E, Asbridge M, Purssell R, Macdonald S, Schuurman N, Pike I. Reduction in Fatalities, Ambulance Calls, and Hospital Admissions for Road Trauma after Implementation of New Traffic Laws. *American Journal of Public Health* 2014;104(10):e89-97. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302068
- Buehler R. Transport Policies, Travel Behavior, and Sustainability: A Comparison of Germany and the U.S. Rutgers The State University of New Jersey - New Brunswick, 2008.
- Burglin P, Simons B, Kuwatch E. Drunk Bicycling. In: Pringle A, editor. *California Drunk Driving Law*. Costa Mesa, CA: James Publishing, 2002:1-51.

- Canadian Motor Vehicle Traffic Collision Statistics 2013. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Minister of Public Works, 2015.
- Cass D, Lauwers B, Persaud N, Zwolakowski D, Coleman E. Cycling Death Review: A Review of All Accidental Cycling Deaths in Ontario from January 1st, 2006 to December 31st, 2010. Toronto, ON: Office of the Chief Coroner, 2012.

http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/DeathInvestigations/office_coroner/PublicationsandReport s/CyclingDeathReview/DI_Cycling_Death_Review.html

- Castle SL, Burke RV, Arbogast H, Upperman JS. Bicycle Helmet Legislation and Injury Patterns in Trauma Patients under Age 18. *Journal of Surgical Research* 2012;173(2):327-331. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2010.10.031
- Census Subdivision Boundary File. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada. 2006. http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/geo/bound-limit-eng.cfm
- Chen WS, Dunn RY, Chen AJ, Linakis JG. Epidemiology of Nonfatal Bicycle Injuries Presenting to United States Emergency Departments, 2001-2008. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 2013;20(6):570-575.
- Cheng TL, Fields CB, Brenner RA, Wright JL, Lomax T, Scheidt PC. Sports Injuries: An Important Cause of Morbidity in Urban Youth. District of Columbia Child/Adolescent Injury Research Network. *Pediatrics* 2000;105(3):E32.
- Cobey KD, Stulp G, Laan F, Buunk AP, Pollet TV. Sex Differences in Risk Taking Behavior among Dutch Cyclists. *Evol Psychol* 2013;11(2):350-364.
- Coronado VG, Haileyesus T, Cheng TA, Bell JM, Haarbauer-Krupa J, Lionbarger MR, Flores-Herrera J, McGuire LC, Gilchrist J. Trends in Sports- and Recreation-Related Traumatic Brain Injuries Treated in Us Emergency Departments: The National Electronic Injury Surveillance System-All Injury Program (Neiss-Aip) 2001-2012. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation* 2015;30(3):185-197. doi:10.1097/HTR.00000000000156
- Corra S, Girardi P, de Giorgi F, Braggion M. Severe and Polytraumatic Injuries among Recreational Skiers and Snowboarders: Incidence, Demographics and Injury Patterns in South Tyrol. *European Journal of Emergency Medicine* 2012;19(2):69-72. doi:10.1097/MEJ.0b013e328347c1e9

Cragg S, Cameron C, Craig CI. 2004 National Transportation Survey. Ottawa, ON, 2006.

- Crocker P, Zad O, Milling T, Lawson KA. Alcohol, Bicycling, and Head and Brain Injury: A Study of Impaired Cyclists' Riding Patterns R1. *American Journal of Emergency Medicine* 2010;28(1):68-72. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2008.09.011
- Cushman R, Down J, MacMillan N, Waclawik H. Bicycle-Related Injuries: A Survey in a Pediatric Emergency Department. *CMAJ* 1990;143(2):108-112.
- Cusimano MD, Faress A, Luong WP, Lockhart S, Amin K, Garland RJ, Russell K. Evaluation of a Bicycle Helmet Safety Program for Children. *Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences* 2013;40(5):710-716.
- Daley M, Rissel C. Perspectives and Images of Cycling as a Barrier or Facilitator of Cycling. *Transport Policy* 2011;18(1):211-216. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2010.08.004
- Davidson JA. Epidemiology and Outcome of Bicycle Injuries Presenting to an Emergency Department in the United Kingdom. *European Journal of Emergency Medicine* 2005;12(1):24-29.
- Davison CM, Torunian M, Walsh P, Thompson W, McFaull S, Pickett W. Bicycle Helmet Use and Bicycling-Related Injury among Young Canadians: An Equity Analysis. *Int J Equity Health* 2013;12:48. doi:10.1186/1475-9276-12-48
- de Waard D, Houwing S, Lewis-Evans B, Twisk D, Brookhuis K. Bicycling under the Influence of Alcohol. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2015.03.003
- Dellinger AM, Kresnow MJ. Bicycle Helmet Use among Children in the United States: The Effects of Legislation, Personal and Household Factors. J Safety Res 2010;41(4):375-380. doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2010.05.003
- Dennis J, Ramsay T, Turgeon AF, Zarychanski R. Helmet Legislation and Admissions to Hospital for Cycling Related Head Injuries in Canadian Provinces and Territories: Interrupted Time Series Analysis. *BMJ* 2013;346:f2674. doi:10.1136/bmj.f2674
- Dhillon PK, Lightstone AS, Peek-Asa C, Kraus JF. Assessment of Hospital and Police Ascertainment of Automobile Versus Childhood Pedestrian and Bicyclist Collisions. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2001;33(4):529-537.

- Dong X, Peek-Asa C, Yang J, Wang S, Chen X, Chi G, Ramirez M. The Association of Road Safety Knowledge and Risk Behaviour with Paediatric Road Traffic Injury in Guangzhou, China. *Injury Prevention* 2011;17(1):15-20. doi:10.1136/ip.2010.027540
- Ducheyne F, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Lenoir M, Cardon G. Does a Cycle Training Course Improve Cycling Skills in Children? *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2013;59:38-45. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.05.018
- Dultz LA, Foltin G, Simon R, Wall SP, Levine DA, Bholat O, Slaughter-Larkem D, Jacko S, Marr M, Glass NE, Pachter HL, Frangos SG. Vulnerable Roadway Users Struck by Motor Vehicles at the Center of the Safest, Large Us City. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg* 2013;74(4):1138-1145. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e31827ab722
- Durkin MS, Laraque D, Lubman I, Barlow B. Epidemiology and Prevention of Traffic Injuries to Urban Children and Adolescents. *Pediatrics* 1999;103(6):e74.
- Effective Public Health Practice Project. Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies: Effective Public Health Practice Project, 2009.
- Eichelberger A, Cicchino JB, McCartt AT. Profile of Fatally Injured Pedestrians and Bicyclists in the United States with High Blood Alcohol Concentrations. *20th International Council on Alcohol, Drugs and Traffic Safety Conference*. Brisbane, Australia, 2013.
- Eichelberger AH, Chouinard AO, Jermakian JS. Effects of Booster Seat Laws on Injury Risk among Children in Crashes. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2012;13(6):631-639. doi:10.1080/15389588.2012.660663
- Elliott S, Woolacott H, Braithwaite R. The Prevalence of Drugs and Alcohol Found in Road Traffic Fatalities: A Comparative Study of Victims. *Science and Justice* 2009;49(1):19-23. doi:10.1016/j.scijus.2008.06.001
- Farmer P, Howard A, Rothman L, Macpherson A. Booster Seat Laws and Child Fatalities: A Case-Control Study. *Injury Prevention* 2009;15(5):348-350. doi:10.1136/ip.2008.021204
- Fife D, Davis J, Tate L, Wells JK, Mohan D, Williams A. Fatal Injuries to Bicyclists: The Experience of Dade County, Florida. *Journal of Trauma* 1983;23(8):745-755.
- Finch C, Valuri G, Ozanne-Smith J. Sport and Active Recreation Injuries in Australia: Evidence from Emergency Department Presentations. *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 1998;32(3):220-225.

- Frank E, Frankel P, Mullins RJ, Taylor N. Injuries Resulting from Bicycle Collisions. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 1995;2(3):200-203. doi:10.1111/j.1553-2712.1995.tb03198.x
- Garrard J, Rose G, Lo SK. Promoting Transportation Cycling for Women: The Role of Bicycle Infrastructure. *Preventive Medicine* 2008;46(1):55-59. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.07.010
- Rates of Severe Injury and Fatality Resulting from Bicycling in Canada and the United States. York, UK: University of York. 2014. http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display_record.asp?ID=CRD42014013769
- Gaudet L, Romanow NT, Nettel-Aguirre A, et al. The epidemiology of fatal cyclist crashes over a 14-year period in Alberta, Canada. *BMC public health* 2015;15(1):1142. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2476-9
- Gregg EW, Pereira MA, Caspersen CJ. Physical Activity, Falls, and Fractures among Older Adults: A Review of the Epidemiologic Evidence. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2000;48(8):883-893.
- Grenier T, Deckelbaum DL, Boulva K, Drudi L, Feyz M, Rodrigue N, Tze N, Fata P, Khwaja K, Chughtai T, Razek T. A Descriptive Study of Bicycle Helmet Use in Montreal, 2011. *Canadian Journal of Public Health Revue Canadienne de Sante Publique* 2013;104(5):e400-404.
- Hagel BE, Lee RS, Karkhaneh M, Voaklander D, Rowe BH. Factors Associated with Incorrect Bicycle Helmet Use. *Injury Prevention* 2010;16(3):178-184. doi:10.1136/ip.2009.023994
- Hagel BE, Romanow NT, Enns N, Williamson J, Rowe BH. Severe Bicycling Injury Risk Factors in Children and Adolescents: A Case-Control Study. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2015;78:165-172. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2015.03.002
- Haider AH, Chang DC, Haut ER, Cornwell EE, 3rd, Efron DT. Mechanism of Injury Predicts Patient
 Mortality and Impairment after Blunt Trauma. *Journal of Surgical Research* 2009;153(1):138-142.
 doi:10.1016/j.jss.2008.04.011
- Hamann C, Peek-Asa C. On-Road Bicycle Facilities and Bicycle Crashes in Iowa, 2007-2010. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2013;56:103-109. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2012.12.031
- Hamann C, Peek-Asa C, Lynch CF, Ramirez M, Torner J. Burden of Hospitalizations for Bicycling Injuries by Motor Vehicle Involvement: United States, 2002 to 2009. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery* 2013;75(5):870-876.

- Harris AW, Jones CA, Rowe BH, Voaklander DC. A Population-Based Study of Sport and Recreation-Related Head Injuries Treated in a Canadian Health Region. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport* 2012;15(4):298-304. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2011.12.005
- Harris MA, Reynolds CC, Winters M, Cripton PA, Shen H, Chipman ML, Cusimano MD, Babul S, Brubacher JR, Friedman SM, Hunte G, Monro M, Vernich L, Teschke K. Comparing the Effects of Infrastructure on Bicycling Injury at Intersections and Non-Intersections Using a Case-Crossover Design. *Injury Prevention* 2013;19(5):303-310. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2012-040561
- Hawley DA, Clark MA, Pless JE. Fatalities Involving Bicycles: A Non-Random Population. *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 1995;40(2):205-207.
- Heesch KC, Garrard J, Sahlqvist S. Incidence, Severity and Correlates of Bicycling Injuries in a Sample of Cyclists in Queensland, Australia. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2011;43(6):2085-2092. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2011.05.031
- Helmkamp JC, Aitken ME, Lawrence BA. Atv and Bicycle Deaths and Associated Costs in the United States, 2000-2005. *Public Health Reports* 2009;124(3):409-418.
- Hoevenaar-Blom MP, Wendel-Vos GC, Spijkerman AM, Kromhout D, Verschuren WM. Cycling and Sports, but Not Walking, Are Associated with 10-Year Cardiovascular Disease Incidence: The Morgen Study. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil* 2011;18(1):41-47. doi:10.1097/HJR.0b013e32833bfc87
- Hooshmand J, Hotz G, Neilson V, Chandler L. Bikesafe: Evaluating a Bicycle Safety Program for Middle School Aged Children. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2014;66:182-186. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2014.01.011
- Houston DJ, Richardson LE, Jr., Neeley GW. Mandatory Seat Belt Laws in the States. A Study of Fatal and Severe Occupant Injuries. *EvaluationReview* 1996;20(2):146-159.
- Hu X, Wesson DE, Chipman ML, Parkin PC. Bicycling Exposure and Severe Injuries in School-Age Children. A Population-Based Study. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine* 1995;149(4):437-441.
- Injuries Associated with Bicycles: Canadian Hospitals Injury Reporting and Prevention Program (Chirpp) Database. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Minister of Health, 2006.
- Injury Facts. United States: National Safety Council,, 2012.

- Jacobsen PL. Safety in Numbers: More Walkers and Bicyclists, Safer Walking and Bicycling. *Injury Prevention* 2003;9(3):205-209.
- Jacobsen PL, Racioppi F, Rutter H. Who Owns the Roads? How Motorised Traffic Discourages Walking and Bicycling. *Injury Prevention* 2009;15(6):369-373. doi:10.1136/ip.2009.022566
- Johnson M, Newstead S, Biegler P. Too Drunk to Ride? Insights on Cyclists' Behaviour and Attitudes Towards Alcohol, Drugs and Cycling *2013 Australasian Road Safety Research, Policing & Education Conference*. Brisbane, Australia, 2013.
- Karkhaneh M, Rowe BH, Saunders LD, Voaklander DC, Hagel BE. Bicycle Helmet Use Four Years after the Introduction of Helmet Legislation in Alberta, Canada. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2011;43(3):788-796. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.026
- Karkhaneh M, Rowe BH, Saunders LD, Voaklander DC, Hagel BE. Trends in Head Injuries Associated with Mandatory Bicycle Helmet Legislation Targeting Children and Adolescents. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2013;59:206-212.
- Kelly KD, Lissel HL, Rowe BH, Vincenten JA, Voaklander DC. Sport and Recreation-Related Head Injuries Treated in the Emergency Department. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine* 2001;11(2):77-81.
- Kim JK, Kim S, Ulfarsson GF, Porrello LA. Bicyclist Injury Severities in Bicycle-Motor Vehicle Accidents. Accident Analysis and Prevention 2007;39(2):238-251. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2006.07.002
- King MJ, Wood JM, Lacherez PF, Marszalek RP. Optimism About Safety and Group-Serving Interpretations of Safety among Pedestrians and Cyclists in Relation to Road Use in General and under Low Light Conditions. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2012;44(1):154-159. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.12.003
- Konkin DE, Garraway N, Hameed SM, Brown DR, Granger R, Wheeler S, Simons RK. Population-Based Analysis of Severe Injuries from Nonmotorized Wheeled Vehicles. *American Journal of Surgery* 2006;191(5):615-618. doi:10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.02.012
- Kraus JF, Black MA, Hessol N, Ley P, Rokaw W, Sullivan C, Bowers S, Knowlton S, Marshall L. The Incidence of Acute Brain Injury and Serious Impairment in a Defined Population. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1984;119(2):186-201.

- Kraus JF, Fife D, Conroy C. Incidence, Severity, and Outcomes of Brain Injuries Involving Bicycles. *American Journal of Public Health* 1987;77(1):76-78.
- Lachapelle U, Noland RB, Von Hagen LA. Teaching Children About Bicycle Safety: An Evaluation of the New Jersey Bike School Program. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2013;52:237-249. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2012.09.015

Laker L. Volvo Life Paint Comes under Fire While Freebies Fly Off the Shelves, 2015.

- Larson EB, Wang L, Bowen JD, McCormick WC, Teri L, Crane P, Kukull W. Exercise Is Associated with Reduced Risk for Incident Dementia among Persons 65 Years of Age and Older. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2006;144(2):73-81.
- Leblanc JC, Beattie TL, Culligan C. Effect of Legislation on the Use of Bicycle Helmets. *CMAJ* 2002;166(5):592-595.
- Li G, Baker SP. Alcohol in Fatally Injured Bicyclists. Accident Analysis and Prevention 1994;26(4):543-548.
- Li G, Baker SP, Fowler C, DiScala C. Factors Related to the Presence of Head Injury in Bicycle-Related Pediatric Trauma Patients. *Journal of Trauma* 1995;38(6):871-875.
- Li G, Baker SP, Smialek JE, Soderstrom CA. Use of Alcohol as a Risk Factor for Bicycling Injury. *JAMA* 2001;285(7):893-896.
- Li G, Baker SP, Sterling S, Smialek JE, Dischinger PC, Soderstrom CA. A Comparative Analysis of Alcohol in Fatal and Nonfatal Bicycling Injuries. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research* 1996;20(9):1553-1559.
- Li G, Shahpar C, Soderstrom CA, Baker SP. Alcohol Use in Relation to Driving Records among Injured Bicyclists. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2000;32(4):583-587. doi:10.1016/S0001-4575(99)00089-5
- Lindsay G, Macmillan A, Woodward A. Moving Urban Trips from Cars to Bicycles: Impact on Health and Emissions. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health* 2011;35(1):54-60. doi:10.1111/j.1753-6405.2010.00621.x
- Linn S, Smith D, Sheps S. Epidemiology of Bicycle Injury, Head Injury, and Helmet Use among Children in British Columbia: A Five Year Descriptive Study. Canadian Hospitals Injury, Reporting and Prevention Program (Chirpp). *Injury Prevention* 1998;4(2):122-125.

- Lopez DS, Sunjaya DB, Chan S, Dobbins S, Dicker RA. Using Trauma Center Data to Identify Missed
 Bicycle Injuries and Their Associated Costs. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Sugery* 2012;73(6):1602-1606. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e318265fc04
- Lovstrom L, Webb KJ, Ruest N, Villa-Roel C, Nettel-Aguirre A, Hagel BE, Rowe BH. An Evaluation of the Environmental Factors and Behavioural Factors Contributing to Bike Fatalities in Alberta. *CJEM* 2013;15(Suppl 1):S34.
- Lusk AC, Mekary RA, Feskanich D, Willett WC. Bicycle Riding, Walking, and Weight Gain in Premenopausal Women. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2010;170(12):1050-1056. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2010.171
- Lustenberger T, Inaba K, Talving P, Barmparas G, Schnuriger B, Green D, Plurad D, Demetriades D. Bicyclists Injured by Automobiles: Relationship of Age to Injury Type and Severity--a National Trauma Databank Analysis. *Journal of Trauma* 2010;69(5):1120-1125. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e3181d0f68b
- Macpherson A, Spinks A. Bicycle Helmet Legislation for the Uptake of Helmet Use and Prevention of Head Injuries. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2008(3):CD005401. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD005401.pub3
- Macpherson AK, Macarthur C, To TM, Chipman ML, Wright JG, Parkin PC. Economic Disparity in Bicycle Helmet Use by Children Six Years after the Introduction of Legislation. *Injury Prevention* 2006;12(4):231-235. doi:10.1136/ip.2005.011379
- Macpherson AK, To TM, Macarthur C, Chipman ML, Wright JG, Parkin PC. Impact of Mandatory Helmet Legislation on Bicycle-Related Head Injuries in Children: A Population-Based Study. *Pediatrics* 2002;110(5):e60.
- Mader EM, Zick CD. Active Transportation: Do Current Traffic Safety Policies Protect Non-Motorists? Accident Analysis and Prevention 2014;67:7-13. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2014.01.022
- Madsen JC, Andersen T, Lahrmann HS. Safety Effects of Permanent Running Lights for Bicycles: A Controlled Experiment. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2013;50:820-829. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2012.07.006
- Manson J, Cooper S, West A, Foster E, Cole E, Tai NR. Major Trauma and Urban Cyclists: Physiological Status and Injury Profile. *Emerg Med J* 2013;30(1):32-37. doi:10.1136/emermed-2011-200966

- Martinez-Ruiz V, Jimenez-Mejias E, Luna-del-Castillo Jde D, Garcia-Martin M, Jimenez-Moleon JJ, Lardelli-Claret P. Association of Cyclists' Age and Sex with Risk of Involvement in a Crash before and after Adjustment for Cycling Exposure. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2014;62:259-267. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.10.011
- Martinez-Ruiz V, Lardelli-Claret P, Jimenez-Mejias E, Amezcua-Prieto C, Jimenez-Moleon JJ, Luna del Castillo Jde D. Risk Factors for Causing Road Crashes Involving Cyclists: An Application of a Quasi-Induced Exposure Method. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2013;51:228-237. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2012.11.023
- Matthews CE, Jurj AL, Shu XO, Li HL, Yang G, Li Q, Gao YT, Zheng W. Influence of Exercise, Walking, Cycling, and Overall Nonexercise Physical Activity on Mortality in Chinese Women. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2007;165(12):1343-1350. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm088
- Meehan WP, 3rd, Lee LK, Fischer CM, Mannix RC. Bicycle Helmet Laws Are Associated with a Lower Fatality Rate from Bicycle-Motor Vehicle Collisions. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2013;163(3):726-729. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.03.073
- Mehan TJ, Gardner R, Smith GA, McKenzie LB. Bicycle-Related Injuries among Children and Adolescents in the United States. *Clinical Pediatrics* 2009;48(2):166-173. doi:10.1177/0009922808324952
- Meuleners LB, Lee AH, Haworth C. Emergency Presentations by Vulnerable Road Users: Implications for Injury Prevention. *Injury Prevention* 2006;12(1):12-14. doi:10.1136/ip.2005.010389
- Miller TR, Zaloshnja E, Lawrence BA, Crandall J, Ivarsson J, Finkelstein AE. Pedestrian and Pedalcyclist Injury Costs in the United States by Age and Injury Severity. *Annu Proc Assoc Adv Automot Med* 2004;48:265-284.
- Minikel E. Cyclist Safety on Bicycle Boulevards and Parallel Arterial Routes in Berkeley, California. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2012;45:241-247. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2011.07.009
- Ministry of Justice and Solicitor General. Death Investigations. Edmonton, Alberta: Government of Alberta.
- Mitra B, Cameron PA, Butt W, Rosenfeld JV. Children or Young Adults? A Population-Based Study on Adolescent Head Injury. *ANZ J Surg* 2006;76(5):343-350. doi:10.1111/j.1445-2197.2006.03723.x

- Morris JN, Clayton DG, Everitt MG, Semmence AM, Burgess EH. Exercise in Leisure Time: Coronary Attack and Death Rates. *British Heart Journal* 1990;63(6):325-334.
- Muelleman RL, Wadman MC, Tran TP, Ullrich F, Anderson JR. Rural Motor Vehicle Crash Risk of Death Is Higher after Controlling for Injury Severity. *Journal of Trauma* 2007;62(1):221-225; discussion 225-226. doi:10.1097/01.ta.0000231696.65548.06
- Nagel RW, Hankenhof BJ, Kimmel SR, Saxe JM. Educating Grade School Children Using a Structured Bicycle Safety Program. *Journal of Trauma* 2003;55(5):920-923.
 doi:10.1097/01.TA.0000092682.79696.FA
- Naumann RB, Dellinger AM, Zaloshnja E, Lawrence BA, Miller TR. Incidence and Total Lifetime Costs of Motor Vehicle-Related Fatal and Nonfatal Injury by Road User Type, United States, 2005. *Traffic injury prevention* 2010;11(4):353-360. doi:10.1080/15389588.2010.486429
- Neyeloff JL, Fuchs SC, Moreira LB. Meta-Analyses and Forest Plots Using a Microsoft Excel Spreadsheet: Step-by-Step Guide Focusing on Descriptive Data Analysis. *BMC Res Notes* 2012;5:52. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-5-52
- Ni H. Evaluation of the Oregon Bicycle Helmet Use Law on Bicycle Helmet Usage and Bicycle-Related Head Injuries. Oregon State University, 1996.
- Nicaj L, Stayton C, Mandel-Ricci J, McCarthy P, Grasso K, Woloch D, Kerker B. Bicyclist Fatalities in New York City: 1996-2005. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2009;10(2):157-161. doi:10.1080/15389580802641761
- Nyberg P, Bjornstig U, Bygren LO. Road Characteristics and Bicycle Accidents. *Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine* 1996;24(4):293-301.
- Oja P, Titze S, Bauman A, de Geus B, Krenn P, Reger-Nash B, Kohlberger T. Health Benefits of Cycling: A Systematic Review. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports* 2011;21(4):496-509. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011.01299.x
- Olivier J, Walter SR, Grzebieta RH. Long Term Bicycle Related Head Injury Trends for New South Wales, Australia Following Mandatory Helmet Legislation. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2013;50:1128-1134. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2012.09.003

- Orsi C, Ferraro OE, Montomoli C, Otte D, Morandi A. Alcohol Consumption, Helmet Use and Head Trauma in Cycling Collisions in Germany. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2014;65:97-104. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.12.019
- Osberg JS, Stiles SC, Asare OK. Bicycle Safety Behavior in Paris and Boston. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 1998;30(5):679-687.
- Owen R, Kendrick D, Mulvaney C, Coleman T, Royal S. Non-Legislative Interventions for the Promotion of Cycle Helmet Wearing by Children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011(11):CD003985. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003985.pub3
- Pahor M, Guralnik JM, Ambrosius WT, Blair S, Bonds DE, Church TS, Espeland MA, Fielding RA, Gill TM, Groessl EJ, King AC, Kritchevsky SB, Manini TM, McDermott MM, Miller ME, Newman AB, Rejeski WJ, Sink KM, Williamson JD. Effect of Structured Physical Activity on Prevention of Major Mobility Disability in Older Adults: The Life Study Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA* 2014;311(23):2387-2396. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.5616
- Peden M. Global Collaboration on Road Traffic Injury Prevention. *Int J Inj Contr Saf Promot* 2005;12(2):85-91. doi:10.1080/15660970500086130
- Persaud N, Coleman E, Zwolakowski D, Lauwers B, Cass D. Nonuse of Bicycle Helmets and Risk of Fatal Head Injury: A Proportional Mortality, Case-Control Study. *CMAJ* 2012;184(17):E921-923. doi:10.1503/cmaj.120988
- Pierce SR, Palombaro KM, Black JD. Barriers to Bicycle Helmet Use in Young Children in an Urban Elementary School. *Health Promot Pract* 2014;15(3):406-412. doi:10.1177/1524839913512329
- Powell EC, Tanz RR, DiScala C. Bicycle-Related Injuries among Preschool Children. *Annals of Emergency Medicine* 1997;30(3):260-265.

Public Health Agency of Canada. Injuries Associated with Bicycles: Chirpp Database. 2006.

Pucher J, Buehler R. Making Cycling Irresistible: Lessons from the Netherlands, Denmark and Germany. *Transport Reviews* 2008;28(4):495-528. doi:10.1080/01441640701806612
- Pucher J, Buehler R, Bassett DR, Dannenberg AL. Walking and Cycling to Health: A Comparative Analysis of City, State, and International Data. *American Journal of Public Health* 2010;100(10):1986-1992. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.189324
- Pucher J, Buehler R, Seinen M. Bicycling Renaissance in North America? An Update and Re-Appraisal of Cycling Trends and Policies. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 2011;45(6):451-475. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2011.03.001
- Pucher J, Dill J, Handy S. Infrastructure, Programs, and Policies to Increase Bicycling: An International Review. *Preventive Medicine* 2010;50 Suppl 1:S106-125. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2009.07.028
- Pucher J, Komanoff C, Schimek P. Bicycling Renaissance in North America?: Recent Trends and Alternative Policies to Promote Bicycling. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 1999;33(7–8):625-654. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0965-8564(99)00010-5
- Puranik S, Long J, Coffman S. Profile of Pediatric Bicycle Injuries. *Southern Medical Journal* 1998;91(11):1033-1037.
- A Quick Look at Fatally Injured Vulnerable Road Users. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Minister of Public Works, 2010.
- Reynolds CC, Harris MA, Teschke K, Cripton PA, Winters M. The Impact of Transportation Infrastructure on Bicycling Injuries and Crashes: A Review of the Literature. *Environ Health* 2009;8:47. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-8-47
- Rezendes JL. Bicycle Helmets: Overcoming Barriers to Use and Increasing Effectiveness. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing* 2006;21(1):35-44. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2005.06.005
- Richmond SA, Zhang YJ, Stover A, Howard A, Macarthur C. Prevention of Bicycle-Related Injuries in
 Children and Youth: A Systematic Review of Bicycle Skills Training Interventions. *Injury Prevention* 2013. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2013-040933
- Richter M, Otte D, Haasper C, Knobloch K, Probst C, Westhoff J, Sommer K, Krettek C. The Current Injury Situation of Bicyclists--a Medical and Technical Crash Analysis. *Journal of Trauma* 2007;62(5):1118-1122. doi:10.1097/01.ta.0000221060.78894.cb

- Richter M, Pape HC, Otte D, Krettek C. The Current Status of Road User Injuries among the Elderly in Germany: A Medical and Technical Accident Analysis. *Journal of Trauma* 2005;58(3):591-595.
- Rivara FP, Astley SJ, Clarren SK, Thompson DC, Thompson RS. Fit of Bicycle Safety Helmets and Risk of Head Injuries in Children. *Injury Prevention* 1999;5(3):194-197.
- Rivara FP, Thompson DC, Cummings P. Effectiveness of Primary and Secondary Enforced Seat Belt Laws. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 1999;16(1 Suppl):30-39.
- Rivara FP, Thompson DC, Thompson RS. Epidemiology of Bicycle Injuries and Risk Factors for Serious Injury. *Injury Prevention* 1997;3(2):110-114.
- Rivara FP, Thompson DC, Thompson RS. Epidemiology of Bicycle Injuries and Risk Factors for Serious Injury. 1997. *Injury Prevention* 2015;21(1):47-51. doi:10.1136/injprev-00002-0038rep
- Roberts DJ, Ouellet JF, Sutherland FR, Kirkpatrick AW, Lall RN, Ball CG. Severe Street and Mountain Bicycling Injuries in Adults: A Comparison of the Incidence, Risk Factors and Injury Patterns over 14 Years. *Canadian Journal of Surgery* 2013;56(3):E32-38. doi:10.1503/cjs.027411
- Robinson DL. Safety in Numbers in Australia: More Walkers and Bicyclists, Safer Walking and Bicycling. Health Promot J Austr 2005;16(1):47-51.
- Robinson DL. Bicycle Helmet Legislation: Can We Reach a Consensus? *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2007;39(1):86-93. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2006.06.007
- Rodgers GB. Bicycle Helmet Use Patterns in the United States. A Description and Analysis of National Survey Data. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 1995;27(1):43-56. doi:10.1016/0001-4575(94)00044-M
- Rodgers GB. Bicyclist Deaths and Fatality Risk Patterns. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 1995;27(2):215-223. doi:10.1016/0001-4575(94)00063-R
- Romanow NR, Hagel BE, Williamson J, Rowe BH. Cyclist Head and Facial Injury Risk in Relation to Helmet Fit: A Case-Control Study. *Chronic Dis Inj Can* 2014;34(1):1-7.
- Romanow NT, Couperthwaite AB, McCormack GR, Nettel-Aguirre A, Rowe BH, Hagel BE. Environmental Determinants of Bicycling Injuries in Alberta, Canada. *J Environ Public Health* 2012;2012:487681. doi:10.1155/2012/487681

- Rosenkranz KM, Sheridan RL. Trauma to Adult Bicyclists: A Growing Problem in the Urban Environment. Injury 2003;34(11):825-829.
- Rowe BH, Rowe AM, Bota GW. Bicyclist and Environmental Factors Associated with Fatal Bicycle-Related Trauma in Ontario. *CMAJ* 1995;152(1):45-53.
- Sahai VS, Ward MS, Zmijowskyj T, Rowe BH. Quantifying the Iceberg Effect for Injury: Using Comprehensive Community Health Data. *Canadian Journal of Public Health Revue Canadienne de Sante Publique* 2005;96(5):328-332.
- Sanford T, McCulloch CE, Callcut RA, Carroll PR, Breyer BN. Bicycle Trauma Injuries and Hospital Admissions in the United States, 1998-2013. *JAMA* 2015;314(9):947-949. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.8295
- Santamarina-Rubio E, Perez K, Olabarria M, Novoa AM. Gender Differences in Road Traffic Injury Rate Using Time Travelled as a Measure of Exposure. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2014;65:1-7. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.11.015
- Schulz KF, Grimes DA. Case-Control Studies: Research in Reverse. *The Lancet* 2002;359(9304):431-434. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07605-5
- Schuster MA, Elliott MN, Kanouse DE, Wallander JL, Tortolero SR, Ratner JA, Klein DJ, Cuccaro PM, Davies SL, Banspach SW. Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities among Fifth-Graders in Three Cities. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2012;367(8):735-745. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa1114353
- Schwartz HJ, Brison RJ. Bicycle-Related Injuries in Children: A Study in Two Ontario Emergency Departments, 1994. *Chronic Diseases in Canada* 1996;17(2):56-62.
- Siman-Tov M, Jaffe DH, Peleg K. Bicycle Injuries: A Matter of Mechanism and Age. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2012;44(1):135-139. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2010.10.006
- Simpson EH. The Interpretation of Interaction in Contingency Tables. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series B (Methodological)* 1951;13(2):238-241.
- Sosin DM, Sacks JJ, Webb KW. Pediatric Head Injuries and Deaths from Bicycling in the United States. *Pediatrics* 1996;98(5):868-870.

- Spence LJ, Dykes EH, Bohn DJ, Wesson DE. Fatal Bicycle Accidents in Children: A Plea for Prevention. Journal of Pediatric Surgery 1993;28(2):214-216. doi:10.1016/S0022-3468(05)80278-7
- Spencer P, Watts R, Vivanco L, Flynn B. The Effect of Environmental Factors on Bicycle Commuters in Vermont: Influences of a Northern Climate. *Journal of Transport Geography* 2013;31(0):11-17. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2013.05.003

Stata Statistical Software: Release 12 [program]. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP, 2011.

- Stimpson JP, Wilson FA, Muelleman RL. Fatalities of Pedestrians, Bicycle Riders, and Motorists Due to Distracted Driving Motor Vehicle Crashes in the U.S., 2005-2010. *Public Health Reports* 2013;128(6):436-442.
- Strawbridge WJ, Deleger S, Roberts RE, Kaplan GA. Physical Activity Reduces the Risk of Subsequent Depression for Older Adults. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2002;156(4):328-334.
- Stutts JC, Hunter WW. Injuries to Pedestrians and Bicyclists: An Analysis Based on Hospital Emergency Department Data. Springfield, VA: U.S. Department of Transportation, 1999.
- Stutts JC, Hunter WW. Motor Vehicle and Roadway Factors in Pedestrian and Bicyclist Injuries: An Examination Based on Emergency Department Data. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 1999;31(5):505-514.
- Stutts JC, Williamson JE, Whitley T, Sheldon FC. Bicycle Accidents and Injuries: A Pilot Study Comparing Hospital- and Police-Reported Data. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 1990;22(1):67-78.

Suchetka D. If It Has Wheels, Better Not Drive It Drunk in Ohio. The Plain Dealer 2006 May 10, 2006.

- Teisch LF, Allen CJ, Tashiro J, Golpanian S, Lasko D, Namias N, Neville HL, Sola JE. Injury Patterns and Outcomes Following Pediatric Bicycle Accidents. *Pediatric Surgery International* 2015;31(11):1021-1025. doi:10.1007/s00383-015-3756-2
- Teschke K, Brubacher JR, Friedman SM, Cripton PA, Harris MA, Reynolds CC, Shen H, Monro M, Hunte G, Chipman M, Cusimano MD, Lea NS, Babul S, Winters M. Personal and Trip Characteristics Associated with Safety Equipment Use by Injured Adult Bicyclists: A Cross-Sectional Study. *BMC Public Health* 2012;12:765. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-765

- Teschke K, Harris MA, Reynolds CC, Shen H, Cripton PA, Winters M. Exposure-Based Traffic Crash Injury Rates by Mode of Travel in British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Public Health Revue Canadienne de Sante Publique* 2013;104(1):e75-79.
- Teschke K, Harris MA, Reynolds CC, Winters M, Babul S, Chipman M, Cusimano MD, Brubacher JR, Hunte G, Friedman SM, Monro M, Shen H, Vernich L, Cripton PA. Route Infrastructure and the Risk of Injuries to Bicyclists: A Case-Crossover Study. *American Journal of Public Health* 2012;102(12):2336-2343. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300762
- Openjump Gis the Free, Java-Based Open Source Gis [program], 2008.
- Thompson DC, Rivara FP, Thompson R. Helmets for Preventing Head and Facial Injuries in Bicyclists. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2000(2):CD001855.
- Thompson RS, Rivara FP, Thompson DC. A Case-Control Study of the Effectiveness of Bicycle Safety Helmets. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1989;320(21):1361-1367.
 doi:10.1056/NEJM198905253202101
- Tin ST, Woodward A, Thornley S, Ameratunga S. Regional Variations in Pedal Cyclist Injuries in New Zealand: Safety in Numbers or Risk in Scarcity? *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health* 2011;35(4):357-363. doi:10.1111/j.1753-6405.2011.00731.x
- Tin Tin S, Woodward A, Ameratunga S. The Role of Conspicuity in Preventing Bicycle Crashes Involving a Motor Vehicle. *Eur J Public Health* 2015;25(3):517-522. doi:10.1093/eurpub/cku117
- Tinsworth DK, Cassidy SP, Polen C. Bicycle-Related Injuries: Injury, Hazard, and Risk Patterns. International Journal for Consumer and Product Safety 1994;1(4):207-220. doi:10.1080/09298349408945738

Transport Canada. Canadian Motor Vehicle Traffic Collision Statistics. Ottawa, ON, 2014.

Turcotte M. Nhs in Brief: Commuting to Work. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Minister of Industry, 2013.

Twisk D, Vlakveld W, Mesken J, Shope JT, Kok G. Inexperience and Risky Decisions of Young Adolescents, as Pedestrians and Cyclists, in Interactions with Lorries, and the Effects of Competency Versus Awareness Education. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2013;55:219-225.

- Twisk DA, Reurings M. An Epidemiological Study of the Risk of Cycling in the Dark: The Role of Visual Perception, Conspicuity and Alcohol Use. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2013;60:134-140. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.08.015
- Ueland Ø. Characteristics of Injured Bicyclists in Norway a Case-Control Study. *International Journal for Consumer and Product Safety* 1998;5(4):191-201. doi:10.1080/09298349808945815

Urban Bicycle Planning. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Minister of Public Works, 2008.

Voas RB, Tippetts AS, Fell J. The Relationship of Alcohol Safety Laws to Drinking Drivers in Fatal Crashes. Accident Analysis and Prevention 2000;32(4):483-492.

Volvo Cars UK. Volvo Cars Life Paint. United Kingdom, 2015.

- Voukelatos A, Khan S. Children's Bicycle Safety Education Does Not Reduce Injuries. *Health Promot J Austr* 2010;21(2):152.
- Walter SR, Olivier J, Churches T, Grzebieta R. The Impact of Compulsory Cycle Helmet Legislation on Cyclist Head Injuries in New South Wales, Australia. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2011;43(6):2064-2071. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2011.05.029
- Wang C, Lu L, Lu J. Statistical Analysis of Bicyclists' Injury Severity at Unsignalized Intersections. *Traffic Inj Prev* 2014:0. doi:10.1080/15389588.2014.969802

Waters C. The Rebirth of Bicycling Law? The Canadian Bar Review 2013;91(2):395 - 416.

- Webman R, Dultz LA, Simon RJ, Todd SR, Slaughter D, Jacko S, Bholat O, Wall S, Wilson C, Levine DA, Roe
 M, Pachter HL, Frangos SG. Helmet Use Is Associated with Safer Bicycling Behaviors and Reduced
 Hospital Resource Use Following Injury. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg* 2013;75(5):877-881.
 doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e3182a85f97
- Wen LM, Rissel C. Inverse Associations between Cycling to Work, Public Transport, and Overweight and Obesity: Findings from a Population Based Study in Australia. *Preventive Medicine* 2008;46(1):29-32. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.08.009
- Wesson D, Spence L, Hu X, Parkin P. Trends in Bicycling-Related Head Injuries in Children after Implementation of a Community-Based Bike Helmet Campaign. *Journal of Pediatric Surgery* 2000;35(5):688-689. doi:10.1053/jpsu.2000.5944

- Wesson DE, Stephens D, Lam K, Parsons D, Spence L, Parkin PC. Trends in Pediatric and Adult Bicycling
 Deaths before and after Passage of a Bicycle Helmet Law. *Pediatrics* 2008;122(3):605-610.
 doi:10.1542/peds.2007-1776
- Winston FK, Weiss HB, Nance ML, Vivarelli-O'Neill C, Strotmeyer S, Lawrence BA, Miller TR. Estimates of the Incidence and Costs Associated with Handlebar-Related Injuries in Children. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine* 2002;156(9):922-928.
- Winters M, Friesen MC, Koehoorn M, Teschke K. Utilitarian Bicycling: A Multilevel Analysis of Climate and Personal Influences. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2007;32(1):52-58. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2006.08.027
- Winters M, Teschke K. Route Preferences among Adults in the near Market for Bicycling: Findings of the Cycling in Cities Study. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2010;25(1):40-47. doi:10.4278/ajhp.081006-QUAN-236
- Wood JM, Tyrrell RA, Marszalek R, Lacherez P, Carberry T. Bicyclists Overestimate Their Own Night-Time Conspicuity and Underestimate the Benefits of Retroreflective Markers on the Moveable Joints. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 2013;55:48-53. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.02.033
- Yusuf HR, Croft JB, Giles WH, Anda RF, Casper ML, Caspersen CJ, Jones DA. Leisure-Time Physical Activity among Older Adults. United States, 1990. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 1996;156(12):1321-1326.
- Zavoski R, Lapidus G, Lerer T, Banco L. Bicycle Injury in Connecticut. *Connecticut Medicine* 1995;59(1):3-9.
- Zhu M, Zhao S, Gurka KK, Kandati S, Coben JH. Appalachian Versus Non-Appalachian U.S. Traffic Fatalities, 2008-2010. Annals of Epidemiology 2013;23(6):377-380.
 doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2013.04.001

Appendix A

Full systematic search strategy used to search Medline database for Chapters 2 and 3.

1. exp Bicycling/

2. (bicycl* or cyclist* or bike* or biking or pedalcycl*).mp.

3. exp Bicycling/in [Injuries]

4. 1 or 2 or 3

5. (injur* or trauma or wound* or fatal* or mortality or death*).mp.

6. exp "Wounds and Injuries"/

7.5 or 6

8.4 and 7

9. ((bicycl* or cyclist* or bike* or biking or pedalcycl*) adj3 (trauma or wound* or fatal* or injur* or fracture* or lacerat* or mortality or death*)).ti,ab.

10. 8 or 9

11. exp canada/ or exp "united states"/ or "north america"/

12. ("north america*" or canad* or "british columbia" or alberta or saskatchewan or manitoba or ontario or quebec or "new brunswick" or "nova scotia" or "prince edward island" or newfoundland or labrador or yukon or nunavut or "northwest territories" or nwt or "united states").af.

13. 11 or 12

14. 10 and 13

15. exp africa/ or exp "caribbean region"/ or exp "central america"/ or exp "latin america"/ or exp "south america"/ or exp "antarctic regions"/ or exp "arctic regions"/ or exp asia/ or exp australia/ or exp europe/ or exp oceania/ or exp "oceans and seas"/ or mexico/

16. 10 and 15

17. 13 or 16

18. 10 not 17

19. 14 or 18

Appendix B

Inclusion/Exclusion Form for Cycling Fatality Scoping Review

CRI	TERIA for INCLUSION	Yes Uncle	No ear					
Pub	lication Type							
a.	Report of primary research (circle one: Journal Article or Abstract)							
Stu	dy Design							
a.	Report provides any description of methods used							
b. con	Observational design (circle one: case-series, cross-sectional, cohort, case- trol, other descriptive study)							
c. cha	Includes information about cyclist injury that was obtained from medical rts, trauma registry, or coroner's report							
Stu	dy population includes:							
a.	Study conducted in USA or Canada							
b.	Cyclists with acute/traumatic injury							
C.	Study includes <u>at least one</u> of the following: Cyclists with an Injury Severity Score (ISS) ≥12 OR Cyclists who were hospitalized OR Cyclists who died as a result of injury sustained while systing							
	Answering "No" or "Unclear" to any of the above excludes the study from	n this I	review					
<u>Answering no of onclear</u> to any of the above <u>excludes</u> the study from this review.								
Arti nor	cle is not a primary report of research. (e.g. editorial, letters, opinion pieces, n-systematic literature reviews, etc.)							
Arti	cle or report does not provide any description of the methods.							
Stu	dy only uses anecdotal evidence (i.e. surveys) for injury data.							
Stu	dy conducted outside North America (circle one: USA or Canada)							
Stu	dy reporting only on cyclists with overuse injuries							
Stu cyc bic	dy reports only on BMX or "trick" cyclists, mountain or other off-road lists or professional/elite/competitive cyclists (including "recreational" ycle tours)							
A	nswering "Yes" or "Unclear" to any of the above <u>excludes</u> the study from th	s revie	ew.					
Plea	ase state the primary reason for Exclusion:							

Appendix C

Inclusion/Exclusion Form for Systematic Review of Severe and fatal bicycle injuries in North America

Reviewer:		Date: dd / mm / yyyy	Record II	D:		
CRI	TERIA for INCLUSION			Yes	No	Unclear
Pub	blication Type					
b.	Report of primary research (circle of	one: Journal Article or Abstract)			
Stu	dy Design					
d.	Medical records used for injury dat	a (i.e., hospital charts, ED enro	lment,			
tra	uma database, etc.)					
Stu	dy population includes:					
d.	Study conducted on North America	in population (USA or Canada)				
e.	Cyclists with acute/traumatic injury	/				
f.	One or more of the following (please	se circle):				
	Cyclists with an Injury Severity Sco	re ≥12				
	OR					
	Cyclists requiring hospitalization					
	AND (please circle)					
	Cyclists Who died					
	OR					
	No cyclists who died but states tha	t fatality records (Medical Exan	niner,			
	Vital Statistics System, etc.) were se	earched				

CRITERIA for EXCLUSIONS

Publication Type								
EXCLUDE: Articles that are not primary research reports: editorials, letters, opinion pieces, non- systematic literature reviews, etc.								
Study Design								
EXCLUDE: Studies using non-medical sources for injury data (e.g., police reports, p	oatient	survey	s)					
Population								
EXCLUDE:								
g. Study conducted outside North America								
h. Cyclists with overuse injuries								
i. Only mountain, BMX, off-road or professional cyclists.								
j. Only cyclists involved in a mass cycling event (i.e., road cycling tour)								

Appendix D

Data Extraction Form For Cycling Fatality Scoping Review	
Article ID:	
Title:	
First Author:	Publication Year:
Country of first author:	
Methodology Type of study: 1 Case-control 2 Cohort 3 Descriptive	4 Other:
Study period:/ to/	
Country where study was conducted: 1 Canada 2 USA	3 Both
Nation-wide or Specify province(s)/state(s):	
Author-defined definition of a severe injury:	
If Authors did not define severity, which definition will be used:	

1 ISS ≥ 12 2 Admission to hospital 3 Admission to ICU 4 Death

Age of included cyclists (Mean/Median and SD/IQR): _____

Injuries

Severity	Ad	ults	Children			
	N %		Ν	%		

Injuries

Type of injury	Chile	dren	Adults		
Not reported	N severely injured	%	N severely injured	%	
Fracture/Dislocation					
Abrasion/Laceration/Contusion					
Head injury/TBI					
Other					

Body part	Child	dren	Adults		
Not reported	N severely	%	severely	%	
	injured		injured		
Head/Neck					
Upper Extremity					
Lower Extremity					
Torso					

Mechanism (e.g.	Child	ren	Adults		
MVC, cyclist-only,	N severely	% of total	N severely injured	% of total	
etc.)	injured				

Factor	Children		Adu	N/A	
Cyclists	N severely injured	% of total	N severely injured	% of total	
Male					
Helmet use					
Alcohol use					
Drug use					
Use of visibility aids (e.g. reflective clothing or lights)					
Environment					
Poor lighting/darkness					
Poor weather					
Location					
Rural					
Urban					
Surface		•	•		•
Road					
Sidewalk					
Other:					

Appendix E

Data Extraction Form For Systematic Review of Severe and fatal bicycle injuries in North America

Collector's Initials:	UID:	Author:						
Year:								
Publication Type(s) (Please list all):								
Region(s), Country:		Study Period:						
Population: Adults	Children 🗆	Mixed						
Study Design:								
Data Source(s):								

 Mechanism Coding – please write the categories and subcategories of mechanism that were used

 Term
 Definition

 Severe Injury
 Weekend

 Darkness
 Lease Lease

"Poor" Weather

Urban

Cyclist Characteristics

	N	Age Range	No. Male	No. Severe injury	No. Fatal	Helmet use n/N	EtOH n/N
Children							
Adolescen							
t							
Adult							
Elderly							
Total							

Injury Characteristics

	Head Injury N	Spine Inj. N	Thorax/ Torso n	Abdom n	Upper Extrem n	Lower Extrem n	Median or Mean ISS	Median or Mean AIS	Median or Mean GCS
Children									
Adolescent									
Adult									
Elderly									
Total									

Crash Characteristics

	# MVCC	# Urban	# Road	# Poor weather	# Night	# Weekend
Children						
Adolescent						
Adult						
Elderly						
Total						

Comments/Notes: